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INTRODUCTION

IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited) (‘‘IperionX’’) aims to be a leading developer of

sustainable critical mineral and critical material supply chains in the United States, a mission we believe is

important for the global transition towards a closed-loop, low-carbon, resource efficient green economy.

We aim to achieve this mission through a multi-pronged strategy comprising a variety of technology, integration,

and sustainability focused initiatives.

Technologies

IperionX aims to commercialize a series of patented titanium manufacturing technologies (the ‘‘Technologies’’)

that have the potential to reduce the cost and carbon emissions of titanium production relative to what is

commercially available today. With these Technologies, which we do not currently own but hold an exclusive

option to acquire, we plan to enable the widespread use of titanium and possibly displace metals like steel and

aluminum which have lower strength-to-weight ratios, inferior corrosion resistance and likely higher net-carbon

emissions.

IperionX holds an exclusive option to acquire Blacksand Technology, LLC (‘‘Blacksand’’), which holds the rights

to commercialize the Technologies to produce metal products from titanium and/or its alloy. The Technologies

were invented by Dr. Zhigang Zak Fang at the University of Utah with support from the Advanced Research

Programs Agency – Energy (‘‘ARPA-E’’) within the Department of Energy (‘‘DOE’’). The partnership between

Dr. Fang and ARPA-E focused largely on reducing vehicular weight through the use of titanium in place of steel

to reduce energy consumption and emissions in the transportation sector.

The Technologies have successfully produced titanium at a pilot scale level and have shown the potential to be

applied to other critical minerals as well.

The Technologies offer IperionX the potential to produce U.S.-sourced, low-carbon titanium metal products at

potentially reduced cost and carbon emissions relative to what is commercially available today with higher

strength-to-weight ratios and superior corrosion resistance. Such titanium is potentially substitutable for stainless

steel and aluminum in a wide variety of applications.

The Technologies can utilize not only raw titanium minerals, but also titanium metal scrap as feedstock,

potentially allowing for a 100% closed-loop, circular titanium process, once commercialized. These Technologies

may also be applied to other metals including zirconium and other rare earth elements. The Company has

secured a prospective source of feedstock for these metals via its wholly owned Titan critical minerals project

(the ‘‘Titan Project’’) in Tennessee.

Integration

We aim to vertically integrate these Technologies with sustainable, resource-efficient material feedstocks, to

develop a U.S. based titanium and critical mineral supply chain.

We believe that one key competitive advantage of the Technologies is their ability to take titanium scrap as feedstock,

which potentially facilitates the development of a 100% closed-loop, recyclable titanium metal supply chain.

Vertical integration and supply chain transparency are key components to IperionX’s strategy, and we aim to

achieve this through the development of IperionX’s 100% interest in the Titan Project in Tennessee, U.S. The

Titan Project represents a potential secure source of high-quality mineral feedstock for the Technologies, to

supplement scrap titanium metal feedstocks.

The Titan Project forms part of a large-scale critical mineralization trend in the physiographical area of the

United States known as the Mississippi embayment that contains significant potential for critical materials

including titanium, zirconium, and rare earth elements. We believe that vertical integration with U.S.-based

resource operations would be a major competitive advantage for IperionX, providing a potential source of critical

mineral feedstock.
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Using any potential future mineral feedstock from the Titan Project, if developed, is likely to be a strategic

advantage for IperionX, but the commercial success of the Technologies is not reliant upon commercial success

at the Titan Project.

Sustainability

We believe the global transition towards the green economy could drive significant increased demand for

sustainable critical minerals and advanced metals.

In particular, we believe high demand could arise for those minerals and metals needed for the drive to achieve

decarbonization via electrification, especially those that enable advanced technologies including titanium and rare

earth elements. We believe that these raw materials have historically been produced without a focus on

environmental sustainability, resource scarcity, or social equity. Through the Technologies, the development of a

100% closed-loop, recyclable, sustainable titanium metal supply chain could be made possible for the first time.

IperionX’s efforts to develop the Titan Project (and any future critical mineral operations) would focus on

environmental sustainability and improving the well-being of the surrounding communities, setting the standard

for future development of similar critical mineral projects.

IperionX’s strategy, if successful, could allow for the substitution of titanium metal in structural applications

providing for closed-loop recyclability, longer product lifetimes and increased product reusability. Together with

the integration of the Titan Project, IperionX’s strategy aims to re-shore a fully integrated mineral-to-metal U.S.

titanium supply chain in accordance with sustainable best practices.

The result would be the creation of a domestic U.S. circular, closed-loop titanium metal supply chain that would

have a focus on environmental sustainability and social equity whilst also providing sustainable, low-carbon

valuable critical minerals including rare earth elements.

Why Titanium?

Titanium is a strong, lightweight metal with ideal properties for broad applications in defense, aerospace, space

exploration, transportation and electric vehicles, unmanned vehicles, and many other advanced manufacturing

applications.

We believe the global transition towards the green economy could drive significant increased demand for critical

materials. This is especially true of those needed to decarbonize and electrify the global economy and enable

advanced technologies, like titanium and rare earth elements. These raw materials have historically been

produced without a heavy focus on environmental sustainability, resource scarcity, or social equity.

We believe titanium has the potential to be a key green economy enabling critical material via its substitution for

stainless steel and aluminum. In our opinion, the use of stainless steel or aluminum as structural metals, whether

it be for the structural components in an electric vehicle battery pack, case components in consumer electronic

devices, or the mounting structures in solar arrays, will increase with the transition to a green economy. We

believe the existing production of these metals results in significant global carbon emissions which must be

addressed to transition to net-zero economy.

We believe titanium is a superior metal to stainless steel and aluminum in many applications due to its combined

superior properties including high strength-to-weight ratio and excellent corrosion resistance. In our opinion, only

titanium’s historically high production cost has held it back from being widely used in place of stainless steel

and aluminum.

Titanium metal manufacturing capacity in the U.S. from titanium minerals is almost non-existent. As of 2021, the

current U.S. titanium metal demand from the aerospace, medical, space and defense sectors is heavily reliant on

international supply chains. We believe these supply chains are not only environmentally and socially

unsustainable but could also be a threat to U.S. national security given the reliance on imported titanium

feedstocks for use within the U.S. defense sector.

The Technologies have the potential to create a cost-competitive production of low-carbon titanium via

scrap-to-metal and mineral-to-metal manufacturing processes within the United States that has a focus on

recyclability, environmental sustainability and social equity with the ultimate aim of allowing for the proliferation

of titanium use across industries.
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History of the Company

IperionX was originally incorporated in Western Australia as Tao Commodities Limited on May 5, 2017 and

changed its name to Hyperion Metals Limited on April 14, 2021, following our acquisition of the Titan Project

on December 1, 2020, and most recently changed to its current name, IperionX Limited, on February 9, 2022.

We are subject to the provisions of the Australian Corporations Act.

Our head office is located at 129 West Trade Street, Suite 1405, Charlotte, North Carolina 28202, United States.

Our registered office is located at Level 9, 28 The Esplanade, Perth WA 6000, Australia, and our telephone

number there is +61 (8) 9322-6322.

Our ordinary shares have been listed on the Australian Securities Exchange since 2018, previously under the

symbols ‘‘TAO’’ and ‘‘HYM’’ and currently under the symbol ‘‘IPX.’’

We are filing this registration statement on Form 20-F in anticipation of the listing of the American

Depositary Shares, or ADSs, each representing 10 of our ordinary shares, on the Nasdaq Capital Market, or

Nasdaq, under the symbol ‘‘IPX’’. The Bank of New York Mellon, acting as depositary, will register and

deliver the ADSs.

We also maintain a website at www.iperionx.com. The information contained on our website or available through

our website is not incorporated by reference into and should not be considered a part of this registration

statement on Form 20-F, and the reference to our website in this registration statement on Form 20-F is an

inactive textual reference only.
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ABOUT THIS REGISTRATION STATEMENT

Unless otherwise indicated or the context implies otherwise, any reference in this registration statement on

Form 20-F to:

• ‘‘IperionX’’ refers to IperionX Limited, an Australian corporation;

• ‘‘the Company,’’ ‘‘we,’’ ‘‘us,’’ or ‘‘our’’ refer to IperionX and its consolidated subsidiaries, through

which it conducts its business, unless otherwise indicated;

• ‘‘shares’’ or ‘‘ordinary shares’’ refers to ordinary shares of IperionX;

• ‘‘ADS’’ refers to the American depositary shares; and

• ‘‘ASX’’ refers to the Australian Securities Exchange.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to ‘‘A$’’ are to Australian dollars, and all references to ‘‘US$’’ are to

United States dollars. Our financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars which is the Company’s presentation

currency. This registration statement on Form 20-F contains references to U.S. dollars where the underlying

transaction or event was denominated in U.S. dollars. This registration statement on Form 20-F contains

forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See ‘‘Cautionary Note Regarding

Forward-Looking Statements.’’
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CAUTIONARY NOTE TO UNITED STATES INVESTORS

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the applicable U.S. and Australian securities laws, and as a result

we will report any mineral reserves and mineral resources as required by both of these standards. As an

Australian listed public company, we will be required to report any estimates of mineral resources and ore

reserves in terms of ‘‘Measured, Indicated and Inferred’’ Mineral Resources and ‘‘Proved and Probable’’ Ore

Reserves in compliance with the JORC 2012, Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral

Resources and Ore Reserves (the ‘‘JORC Code’’). The JORC Code was prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves

Committee of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and

Minerals Council of Australia. These defined terms contained within the JORC Code differ in some respects

from the definitions under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the ‘‘Securities Act’’), including in

Regulation S-K, Subpart 1300 (‘‘Subpart 1300’’).

Information about mineral reserves and resources, if any, contained in our filings with the SEC also will be

presented in compliance with Subpart 1300. While guidelines for reporting mineral resources, including

subcategories of measured, indicated and inferred resources, are largely similar between JORC Code and Subpart

1300 standards, information contained in our future SEC filings that describes mineral deposits may not be

directly comparable to similar information made public by other U.S. companies under the SEC’s old reporting

standard, Industry Guide 7, or to similar information published by other ASX-listed companies. Investors are

cautioned that any public disclosure we make in Australia as to mineral reserves or resources in accordance with

ASX Listing Rules will not form a part of our SEC filings except to the extent stated therein.

INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA

This registration statement includes information with respect to market and industry conditions and market share

from third-party sources or that is based upon estimates using such sources when available. We believe that such

information and estimates are reasonable and reliable. We also believe the information extracted from

publications of third-party sources has been accurately reproduced. However, we have not independently verified

any of the data from third party sources. Similarly, our internal research is based upon the understanding of

industry conditions, and such information has not been verified by any independent sources.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain information included or incorporated by reference in this registration statement on Form 20-F may be

deemed to be ‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of applicable securities laws. Such

forward-looking statements concern our anticipated results and progress of our operations in future periods,

planned exploration and, if warranted, development of our properties, plans related to our business and other

matters that may occur in the future. These statements relate to analyses and other information that are based on

forecasts of future results, estimates of amounts not yet determinable and assumptions of management. All

statements contained herein that are not clearly historical in nature are forward-looking, and the words

‘‘anticipate’’, ‘‘believe’’, ‘‘expect’’, ‘‘estimate’’, ‘‘may’’, ‘‘will’’, ‘‘could’’, ‘‘leading’’, ‘‘intend’’, ‘‘contemplate’’,

‘‘shall’’ and similar expressions are generally intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking

statements are subject to a variety of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which could

cause actual events or results to differ from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements in this registration statement on Form 20-F include, but are not limited to, statements

with respect to: risks related to the effects of health epidemics, including the COVID-19 pandemic; risks related

to our limited operating history in the titanium metal manufacturing industry; risks related to our ability to

commercialize our titanium metal technologies; risks related to our ability to produce titanium metal powders and

products to customers’ exact specification; risks related to our ability to identify and contract long-term offtake

customers for our titanium metal products; risks related to our limited operating history in the minerals extraction

industry, risks related to our status as an exploration stage company; risks related to our ability to identify

mineralization and achieve commercial minerals extraction; risks related to minerals extraction, exploration and

extraction site construction, if warranted, on our properties; risks related to our ability to achieve and maintain

profitability and to develop positive cash flow from any minerals extraction activities; risks related to investment

risk and operational costs associated with our exploration activities; risks related to our ability to access capital

and the financial markets; risks related to compliance with government regulations; risks related to our ability to

acquire necessary minerals extraction licenses, permits or access rights; risks related to environmental liabilities

and reclamation costs; risks related to volatility in minerals and metals prices or demand for minerals and metals;

risks related to stock price and trading volume volatility; risks relating to the development of an active trading

market for the ADSs; risks related to ADS holders not having certain shareholder rights; risks related to ADS

holders not receiving certain distributions; risks related to our status as a foreign private issuer and emerging

growth company; and risks related to the other matters described in the section titled ‘‘Risk Factors’’ beginning

on page 9.

All forward-looking statements reflect our beliefs and assumptions based on information available at the time the

assumption was made. These forward-looking statements are not based on historical facts but rather on

management’s expectations regarding future activities, results of operations, performance, future capital and other

expenditures (including the amount, nature and sources of funding thereof), competitive advantages, business

prospects and opportunities. By its nature, forward-looking information involves numerous assumptions, inherent

risks and uncertainties, both general and specific, known and unknown, that contribute to the possibility that the

predictions, forecasts, projections or other forward-looking statements will not occur. Although we have

attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in

forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated or

intended. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove

incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. We caution

readers not to place undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date

made. Except as otherwise required by the securities laws of the United States and Australia, we disclaim any

obligation to subsequently revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date

of such statements or to reflect the occurrence of anticipated or unanticipated events. We qualify all the

forward-looking statements contained in this registration statement on Form 20-F by the foregoing cautionary

statements.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Our fiscal year ends on June 30. We designate our fiscal year by the year in which that fiscal year ends; for

example, fiscal 2021 refers to our fiscal period ended June 30, 2021. All dates in this registration statement refer

to calendar years, except where a fiscal year or quarter is indicated.
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On December 1, 2020, IperionX (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited and Tao Commodities Limited) acquired

100% of Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd (‘‘HMAPL’’). The transaction was accounted for as a reverse

acquisition with HMAPL as the accounting acquirer. Therefore, our consolidated financial statements have been

prepared as a continuation of the consolidated financial statements of HMAPL. As HMAPL was only

incorporated during fiscal 2021 on July 20, 2020, there is no comparative period information presented in our

June 30, 2021 financial statements. From the date of the reverse acquisition of Tao Commodities Limited

(renamed Hyperion Metals Limited from April 14, 2021 and IperionX Limited from February 9, 2022) (‘‘TAO’’),

its financial results have been included in our consolidated financial results as of and for the period ended

June 30, 2021. The financial results of TAO are not reflected in our consolidated financial results for any period

prior to the acquisition date. However, we have included in this registration statement the unaudited pro forma

combined statement of profit or loss which reflects the pro forma impact of the reverse acquisition of TAO for

the period ended June 30, 2021, reflecting the financial results of TAO as if we had acquired it on July 1, 2020.

See ‘‘Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Profit or Loss’’ for more information. The unaudited pro

forma combined statement of profit or loss of IperionX presented in this registration statement has been derived

from the application of pro forma adjustments to the historical consolidated financial statements of HMAPL and

TAO included elsewhere in this registration statement. See ‘‘Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Profit

or Loss’’ for a complete description of the adjustments and assumptions underlying the unaudited pro forma

combined statement of profit or loss included in this registration statement.

Unless otherwise indicated, the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this registration

statement are presented in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards (‘‘IFRS’’) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘‘IASB’’) which differ

in certain significant respects from generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or U.S. GAAP.

As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of U.S. companies.

Because the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (‘‘SEC’’) has adopted rules to accept financial statements

prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB without reconciliation to U.S. GAAP from foreign

private issuers such as us, we will not be providing a description of the principal differences between U.S.

GAAP and IFRS.

Our financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars which is the Company’s presentation currency. This

registration statement contains translations of some Australian dollar amounts into U.S. dollars. Except as

otherwise stated in this registration statement, all translations from Australian dollars to U.S. dollars are

based on the rates published by the Reserve Bank of Australia. No representation is made that the

Australian dollar amounts referred to in this registration statement could have been or could be converted

into U.S. dollars at such rate.
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PART I.

ITEM 1. IDENTITY OF DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND ADVISERS

A. Directors and Senior Management

The following table lists the current members of our board of directors and our executive officers. The address

for our directors and officers is c/o Level 9, 28 The Esplanade, Perth WA 6000, Australia.

Name Position

Anastasios (Taso) Arima Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
Todd W. Hannigan Executive Chairman
Lorraine M. Martin Independent Non-Executive Director
Vaughn W. Taylor Independent Non-Executive Director
Melissa G. Waller Independent Non-Executive Director
Beverly M. Wyse Independent Non-Executive Director
Dominic P. Allen Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer
Lamont Leatherman Vice President and Chief Geologist
Toby Symonds Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer
Jeanne McMullin Vice President and Chief Legal Officer
Gregory D. Swan Vice President and Company Secretary (principal financial officer)

For further details, see ‘‘Directors, Senior Management and Employees.’’

B. Advisers

Our principal Australian legal advisers are Thomson Geer, located at Level 27, Exchange Tower, 2 The

Esplanade, Perth WA 6000, Australia. Our principal U.S. legal advisors are Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP,

located at 200 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10166.

C. Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers served as our principal independent registered public accounting firm for fiscal 2021. The

address of PricewaterhouseCoopers is Brookfield Place, Level 15, 125 St Georges Terrace, Perth WA 6000, Australia.

ITEM 2. OFFER STATISTICS AND EXPECTED TIMETABLE

Not applicable.

ITEM 3. KEY INFORMATION

A. [Reserved]

B. Capitalization and Indebtedness

The following table sets forth IperionX’s cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of December 31, 2021. You

should read this information together with IperionX’s financial statements and the related notes and with ‘‘Item 5.

Operating and Financial Review and Prospects’’ appearing elsewhere in this registration statement on Form 20-F.

As of December 31, 2021
(US$)

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . US$ 14,256,359

Non-current debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —
Equity

Contributed equity. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,669,773
Reserves. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,175,176
Accumulated losses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,792,992)

Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . US$ 15,051,957

Total capitalization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . US$ 15,051,957

C. Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.
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D. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all of the other information in this

registration statement on Form 20-F. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition and

results of operations could be seriously harmed, and you could lose all or part of your investment. Further, if we

fail to meet the expectations of the public market in any given period, the market price of the ADSs could

decline. We operate in a competitive environment that involves significant risks and uncertainties, some of which

are outside of our control. If any of these risks actually occurs, our business and financial condition could suffer

and the price of the ADSs could decline.

Risks Related to Our Business

Our continued growth depends on our ability to commercialize our titanium metal production capacity.

Sustained growth of our company relies on successfully commercializing our titanium metal production capacity.

Examples of things that could jeopardize that production progress include: an adverse event of some kind at our

production facility in Salt Lake City, where we currently process our titanium; a delay in procuring necessary

equipment for processing our titanium; and/or difficulty hiring and training qualified employees. If we are

unsuccessful in reaching and maintaining expected production rates, including by failing to reach anticipated

throughput, recoveries, uptimes, yields, or any combination thereof, within expected time frames or at all, we

may not be able to build a sustainable or profitable metals technology business as currently expected or at all.

Our access to the Technologies depends on our ability to comply with the terms of third-party agreements.

We do not currently own the Technologies. We currently have access to the Technologies through a master

services agreement (the ‘‘MSA’’) with Blacksand pursuant to which we and Blacksand will investigate the scale

up and commercialization of Blacksand’s HAMR and GSD patented technologies for the processing of titanium

ore or feedstock and the production of titanium metal or alloy products under two statements of work.

Separately, we and Blacksand entered into in an option agreement October 2021 (the ‘‘Blacksand Option

Agreement’’) whereby Blacksand granted us an exclusive option to purchase 100% of the ownership interests of

Blacksand. If we fail to comply with the terms of these agreements, are unable to pay the exercise price of the

Blacksand Option Agreement or otherwise decide not to exercise the option pursuant to the Blacksand Option

Agreement, we may lose access to the Technologies, which would adversely affect our business, prospects,

financial condition and operating results. For more information on our agreements with Blacksand, see ‘‘Item 4.

Information on the Company—B. Business Overview—Additional Business Information—Potential Acquisition

of Blacksand.’’

Failure to commercially scale our closed-loop titanium production processes may result in material adverse
impacts to, or failure to achieve, our growth projections.

The Technologies have shown the potential to be capable of closed-loop titanium production, taking recycled

titanium scrap metal as feedstock, at the pilot-scale level, but we have not yet reproduced this process at

commercial-scale. Failure to do so may result in material adverse impacts to, or failure to achieve, our growth

projections.

Unanticipated costs or delays associated with our ongoing titanium metal commercialization may materially
and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

The commercialization of the Technologies will require the commitment of substantial resources and capital

expenditures. Our future expenditures may increase as consultants, personnel and equipment associated with our

efforts are added. The success of the commercialization of the Technologies and the amounts and timing of

expenditures to commercialize the Technologies will depend in part on the following: our ability to timely

procure equipment or repair existing equipment, certain of which may involve long lead-times; maintaining, and

procuring, as required, applicable federal, state and local permits; the results of consultants’ analysis and

recommendations; negotiating contracts for equipment, earthwork, construction, equipment installation, labor and

completing infrastructure and construction work; effects of planned and unplanned shut-downs and delays in our

production; effects of stoppages or delays on construction projects; disputes with contractors or other third

parties; negotiating sales and offtake contracts for our planned production; the execution of any joint venture

agreements or similar arrangements with strategic partners; the impact of COVID-19 or similar pandemics on our

business, our strategic partners’ or suppliers’ businesses, logistics or the global economy; and other factors, many
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of which are beyond our control. Most of these activities require significant lead times and must be advanced

concurrently. Unanticipated costs or delays associated with the commercialization of the Technologies could

materially and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations and could require us to seek

additional capital.

We may encounter substantial delays in the engineering and design, manufacturing, regulatory approval, and

commercial launch of our titanium metal products, which could prevent us from commercializing the

Technologies on a timely basis, if at all.

Any delay in the development and manufacturing scale-up of our titanium metal products would adversely affect

our business because it will delay our ability to generate revenue and adversely affect the development of

customer relationships. Additionally, we may encounter delays in obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals or

launching our titanium metal products on the market, including delays in entering into agreements for the supply

of component parts and manufacturing tools and supplies. Delays in the launching of our product would

materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We rely and will rely on independent contractors, consultants and other third parties to provide key
development and operational services, and any disruption of their services, or an increase in cost of these
services, would adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We depend and will depend on subcontractors, consultants and other third parties to provide supply chain

functions, including sourcing certain subcomponents and assemblies, and in process development activities.

Our operations and operating results may be adversely affected if we experience problems with our

subcontractors, consultants or other third parties. These problems may include delays in software or hardware

development timelines; prolonged inability to obtain components with competitive performance and cost

attributes; inability to achieve adequate yields or timely delivery; inability to meet customer timelines or

demands; disruption or defects in assembly, test or shipping services; or delays in stabilizing manufacturing

processes or increasing production volumes. If third-party providers were to reduce or discontinue services for us

or their operations are disrupted, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We expect to incur significant research and development costs, which could materially reduce our profitability.

We intend to continue to incur costs and devote significant resources to the research and development of the

Technologies and other metal processing technologies, which could significantly reduce our profitability. Our

research and development efforts may not result in successful or commercially viable products. We also may

elect to discontinue our research and development at any time, which may adversely affect our business

prospects.

If our titanium metal products fail to perform as expected in our customers’ desired applications, our ability to
develop, market and sell our products could be adversely affected.

Even if we are able to commence commercial production of titanium metal products, our products may contain

defects in design and manufacture that may cause them to not perform as expected or that may require repairs,

recalls, and design changes. Our products are inherently complex and incorporate technology and components

that have not been used for other applications and that may contain defects and errors, particularly when first

introduced. We have a limited frame of reference from which to evaluate the long-term performance of our

planned products. We cannot assure you that we will be able to detect and fix any defects in our products prior

to sale. If our products fail to perform as expected, we may lose customers or customers may delay or terminate

orders, each of which could adversely affect our business, prospects and results of operations.

An inability to perfect the mineral extraction processes at our upstream Titan Project, or to perfect subsequent
titanium metal production processes at our downstream titanium processing facility, may materially and
adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

An inability to perfect the mineral extraction processes at our upstream Titan Project, or an inability to perfect

subsequent titanium metal production processes at our downstream titanium processing facility, may materially

and adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations. In addition, any delay or failure in

developing processes to meet changing customer needs or specifications may materially and adversely affect our

financial condition or results of operations.
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We may be unable to adequately control the costs associated with building our planned titanium metal
production capacity.

We require significant capital to develop and grow our business, and we expect to incur significant expenses,

including those relating to research and development, raw material procurement, leases, sales and distribution, as

we build our titanium metal production capacity. Our ability to become profitable will depend on our ability to

successfully market our titanium metal products while controlling our costs. If we are unable to cost effectively

design, manufacture, market, sell and distribute our titanium metal products, our margins, profitability and

prospects would be materially and adversely affected.

Titanium mineral extraction and processing and the production of titanium products involves complex
machinery and operational risks.

The extraction and processing of titanium minerals and the production of titanium metal products requires

complex machinery, some of which has not yet been operated in large-scale manufacturing. As a result, there is a

significant degree of uncertainty and risk and that the Technologies and related machinery will not operate as

expected or will be more costly to operate than expected. In addition, operational problems with the machinery

could result in the personal injury to or death of workers, the loss of production equipment, damage to

manufacturing facilities, monetary losses, delays and unanticipated fluctuations in production. In addition,

operational problems may result in environmental damage, administrative fines, increased insurance costs and

potential legal liabilities. All of these operational problems could materially and adversely affect our business,

results of operations, cash flows, financial condition or prospects.

If we fail to accurately predict our manufacturing requirements and timelines, we could incur additional costs
or experience delays.

We have not yet begun to commercialize our products. As a result, it is difficult to predict our future revenues

and expenses or trends in such revenues or expenses. We have limited historical information to assess demand

for our ability to extract and process titanium and to develop, manufacture and deliver titanium metal products.

We may be adversely affected by fluctuations in demand for, and prices of, titanium metal and products.

We expect to generate revenue from the sale of titanium metal and titanium products. As a result, our profitability

could be adversely affected by changes in demand for, and the market price of, titanium metal and products.

The success of our business will depend on the growth of existing and emerging uses for titanium.

The success of our business will depend on the growth of existing and emerging uses for titanium. Our business

strategy principally relies on commercializing the Technologies to produce titanium metal powders for

high-growth markets, including the defense, space, aerospace and electric vehicle industries. Our long-term

success depends on the continued growth of these markets and successfully commercializing titanium metal

products in such markets. Our estimates of market opportunity and market growth, whether derived from

third-party sources or developed internally, are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions

and estimates that may prove to be inaccurate. If these markets do not grow as we expect or if the demand for

our intended products decreases, then our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results could be

adversely affected.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights, our business and competitive position could be
adversely affected.

We expect to rely heavily on our intellectual property portfolio. We may not be able to prevent unauthorized use of

such intellectual property, which could harm our business and competitive position. We will rely upon a combination

of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws in the United States and other jurisdictions, as well as license

agreements and other contractual protections, to establish, maintain and enforce rights in the Technologies. Despite our

efforts to protect our proprietary rights, third parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual

property. Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and costly, and the steps we have taken

or will take to prevent misappropriation may not be sufficient. Any enforcement efforts we undertake, including

litigation, could be time-consuming and expensive and could divert management’s attention, which could harm our

business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, existing intellectual property laws and contractual

remedies may afford less protection than needed to safeguard our intellectual property portfolio.
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Patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws vary significantly throughout the world. A number of foreign

countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States.

Therefore, our intellectual property rights may not be as strong or as easily enforced outside of the United States

and efforts to protect against the unauthorized use of our intellectual property rights, technology and other

proprietary rights may be more expensive and difficult outside of the United States. Failure to adequately protect

our intellectual property rights could result in our competitors using our intellectual property to offer products,

potentially resulting in the loss of some of our competitive advantage and a decrease in its revenue which would

adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and operating results.

We may need to defend ourselves against intellectual property infringement claims, which may be
time-consuming and could result in substantial costs to us.

Third parties may hold or obtain patents, trademarks or other proprietary rights that would prevent, limit or

interfere with our ability to manufacture, develop or sell our products, which could make it more difficult for us

to operate our business and generate revenue. From time to time, we may receive inquiries from holders of

patents or trademarks inquiring whether we are infringing their proprietary rights and/or seeking court

declarations that they do not infringe upon our intellectual property rights. Companies holding patents or other

intellectual property rights relating to titanium metal products may bring suits alleging infringement of such

rights or otherwise asserting their rights and seeking licenses. In addition, if we are determined to have infringed

upon a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may be required to do one or more of the following: cease

selling, incorporating or using products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property; pay substantial

damages; obtain a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may not be

available on reasonable terms or at all; or redesign our titanium metal products. In the event of a successful

claim of infringement against us and our failure or inability to obtain a license to the infringed technology, our

business, prospects, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. In addition,

any litigation or claims, whether or not valid, could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and

management’s attention.

We may not be able to obtain additional intellectual property rights or the legal protection afforded by any
existing intellectual property rights we hold may not adequately protect us.

Our ability to obtain additional intellectual property rights is uncertain and the legal protection afforded by our

existing intellectual property rights may not adequately protect us. In addition, the specific content required of

patents and patent applications that are necessary to support and interpret patent claims is highly uncertain due to

the complex nature of the relevant legal, scientific and factual issues. Changes in either intellectual property laws

or interpretations of intellectual property laws in the United States or elsewhere may narrow or diminish the

value of our intellectual property rights. For example, even if patents are issued regarding our products and

processes, our competitors may challenge the validity of those patents or competitors may devise ways of making

products without infringing our patents.

Changes in the U.S. political environment and federal policies, including changes in research grant funding
policy or the potential critical materials designation of titanium metal may adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

Our sales may be adversely affected by the current and future political environment in the United States and the

policies of the U.S. federal government, including changes in research grant funding policy or the potential

critical materials designation of titanium metal, which may adversely affect our financial condition and results of

operations.

Our operations may be further disrupted, and our financial results may be adversely affected by the novel
coronavirus pandemic.

If a significant portion of our workforce or the consultants we have engaged to perform certain studies regarding

our proposed operations becomes unable to work or travel to our operations due to illness or state or federal

government restrictions in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, we may be forced to reduce or suspend our

exploration, development or manufacturing activities, any of which could materially and adversely affect our

business and results of operations.

There is no guarantee that our properties will result in the commercial extraction of mineral deposits.

In our upstream operations, we are engaged in the business of exploring and developing mineral properties with

the intention of locating economic deposits of titanium metal. We cannot assure you that, to the extent economic

deposits of minerals are located, such minerals can be commercially extracted. The exploration and development
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of mineral deposits involves a high degree of financial risk over a significant period of time which a combination

of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge of management may not eliminate. While discovery of

additional ore-bearing deposits may result in substantial rewards, few properties which are explored are

ultimately developed into producing extraction sites. Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by

drilling and to construct extraction and processing facilities. Exploration project items, such as any future

estimates of reserves, metal recoveries or cash operating costs will to a large extent be based upon the

interpretation of geologic data, obtained from a limited number of drill holes and other sampling techniques, and

future feasibility studies. Actual operating costs and economic returns of any and all exploration projects may

materially differ from the costs and returns estimated, and accordingly our financial condition, results of

operations, and cash flows may be adversely affected.

Because the probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is not known, our properties may not
contain any reserves, and any funds spent on exploration and evaluation may be lost.

We currently have no reserves, and we cannot assure you about the existence of economically extractable

mineralization at this time, nor about the quantity or grade of any mineralization we may have found. Because the

probability of an individual prospect ever having reserves is uncertain, our properties may not contain any reserves and

any funds spent on evaluation and exploration may be lost. Even if we confirm reserves on our properties, any

quantity or grade of reserves we indicate must be considered as estimates only until such reserves are actually

extracted. We do not know with certainty that economically recoverable metals exist on our properties.

We face risks related to minerals extraction, exploration and site construction.

It is impossible to ensure that the current and future exploration programs or feasibility studies on our existing

properties will establish reserves. Whether it will be economically feasible to extract metals depends on a number

of factors, including, but not limited to: the particular attributes of the deposit, such as size, grade and proximity

to infrastructure; sales prices; minerals extraction, processing and transportation costs; the willingness of lenders

and investors to provide project financing; labor costs and possible labor strikes; and governmental regulations,

including, without limitation, regulations relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, importing and

exporting materials, foreign exchange, environmental protection, employment, worker safety, transportation, and

reclamation and closure obligations. The exact effect of these factors cannot be accurately predicted, but the

combination of these factors may result in us receiving an inadequate return on invested capital. In addition, we

are subject to the risks normally encountered in the minerals extraction industry, such as: the discovery of

unusual or unexpected geological formations; accidental fires, floods, earthquakes or other natural disasters;

unplanned power outages and water shortages; controlling water and other similar extraction hazards; operating

labor disruptions and labor disputes; the ability to obtain suitable or adequate machinery, equipment, or labor;

our liability for pollution or other hazards; and other known and unknown risks involved in the conduct of

exploration and operation of minerals extraction sites. The nature of these risks is such that liabilities could

exceed any applicable insurance policy limits or could be excluded from coverage. There are also risks against

which we cannot insure or against which we may elect not to insure. The potential costs which could be

associated with any liabilities not covered by insurance, or in excess of insurance coverage, or compliance with

applicable laws and regulations may cause substantial delays and require significant capital outlays, adversely

affecting our results of operations and financial viability.

We depend on our ability to successfully access the capital and financial markets. Any inability to access the
capital or financial markets may limit our ability to fund our ongoing operations, execute our business plan
or pursue investments that we may rely on for future growth.

Until we achieve commercial production of titanium metals or titanium products, we will continue to incur

operating and investing net cash outflows associated with, among other things, exploration and development

activities and maintaining and acquiring exploration properties. As a result, we rely on access to capital markets

as a source of funding for our capital and operating requirements. We will require substantial additional capital to

fund ongoing operations, explore and define metal reserves and resources, conduct feasibility studies and

construct extraction and manufacturing operations. We cannot assure you that such additional funding will be

available to us on satisfactory terms, or at all. If we are unable to obtain additional financing, as needed and at

competitive rates, our ability to implement our business plan and strategy will be adversely affected. We cannot

assure you that we will be able to secure any additional funding or be able to secure funding which will provide

us with sufficient funds to meet our objectives, which may adversely affect our business and financial position.

Certain market disruptions may increase our cost of borrowing or affect our ability to access one or more
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financial markets. Such market disruptions could result from: adverse economic conditions; adverse general

capital market conditions; poor performance and health of the minerals and metals industry or minerals extraction

in general; bankruptcy or financial distress of other metals companies; significant decrease in the demand for

metals; or adverse regulatory actions that affect our exploration and construction plans.

We depend on key management employees.

The responsibility of overseeing the day-to-day operations and the strategic management of our business depends

substantially on our senior management and our key personnel. Loss of such personnel may have an adverse

effect on our performance. The success of our operations will depend upon numerous factors, many of which are

beyond our control, including our ability to attract and retain key employees and hire qualified management,

technical, engineering and sales personnel. We currently depend upon a relatively small number of key persons to

seek out and form strategic alliances and find and retain additional employees. Certain areas in which we operate

are highly competitive regions and competition for qualified personnel is intense. We may be unable to hire

suitable field personnel for our technical team or there may be periods of time where a particular position

remains vacant while a suitable replacement is identified and appointed. We may not be successful in attracting

and retaining the personnel required to grow and operate our business profitably.

Our growth will require new personnel, which we will be required to recruit, hire, train and retain.

Our ability to achieve our objectives depends on the ability of our directors, officers and management to

implement current plans and respond to any unforeseen circumstances that require changes to those plans.

The execution of our exploration and development plans will place demands on us and our management.

Our ability to recruit and assimilate new personnel will be critical to our performance. We will be required to

recruit additional personnel and to train, motivate and manage employees, which may adversely affect our plans.

Our success will depend in part on developing and maintaining relationships with local communities and
other stakeholders.

Our success will depend in part on developing and maintaining productive relationships with the communities

surrounding our operations and other stakeholders in our operating locations. Notwithstanding our ongoing

efforts, local communities and stakeholders can become dissatisfied with our activities, which may result in legal

or administrative proceedings or campaigns against us, which could materially adversely affect our financial

condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Our business could be materially adversely affected if our reputation is harmed.

Our reputation is important to the success of our business, including our ability to develop our minerals

extraction operations, obtain required permits and license the Technologies. If our reputation is damaged, as a

result of our actions or by events outside of our control, our business and results of operations could be

adversely affected. If we fail to address, or appear to fail to address, successfully and promptly, the underlying

causes of any reputational harm, we may be unsuccessful in repairing any damage to our reputation and our

future business prospects would likely be materially adversely affected.

Our mineral properties may be subject to defects in title.

The ownership and validity or title of unpatented minerals extraction claims and concessions are often uncertain

and may be contested. We also may not have, or may not be able to obtain, all necessary surface rights to

develop a property. Although we have taken reasonable measures to ensure proper title to our properties, there is

no guarantee that title to any of our properties will not be challenged or impugned. Title insurance is generally

not available for mineral properties and our ability to ensure that we have obtained a secure claim to individual

mineral properties or extraction concessions may be severely constrained. Our mineral properties may be subject

to prior unregistered agreements, transfers or claims, and title may be affected by, among other things, undetected

defects. We may incur significant costs related to defending the title to our properties. A successful claim

contesting our title to a property may cause us to compensate other persons or perhaps reduce our interest in the

affected property or lose our rights to explore and, if warranted, develop that property. This could result in us not

being compensated for our prior expenditures relating to the property.

Our directors and officers may be in a position of conflict of interest.

Some of our directors and officers currently also serve as directors and officers of other companies involved in

natural resource exploration, development and production, and any of our directors may in the future serve in

such positions. In particular, Todd Hannigan and Lamont Leatherman currently serve as director and chief

14



geologist, respectively, of Piedmont Lithium Inc., and Gregory Swan serves as director and secretary of certain

subsidiaries of Piedmont Lithium Inc. There exists the possibility that they may in the future be in a position of

conflict of interest. Any decision made by such persons involving us will be made in accordance with their duties

and obligations to deal fairly and in good faith with us and such other companies. In addition, any such directors

will declare, and refrain from voting on, any matter in which such directors may have a material interest.

Lawsuits may be filed against us and an adverse ruling in any such lawsuit may adversely affect our business,
financial condition or liquidity or the market price of the ADSs.

The products we intend to supply may be used in potentially hazardous or critical applications that could result

in death, personal injury, property damage, loss of production, punitive damages and consequential damages.

Actual or claimed defects in the products we supply could result in our being named as a defendant in lawsuits

asserting potentially large claims. The outcome of outstanding, pending or future proceedings cannot be predicted

with certainty and may be determined adversely to us and as a result, could have a material adverse effect on our

assets, liabilities, business, financial condition or results of operations. Even if we prevail in any such legal

proceeding, the proceedings could be costly and time-consuming and may divert the attention of management

and key personnel from our business operations, which could adversely affect our financial condition.

Risks Related to Regulatory and Industry Matters

We will be subject to significant governmental regulations, including the U.S. Federal Mine Safety and Health Act.

Minerals extraction activities in the United States are subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign laws and

regulations governing environmental protection, natural resources, prospecting, development, production, post-closure

reclamation, taxes, labor standards and occupational health and safety laws and regulations, including mine safety,

toxic substances and other matters. The costs associated with compliance with such laws and regulations are

substantial. In addition, changes in such laws and regulations, or more restrictive interpretations of current laws and

regulations by governmental authorities, could result in unanticipated capital expenditures, expenses or restrictions on

or suspensions of our operations and delays in the development of our properties.

We will be required to obtain governmental permits in order to conduct development and minerals extraction
operations, a process which is often costly and time-consuming.

We are required to obtain and renew governmental permits for our exploration activities and, prior to developing

or extracting any mineralization that we discover, we will be required to obtain new governmental permits.

Obtaining and renewing governmental permits is a complex and time-consuming process. The timeliness and

success of permitting efforts are contingent upon many variables not within our control, including the

interpretation of permit approval requirements administered by the applicable permitting authority. We may not

be able to obtain or renew permits that are necessary to our planned operations or the cost and time required to

obtain or renew such permits may exceed our expectations, which in turn could materially adversely affect our

future revenues and profitability. In addition, private parties, such as environmental activists, frequently attempt

to intervene in the permitting process and to persuade regulators to deny necessary permits or seek to overturn

permits that have been issued. These third-party actions can materially increase the costs and cause delays in the

permitting process and could cause us to not proceed with the development or operation of a property.

Compliance with environmental regulations and litigation based on environmental regulations could require
significant expenditures.

Environmental regulations mandate, among other things, the maintenance of air and water quality standards, land

development and land reclamation, and set forth limitations on the generation, transportation, storage and

disposal of solid and hazardous waste. In connection with our current exploration activities or in connection with

our prior extraction operations, we may incur environmental costs that could have a material adverse effect on

financial condition and results of operations. Any failure to remedy an environmental problem could require us to

suspend operations or enter into interim compliance measures pending completion of the required remedy.

Moreover, governmental authorities and private parties may bring lawsuits based upon damage to property and

injury to persons resulting from the environmental, health and safety impacts of prior and current operations,

including operations conducted by other extraction companies many years ago at sites located on properties that

we currently own or formerly owned. We cannot assure you that any such law, regulation, enforcement or private

claim would not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. If
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we violate or fail to comply with applicable environmental laws and regulations, we could be subject to

penalties, restrictions on operations or other sanctions. Such liability could materially adversely affect our

reputation, business, results of operations and financial condition.

Mineral and metal prices are subject to unpredictable fluctuations.

We expect our future revenues, if any, to be derived in part from the extraction and sale of critical minerals

including titanium, rare earth elements, silica sand and zircon. The price of such minerals and metals may

fluctuate widely and is affected by numerous factors beyond our control, including international, economic and

political trends, expectations of inflation, currency exchange fluctuations, interest rates, global or regional

consumptive patterns, speculative activities, increased production due to new extraction developments and

improved extraction and production methods and technological changes in the markets for the end products.

The effect of these factors on metals prices, and therefore the economic viability of any of our exploration

properties, cannot accurately be predicted. Additionally, new production of critical minerals including titanium,

rare earth elements, silica sand and zircon from current or new competitors in the critical minerals markets could

adversely affect prices. In recent years, new and existing competitors have increased the supply of certain critical

minerals including titanium, rare earth elements, silica sand and zircon, which has affected its price. Further

production increases could negatively affect prices. We cannot make accurate projections regarding the capacities

of possible new entrants into the market and the dates on which they could become operational.

Risks Related to Our ADSs

An active trading market for the ADSs may not develop and the trading price for our ADSs may fluctuate
significantly.

Currently, there is no public market in the United States for the ADSs. However, in connection with the filing of

this registration statement on Form 20-F, we intend to apply for a listing of the ADSs on Nasdaq. If an active

public market in the United States for the ADSs does not develop the market price and liquidity of the ADSs

may be adversely affected. While we intend to apply for a listing of the ADSs on Nasdaq, a liquid public market

in the United States for the ADSs may not develop or be sustained should the ADSs be approved for listing on

Nasdaq, which means you may experience a decrease in the value of the ADSs regardless of our operating

performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities,

shareholders often instituted securities class action litigation against that company. If we were involved in a class

action suit, it could divert the attention of senior management and, if adversely determined, could have a material

adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

The market price and trading volume of the ADSs may be volatile and may be affected by economic
conditions beyond our control.

The market price of the ADSs may be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations. In addition, the trading

volume of the ADSs may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur. If the market price of the

ADSs declines significantly, you may be unable to resell your ADSs at or above the purchase price, if at all.

We cannot assure you that the market price of the ADSs will not fluctuate or significantly decline in the future.

Some specific factors that could negatively affect the price of the ADSs or result in fluctuations in their price and

trading volume include: actual or expected fluctuations in our prospects or operating results; changes in the

demand for, or market price of, metals prices; additions to or departures of our key personnel; fluctuations of

exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and the Australian dollar; changes or proposed changes in laws and

regulations; changes in trading volume of ADSs on Nasdaq and of our ordinary shares on the ASX; sales or

perceived potential sales of the ADSs or ordinary shares by us, our directors, senior management or our

shareholders in the future; announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts; and conditions in the

U.S. or Australian financial markets or changes in general economic conditions.

Our ADS holders are not shareholders and do not have shareholder rights.

The Bank of New York Mellon, as depositary, issues and delivers ADSs. Our ADS holders will not be treated as

shareholders and will not have shareholders rights. The depositary will be the holder of our ordinary shares

underlying our ADSs. Holders of our ADSs will have ADS holder rights. A deposit agreement among us, the

depositary, our ADS holders, and the beneficial owners of ADSs, sets out ADS holder rights as well as the rights

and obligations of the depositary. New York law governs the deposit agreement and the ADSs. We and the

depositary may amend or terminate the deposit agreement without the ADS holders’ consent in a manner that
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could prejudice ADS holders. For a description of ADS holder rights, see ‘‘Item 12. Description of Securities

Other Than Equity Securities—D. American Depositary Shares.’’ Our shareholders have shareholder rights.

Australian law and our Constitution govern shareholder rights. For a description of the rights of our ordinary

shares, see ‘‘Item 10. Additional Information—A. Share Capital.’’

Our ADS holders do not have the same voting rights as our shareholders. Shareholders are entitled to receive our

notices of general meetings and to attend and vote at our general meetings of shareholders. At a general meeting,

every shareholder present (in person or by proxy, attorney or representative) and entitled to vote has one vote on a

show of hands. Every shareholder present (in person or by proxy, attorney or representative) and entitled to vote has

one vote per fully paid ordinary share on a poll. This is subject to any other rights or restrictions which may be

attached to any shares. Our ADS holders may instruct the depositary to vote the ordinary shares underlying their

ADSs, but only if we ask the depositary to ask for their instructions. If we do not ask the depositary to ask for the

instructions, our ADS holders are not entitled to receive our notices of general meeting. Our ADS holders will not be

entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting unless they surrender their ADSs and withdraw the ordinary shares.

However, our ADS holders may not have sufficient advance notice about the meeting to surrender their ADSs and

withdraw the shares. If we ask for our ADS holders’ instructions, the depositary will notify our ADS holders of the

upcoming vote and arrange to deliver our voting materials and form of notice to them. The depositary will try, as far

as practical, subject to Australian law and the provisions of the deposit agreement, to vote the shares as our ADS

holders instruct. The depositary will not vote or attempt to exercise the right to vote other than in accordance with the

instructions of the ADS holders. We cannot assure our ADS holders that they will receive the voting materials in time

to ensure that they can instruct the depositary to vote their shares. In addition, there may be other circumstances in

which our ADS holders may not be able to exercise voting rights.

Our ADS holders do not have the same rights to receive dividends or other distributions as our shareholders.

Subject to any special rights or restrictions attached to any shares, the directors may determine that a dividend

will be payable on our ordinary shares and fix the amount, the time for payment and the method for payment

(although we have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our ordinary shares and we do not anticipate

paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future). Dividends may be paid on our ordinary shares of one class

but not another and at different rates for different classes. Dividends and other distributions payable to our

shareholders with respect to our ordinary shares generally will be payable directly to them. Any dividends or

distributions payable with respect to ordinary shares will be paid to the depositary, which has agreed to pay to

our ADS holders the cash dividends or other distributions it or the custodian receives on shares or other

deposited securities, after deducting its fees and expenses and subject to the provisions of the deposit agreement.

Before the depositary makes a distribution to you on behalf of your ADSs, any withholding taxes that must be

paid will be deducted. Additionally, if the exchange rate fluctuates during a time when the ADS depositary

cannot convert the foreign currency, you may lose some or all of the value of the distribution. Our ADS holders

will receive these distributions in proportion to the number of ordinary shares their ADSs represent. In addition,

there may be certain circumstances in which the depositary may not pay to our ADS holders amounts distributed

by us as a dividend or distribution.

There are circumstances where it may be unlawful or impractical to make distributions to the holders of our ADSs.

The deposit agreement with the depositary allows the depositary to distribute the foreign currency only to those ADS

holders to whom it is possible to do so. If a distribution is payable by us in Australian dollars, the depositary will hold

the foreign currency it cannot convert for the account of the ADS holders who have not been paid. It will not invest

the foreign currency and it will not be liable for any interest. If the exchange rates fluctuate during a time when the

depositary cannot convert the foreign currency, our ADS holders may lose some of the value of the distribution. The

depositary is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution available to any ADS

holders. This means that our ADS holders may not receive the distributions we make on our ordinary shares or any

value for them if it is illegal or impractical for us to make them available to them.

Holders of the ADSs may have difficulty in effecting service of process in the United States or enforcing
judgments obtained in the United States.

We are a public company incorporated under the laws of Australia. Therefore, the rights of holders of our

ordinary shares are governed by Australian law and our Constitution. These rights differ from the typical rights

of shareholders in U.S. corporations. The rights of holders of ADSs are affected by Australian law and our

Constitution but are governed by U.S. law. Circumstances that under U.S. law may entitle a shareholder in a

U.S. company to claim damages may also give rise to a cause of action under Australian law entitling a

17



shareholder in an Australian company to claim damages. However, this will not always be the case. Holders of

the ADSs may have difficulties enforcing, in actions brought in courts in jurisdictions located outside the United

States, liabilities under U.S. securities laws. In particular, if such a holder sought to bring proceedings in

Australia based on U.S. securities laws, the Australian court might consider whether: it did not have jurisdiction;

it was not an appropriate forum for such proceedings; applying Australian conflict of laws rule, U.S. law

(including U.S. securities laws) did not apply to the relationship between holders of our ordinary shares or ADSs

and us or our directors and officers; or the U.S. securities laws were of a public or penal nature and should not

be enforced by the Australian court.

Certain of our directors and executive officers are residents of countries other than the United States.

Furthermore, a portion of our and their assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may not be

possible for a holder of our ordinary shares or ADSs to: effect service of process within the United States upon

certain directors and executive officers or on us; enforce in U.S. courts judgments obtained against any of our

directors and executive officers or us in the U.S. courts in any action, including actions under the civil liability

provisions of U.S. securities laws; enforce in U.S. courts judgments obtained against any of our directors and

senior management or us in courts of jurisdictions outside the United States in any action, including actions

under the civil liability provisions of U.S. securities laws; or bring an action in an Australian court to enforce

liabilities against any of our directors and executive officers or us based upon U.S. securities laws. Holders of

our ordinary shares and ADSs may also have difficulties enforcing in courts outside the U.S. judgments obtained

in the U.S. courts against any of our directors and executive officers or us, including actions under the civil

liability provisions of the U.S. securities laws.

ADSs holders may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to claims arising under the deposit agreement,
which could result in less favorable outcomes to the plaintiff(s) in any such action.

The deposit agreement governing the ADSs provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, ADS holders

waive the right to a jury trial of any claim they may have against us or the depositary arising out of or relating

to our ordinary shares, the ADSs or the deposit agreement, including any claim under the U.S. federal securities

laws. The waiver of jury trial provision applies to all holders of our ADSs, including purchasers who acquire the

ADSs on the open market. If we or the depositary opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, the court

would determine whether the waiver was enforceable based on the facts and circumstances of that case in

accordance with the applicable state and federal law. To our knowledge, the enforceability of a contractual

pre-dispute jury trial waiver in connection with claims arising under the federal securities laws has not been

finally adjudicated by the United States Supreme Court. However, we believe that a contractual pre-dispute jury

trial waiver provision is generally enforceable, including under the laws of the State of New York, which govern

the deposit agreement, by a federal or state court in the City of New York, which has non-exclusive jurisdiction

over matters arising under the deposit agreement. In determining whether to enforce a contractual pre-dispute

jury trial waiver provision, courts will generally consider whether a party knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily

waived the right to a jury trial. We believe that this is the case with respect to the deposit agreement and the

ADSs. In addition, New York courts will not enforce a jury trial waiver provision in order to bar a viable setoff

or counterclaim sounding in fraud or one which is based upon a creditor’s negligence in failing to liquidate

collateral upon a guarantor’s demand, or in the case of an intentional tort claim (as opposed to a contract

dispute), none of which we believe are applicable in the case of the deposit agreement or the ADSs. It is

advisable that you consult legal counsel regarding the jury waiver provision before entering into the deposit

agreement.

If you or any other owner or holder of ADSs bring a claim against us or the depositary in connection with

matters arising under the deposit agreement or the ADSs, including claims under federal securities laws, you or

such other owner or holder may not be entitled to a jury trial with respect to such claims, which may have the

effect of limiting and discouraging lawsuits against us and/or the depositary. If a lawsuit is brought against us

and/or the depositary under the deposit agreement, it may be heard only by a judge or justice of the applicable

trial court, which would be conducted according to different civil procedures and may result in different

outcomes than a trial by jury would have had, including results that could be less favorable to the plaintiff(s) in

any such action. Nevertheless, if this jury trial waiver provision is not permitted by applicable law, an action

could proceed under the terms of the deposit agreement with a jury trial. No condition, stipulation or provision

of the deposit agreement or ADSs serves as a waiver by any owner or holder of ADSs or by us or the depositary

of compliance with any substantive provision of the U.S. federal securities laws and the rules and regulations

promulgated thereunder. By agreeing to the jury trial waiver provision in the deposit agreement, investors will
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not be deemed to have waived our compliance with or the depositary’s compliance with the federal securities

laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

The dual listing of our ordinary shares and the ADSs may adversely affect the liquidity and value of the
ADSs.

Our ordinary shares are listed on the ASX and our ADSs are expected to be listed on Nasdaq. We cannot predict

the effect of this dual listing on the value of our ordinary shares and ADSs. However, the dual listing of our

ordinary shares and ADSs may dilute the liquidity of these securities in one or both markets and may adversely

affect the development of an active trading market for the ADSs in the United States. The price of the ADSs

could also be adversely affected by trading in our ordinary shares on the ASX.

Certain of outstanding securities may dilute the value of our ordinary shares.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 139,488,491 ordinary shares outstanding. We also have 39,600,000 ordinary

shares reserved for issuance upon conversion of performance shares upon the satisfaction of the performance

conditions. To the extent that the conditions to the vesting of such securities are satisfied, the value of our

ordinary shares may be diluted.

Currency fluctuations may adversely affect the price of the ADSs relative to the price of our ordinary shares.

The price of our ordinary shares is quoted in Australian dollars, and the price of the ADSs is quoted in

U.S. dollars. Movements in the Australian dollar/U.S. dollar exchange rate may adversely affect the U.S. dollar

price of the ADSs and the U.S. dollar equivalent of the price of our ordinary shares. If the Australian dollar

weakens against the U.S. dollar, the U.S. dollar price of the ADSs could decline, even if the price of our

ordinary shares in Australian dollars increases or remains unchanged. If we pay dividends, we will likely

calculate and pay any cash dividends in Australian dollars and, as a result, exchange rate movements will affect

the U.S. dollar amount of any dividends holders of the ADSs will receive from the depositary.

As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted and expect to follow certain home country corporate governance
practices in lieu of certain Nasdaq requirements applicable to domestic issuers.

As a foreign private issuer listed on Nasdaq, we are permitted to follow certain home country corporate

governance practices in lieu of certain Nasdaq practices. Following our home country corporate governance

practices, as opposed to the requirements that would otherwise apply to a U.S. company listed on Nasdaq, may

provide less protection than is afforded to investors under the Nasdaq rules applicable to domestic issuers.

In particular, we follow home country law instead of Nasdaq practice regarding:

• Nasdaq’s requirement that our independent directors meet regularly in executive sessions. The ASX Listing

Rules and the Corporations Act do not require the independent directors of an Australian company to have

such executive sessions and, accordingly, we have claimed this exemption.

• Nasdaq’s requirement that an issuer provide for a quorum as specified in its bylaws for any meeting of the

holders of ordinary shares, which quorum may not be less than 33 1/3% of the outstanding shares of an

issuer’s voting ordinary shares. In compliance with Australian law, our Constitution provides that two

shareholders present shall constitute a quorum for a general meeting.

• Nasdaq’s requirement that issuers obtain shareholder approval prior to the issuance of securities in

connection with certain acquisitions, changes of control or private placements of securities, or the

establishment or amendment of certain stock option, purchase or other compensation plans. Applicable

Australian law and rules differ from Nasdaq requirements, with the ASX Listing Rules providing generally

for prior shareholder approval in numerous circumstances, including (i) issuance of equity securities

exceeding 15% (or an additional 10% capacity to issue equity securities for the proceeding 12-month period

if shareholder approval by special resolution is sought at the Company’s annual general meeting) of our

issued share capital in any 12-month period (but, in determining the available issue limit, securities issued

under an exception to the rule or with shareholder approval are not counted), (ii) issuance of equity

securities to related parties (as defined in the ASX Listing Rules) and (iii) directors or their associates

acquiring securities under an employee incentive plan.

As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted to file less information with the SEC than a domestic issuer.

As a foreign private issuer, we are exempt from certain rules under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’), that impose requirements for proxy solicitations under Section 14 of the
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Exchange Act. In addition, our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and

‘‘short-swing’’ profit recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act. Moreover, we are not required to

file periodic reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as a domestic issuer, nor

are we generally required to comply with the SEC’s Regulation FD, which restricts the selective disclosure of

material non-public information. Under Australian law, we prepare financial statements on an annual and

semi-annual basis, we are not required to prepare or file quarterly financial information other than quarterly

updates. Our quarterly updates have consisted of a brief review of operations for the quarter together with a

statement of cash expenditure during the quarter and the cash and cash equivalents balance as at the end of the

quarter.

We may lose our foreign private issuer status, which would then require us to comply with the Exchange Act’s
domestic reporting regime and cause us to incur additional legal, accounting and other expenses.

We are required to determine our status as a foreign private issuer on an annual basis at the end of our second

fiscal quarter. In order to maintain our current status as a foreign private issuer, either (1) a majority of our

ordinary shares must be either directly or indirectly owned of record by non-residents of the United States or

(2) (a) a majority of our executive officers or directors must not be U.S. citizens or residents, (b) more than

50 percent of our assets cannot be located in the United States and (c) our business must be administered

principally outside the United States. If we lost this status, we would be required to comply with the Exchange

Act reporting and other requirements applicable to U.S. domestic issuers, which are more detailed and extensive

than the requirements for foreign private issuers. We may also be required to make changes in our corporate

governance practices and to comply with United States generally accepted accounting principles, as opposed to

IFRS. The regulatory and compliance costs to us under U.S. securities laws if we are required to comply with

the reporting requirements applicable to a U.S. domestic issuer may be higher than the cost we would incur as a

foreign private issuer. As a result, we expect that a loss of foreign private issuer status would increase our legal

and financial compliance costs.

We are an emerging growth company, and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements
applicable to emerging growth companies may make the ADSs less attractive to investors and, as a result,
adversely affect the price of the ADSs and result in a less active trading market for the ADSs.

We are an emerging growth company as defined in the U.S. Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the

‘‘JOBS Act’’) and we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are

applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies. For example, we have elected to

rely on an exemption from the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(the ‘‘Sarbanes-Oxley Act’’) relating to internal control over financial reporting, and we will not provide such an

attestation from our auditors. We may avail ourselves of these disclosure exemptions until we are no longer an

emerging growth company. We cannot predict whether investors will find the ADSs less attractive because of our

reliance on some or all of these exemptions. If investors find the ADSs less attractive, it may adversely affect the

price of the ADSs and there may be a less active trading market for the ADSs. We will cease to be an emerging

growth company upon the earliest of: the last day of the fiscal year during which we have total annual gross

revenues of US$1,070,000,000 (as such amount is indexed for inflation every five years by the SEC) or more;

the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our first sale of common

equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act; the date on which we

have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than US$1,070,000,000 in non-convertible debt; or the

date on which we are deemed to be a ‘‘large accelerated filer,’’ as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act,

which would occur if the market value of our ordinary shares and ADSs that are held by non-affiliates exceeds

US$700,000,000 as of the last day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter.

We will incur significant costs as a result of operating as a company whose ADSs are publicly traded in the
United States, and our management is required to devote substantial time to compliance initiatives.

As a company whose ADSs will be publicly traded in the United States, we will incur significant legal,

accounting, insurance and other expenses that we did not previously incur. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,

Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and related rules implemented by the SEC, have

imposed various requirements on public companies including requiring establishment and maintenance of

effective disclosure and internal controls. Our management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial

amount of time to these compliance initiatives, and we may need to add additional personnel and build our

internal compliance infrastructure. Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial
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compliance costs and make some activities more time consuming and costly. These laws and regulations could

also make it more difficult and expensive for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of

directors, our board committees or as our senior management. Furthermore, if we are unable to satisfy our

obligations as a public company in the United States, we could be subject to delisting of the ADSs, fines,

sanctions and other regulatory action and potentially civil litigation.

We do not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

We have not declared any dividends during the last three fiscal years and do not anticipate that we will do so in

the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the development of our

business. Dividends, if any, on our outstanding ordinary shares will be declared by and subject to the discretion

of the Board on the basis of our earnings, financial requirements and other relevant factors, and subject to

Australian law. As a result, a return on your investment will only occur if our ADS price appreciates. We cannot

assure you that the ADSs will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which you purchase the ADSs.

If U.S. securities or industry analysts do not publish research reports about our business, or if they issue an
adverse opinion about our business, the market price and trading volume of our ordinary shares or ADSs
could decline.

The trading market for our ordinary shares and ADSs will be influenced by the research and reports that

U.S. securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. Securities and industry analysts may

discontinue research on us, to the extent such coverage currently exists, or in other cases, may never publish

research on us. If no or too few U.S. securities or industry analysts commence coverage of our Company, the

trading price for the ADSs would likely be negatively affected. In the event securities or industry analysts initiate

coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade the ADSs or publish inaccurate or unfavorable

research about our business, the market price of the ADSs would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts

cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for the ADSs could decrease, which might

cause our price and trading volume to decline. In addition, research and reports that Australian securities or

industry analysts publish about us, our business or our ordinary shares may impact the market price of the ADSs.

You may be subject to limitations on transfers of your ADSs.

Your ADSs are transferable on the books of the depositary. However, the depositary may close its transfer books

at any time or from time to time when it deems expedient in connection with the performance of its duties.

In addition, the depositary may refuse to deliver, transfer or register transfers of ADSs generally when our books

or the books of the depositary are closed, or at any time if we or the depositary deems it advisable to do so

because of any requirement of law or of any government or governmental body, or under any provision of the

deposit agreement, or for any other reason.

We and the depositary are entitled to amend the deposit agreement and to change the rights of ADS holders
under the terms of such agreement, and we may terminate the deposit agreement, without the prior consent of
the ADS holders.

We and the depositary are entitled to amend the deposit agreement and to change the rights of the ADS holders

under the terms of such agreement, without the prior consent of the ADS holders. In the event that the terms of

an amendment are materially prejudicial to ADS holders’ substantial rights, ADS holders will only receive

30 days’ advance notice of the amendment, and no prior consent of the ADS holders is required under the

deposit agreement. Furthermore, we may decide to terminate the ADS facility at any time for any reason, or the

depositary agent may on its own initiative terminate the deposit agreement. If the ADS facility will terminate,

ADS holders will receive at least 90 days’ prior notice, but no prior consent is required from them. Under the

circumstances that we decide to make an amendment to the deposit agreement that is materially prejudicial to the

substantial rights of the ADS holders or terminate the deposit agreement, the ADS holders may choose to sell

their ADSs or surrender their ADSs and become direct holders of the underlying ordinary shares, but will have

no right to any compensation whatsoever.

ADS holders have limited recourse if we or the depositary fail to meet our respective obligations under the
deposit agreement.

The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and liability and those of the depositary. We and the

depositary are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without

negligence or bad faith, and the depositary will not be a fiduciary or have any fiduciary duty to holders of ADSs;
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are not liable if we are or it is prevented or delayed by law or by events or circumstances beyond our or its

ability to prevent or counteract with reasonable care or effort from performing our or its obligations under the

deposit agreement; are not liable if we or it exercises discretion permitted under the deposit agreement; are not

liable for the inability of any holder of ADSs to benefit from any distribution on deposited securities that is not

made available to holders of ADSs under the terms of the deposit agreement, or for any special, consequential or

punitive damages for any breach of the terms of the deposit agreement; have no obligation to become involved

in a lawsuit or other proceeding related to the ADSs or the deposit agreement on your behalf or on behalf of any

other person; and are not liable for the acts or omissions of any securities depository, clearing agency or

settlement system.

Our Constitution and Australian laws and regulations applicable to us may adversely affect our ability to take
actions that could be beneficial to our shareholders.

As an Australian company we are subject to different corporate requirements than a corporation organized under

the laws of the United States. Our Constitution, as well as the Australian Corporations Act, set forth various

rights and obligations that are unique to us as an Australian company. These requirements may operate differently

than those of many U.S. companies.

If we fail to maintain proper internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial statements or comply
with applicable regulations could be impaired.

We are subject to the reporting obligations under the U.S. securities laws. The SEC, as required under

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, has adopted rules requiring a public company to include a report of

management on the effectiveness of such company’s internal control over financial reporting in its annual report

on Form 20-F. In addition, once we cease to be an ‘‘emerging growth company,’’ as such term is defined in the

JOBS Act, an independent registered public accounting firm for a public company must issue an attestation

report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. If in the future we are unable to

conclude that we have effective internal controls over financial reporting or our independent auditors are

unwilling or unable to provide us with an unqualified report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over

financial reporting as required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, investors may lose confidence in our operating results,

the price of the ADSs could decline and we may be subject to litigation or regulatory enforcement actions. In

addition, if we are unable to meet the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we may not be able to remain

listed on Nasdaq.

We believe that we were a passive foreign investment company (‘‘PFIC’’) for U.S. federal income tax purposes
for the taxable year ended June 30, 2021, and we expect to be a PFIC for the taxable year ending June 30,
2022, which could have adverse tax consequences for our investors.

The rules governing PFICs can have adverse consequences for U.S. investors for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the ‘‘Code’’), we will be a PFIC for any taxable year in

which, after the application of certain ‘‘look-through’’ rules with respect to our subsidiaries, either (i) 75% or more of

our gross income consists of ‘‘passive income,’’ or (ii) 50% or more of the average quarterly value of our assets

consist of assets that produce, or are held for the production of, ‘‘passive income.’’ Passive income generally includes

interest, dividends, rents, certain non-active royalties and capital gains. We believe that we were a PFIC for the taxable

year ended June 30, 2021 because we did not have active business income in that taxable year, and we expect to be a

PFIC for the current taxable year ending June 30, 2022 because we do not expect to begin active business operations

in the current taxable year. If we are characterized as a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S. Holder (as

defined in ‘‘Item 10. Additional Information—E. Taxation—Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations’’) holds

ADSs or ordinary shares, we generally would continue to be treated as a PFIC with respect to that U.S. Holder for all

succeeding years during which the U.S. Holder holds ADSs or ordinary shares, even if we ceased to meet the

threshold requirements for PFIC status. Such a U.S. Holder may suffer adverse tax consequences, including

ineligibility for any preferential tax rates on capital gains or on actual or deemed dividends, interest charges on certain

taxes treated as deferred and additional reporting requirements under U.S. federal income tax laws and regulations. A

U.S. Holder may, in certain circumstances, make a timely qualified electing fund (‘‘QEF’’) election or a mark to

market election to avoid or minimize the adverse tax consequences described above. We do not, however, expect to

provide the information regarding our income that would be necessary in order for a U.S. Holder to make a QEF

election. Potential investors should consult their own tax advisors regarding all aspects of the application of the PFIC

rules to our ADSs and ordinary shares.
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Our internal controls over financial reporting do not currently meet all of the standards contemplated by

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over

financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 could have a material adverse effect on our business and

the price of our ordinary shares.

We are not currently required to comply with the rules of the SEC implementing Section 404 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and therefore we and our independent registered public accounting firm were not required

to, and did not, make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting for

that purpose. Upon becoming a public company, we will be required to comply with the SEC’s rules

implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which will require management to certify

financial and other information in our SEC reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness

of control over financial reporting. We will not be required to make our first annual assessment of our internal

control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until the year following our first annual report required

to be filed with the SEC. As an emerging growth company, our independent registered public accounting firm

will generally not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting

pursuant to Section 404 until we are no longer an emerging growth company (but in no case earlier than the year

following our first annual report required to be filed with the SEC).

Our management has not completed an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting, and our independent registered public accounting firms have not conducted an audit of our internal

control over financial reporting. In connection with the preparation of our financial statements as of and for the

years ended June 30, 2021, we identified certain control deficiencies in the design and implementation of our

internal control over financial reporting that constituted material weaknesses. A material weakness is a deficiency,

or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable

possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely

basis. Our evaluation was based on the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission

Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013).

The material weaknesses identified by management relate to the following:

• We have not sufficiently designed, implemented and documented internal controls at the entity level and

across the key business and financial processes to allow us to achieve complete, accurate and timely

financial reporting.

• We have not designed and implemented controls to maintain appropriate segregation of duties in our manual

and IT based business processes.

As of the date of this registration statement these remain material weaknesses. We cannot assure you that we

have identified all of our existing material weaknesses. Material weaknesses may still exist when we report on

the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as required under Section 404 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act. In addition, prior acquisitions, such as the HMAPL acquisition, and future acquisitions may

present challenges in implementing appropriate internal controls. Any future material weaknesses in internal

control over financial reporting could result in material misstatements in our financial statements.

The presence of material weaknesses could result in financial statement errors which, in turn, could lead to errors

in our financial reports or delays in our financial reporting, which could require us to restate our financial

statements or result in our auditors issuing a qualified audit report. Moreover, any future disclosures of additional

material weaknesses, or errors as a result of those weaknesses, could result in a negative reaction in the financial

markets if there is a loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial reporting.

We have implemented a number of measures intended to remediate these material weaknesses, including:
(i) establishing effective monitoring and oversight controls for non-recurring and complex transactions to ensure
the accuracy and completeness of our company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures,
(ii) implementing formal processes and controls to identify, monitor and mitigate segregation of duties conflicts,
and (iii) improving our IT systems and monitoring of the IT function. We may incur substantial costs related to
remediation of material weaknesses and to developing, implementing and testing changes to our internal controls.

We cannot assure you that the measures that we have taken, and that will be taken, to remediate these material
weaknesses will, in fact, remedy the material weaknesses or will be sufficient to prevent future material
weaknesses from occurring.
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Remediating material weaknesses will absorb management time and will require us to incur additional expenses,

which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our shares. In order to establish and maintain effective

disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting, we will need to expend

significant resources and provide significant management oversight. Developing, implementing and testing

changes to our internal controls may require specific compliance training of our directors and employees, entail

substantial costs in order to modify our existing accounting systems, take a significant period of time to complete

and divert management’s attention from other business concerns. These changes may not, however, be effective

in establishing and maintaining adequate internal controls.

It is possible that, had we and our independent registered public accounting firm performed a formal assessment

of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the provisions of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act, additional material weaknesses may have been identified.

If we fail to remediate our material weaknesses or fail to establish and maintain an effective system of internal

control over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results, meet our reporting

obligations or prevent fraud.

Any of the foregoing could harm our business. If either we are unable to conclude that we have effective internal
controls over financial reporting or our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to provide us
with an unqualified report on the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting as required by
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, this may cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial
information, cause the price of our ordinary shares to decline or result in litigation or regulatory enforcement
actions. In addition, if we are unable to meet the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, we
may not be able to remain listed on the Nasdaq.

ITEM 4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

A. History and Development of the Company

Our head office is located at 129 West Trade Street, Suite 1405, Charlotte, North Carolina 28202, United States.

Our registered office is located at 28 The Esplanade, Level 9, Perth WA 6000, Australia. The telephone number

of our registered office is +(61) 8-9322-6322.

IperionX was originally incorporated in Western Australia as Tao Commodities Limited on May 5, 2017 and

changed its name to Hyperion Metals Limited on April 14, 2021, following our acquisition of the Titan Project

on December 1, 2020, and most recently changed to its current name, IperionX Limited, on February 9, 2022.

We are subject to the provisions of the Australian Corporations Act.

We also maintain a web site at www.iperionx.com. The information contained on our website or available

through our website is not incorporated by reference into and should not be considered a part of this registration

statement on Form 20-F, and the reference to our website in this registration statement on Form 20-F is an

inactive textual reference only.

B. Business Overview

Our Mission

Our mission is to be a leading developer of U.S.-based sustainable critical mineral and critical material supply

chains, to facilitate the global transition towards a closed-loop, low-carbon, resource efficient and socially

inclusive green economy.

IperionX holds an exclusive option to acquire titanium processing technologies with the potential to enable the

development of a mineral-to-metal, low-carbon, cost-competitive, high-quality titanium supply chain, and is

rapidly working to expand its titanium metal production. These technologies have demonstrated to be effective

means of producing titanium at the pilot scale and have shown the potential to be applied to other critical

minerals as well.

IperionX’s immediate focus is on the commercialization of these Technologies to re-shore the titanium metal and

other critical mineral supply chains in North America. To facilitate the commercialization of these Technologies,

the Company has secured a potentially large source of titanium and other critical minerals, including rare earth

elements, in Tennessee.
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We aim to achieve this mission through a multi-pronged strategy focused on technology, integration, and

sustainability.

Technologies

Blacksand invented the Technologies at the University of Utah in partnership with the U.S. Department of

Energy’s Advanced Research Projects Agency – Energy (ARPA-E) and industry leaders Boeing and Arconic. By

combining the Technologies with wide scale industrial advanced manufacturing capabilities such as Additive

Manufacturing (AM)/3D printing, MIM and other methods, there is a compelling market opportunity with the

potential to produce low-carbon spherical titanium powders at a fraction of current costs.

We believe Titanium to be a superior metal to stainless steel and aluminum for a wide range of high-performance

applications in the aerospace, medical, space and defense sectors. No metal has the same combined superior

properties of light weight, strength and corrosive resistance as titanium. Only titanium’s historically high cost has

held it back from being used in larger consumer markets.

The Technologies offers IperionX the potential to produce US-sourced, closed-loop, low-carbon titanium that

costs less and can reduce the carbon emissions of an advanced economy through replacing inferior metals. The

potential exists to apply the Technologies to produce other metals as well.

Blacksand is a materials innovation company founded in 2013 by Dr. Z. Zak Fang, Professor of Materials

Science and Engineering of the University of Utah. Blacksand has developed proprietary and patented

technologies to produce low-cost, low carbon spherical and non-spherical titanium and its alloys, stainless-steel

powders, and refractory metal alloy powders. Core competencies of Blacksand include expertise on metallic

materials manufacturing processes, especially metal powders synthesis, characterization, processing, sintering, and

mechanical properties. Blacksand expertise covers titanium, refractory metals, hard materials, and other specialty

alloys.

The patented technology is a potential low-cost, low-carbon titanium powder production process that utilizes

hydrogen to destabilize Ti-O, making it possible to turn the reduction of TiO2 with magnesium from

thermodynamically impossible to thermodynamically favored. This allows TiO2 to be reduced and deoxygenated

directly by magnesium to form TiH2, with low oxygen levels that can meet the needs of the industry. TiH2 can

be further processed to titanium metal through standard industry methods. The patented Hydrogen Assisted

Magnesiothermic Reduction (‘‘HAMR’’) process reduces the energy intensity and resulting carbon emissions and

cost of producing titanium metals.

The Granulation-Sintering-Deoxygenation (‘‘GSD’’) process applies the HAMR technology to a simple process

that has the potential to produce spherical titanium powders which can then be used in 3D printing and additive

manufacturing. GSD significantly improves the yield of metal powders compared to traditional gas and plasma

atomization techniques and produces a spherical powder with low oxygen, controllable particle size and excellent

flowability.

The Hydrogen Sintering and Phase Transformation (‘‘HSPT’’) process is a patented technology that makes it

possible to achieve a wrought-like microstructure in Ti-6Al-4V alloy parts without thermo-mechanical working.

We believe the ability to leave out thermo-mechanical processing opens the door for potential production of

Ti-6Al-4V parts at a fraction of the cost without compromising performance.

Importantly, with these Technologies the source material can be recycled titanium scrap material. The

manufacturing of titanium components and structures can generate a large amount of titanium machining chips.

This ‘scrap’ loss can account for a substantial portion of the weight of complex traditionally milled parts. This

scrap titanium can be sorted, cleaned, and prepared for processing as a source material for the GSD process. This

recycling pathway can reduce costs and significantly improve the sustainability of titanium metal manufacturing.

Integration

Integration of these Technologies with sustainable, resource efficient material feedstocks could be accomplished

(in part) by the development of a U.S.-based titanium mineral supply chain through the potential future

development of IperionX’s 100% interest in the Titan Project in Tennessee, United States.

In addition to any future potential IperionX’s supply from the Titan Project, the Technologies can accept scrap

metal feedstocks. The Technologies have demonstrated the effectiveness of using both mineral and scrap

25



feedstock at the pilot scale and the Company is working to secure additional scrap feedstocks and to potentially

develop the Titan Project to secure long-term vertically integrated supply of feedstock for the Technologies.

The Titan Project covers over 11,000 acres in Tennessee, United States, and is considered prospective for critical

minerals including titanium, rare earth elements, zircon, and silica sand. The Titan Project is located in West

Tennessee, a region the Company believes has access to world class infrastructure, with nearby access to

excellent roads, rail, river, power and skilled labor.

The Titan Project forms part of a large-scale critical mineralization trend in the physiographical area of the

United States known as the Mississippi embayment that contains significant potential for critical materials

including titanium, zirconium and rare earth elements.

We believe that vertical integration with U.S.-based resource operations would be a major competitive advantage

for IperionX, providing a potential source of critical mineral feedstock.

Sustainability

We believe the global transition towards the green economy could drive significant increased demand for critical

minerals and advanced metals. In particular, we believe high demand could arise for those minerals and metals

needed for the drive to achieve decarbonization via electrification, especially those that enable advanced

technologies including titanium and rare earth elements. We believe these raw materials have historically been

produced without a focus on environmental sustainability, resource scarcity, or social equity.

Through the Technologies, utilization of titanium scrap could result in the development of a closed-loop,

recyclable titanium metal supply chain. In addition, IperionX’s aim for the development of the Titan Project (and

any future critical mineral operations) would focus on environmental sustainability and improving the well-being

of the surrounding communities, setting the standard for future development of similar critical mineral projects.

Why Titanium?

Titanium is a strong, lightweight metal with ideal properties for broad applications in defense, aerospace, space

exploration, transportation and electric vehicles, unmanned vehicles, and many other advanced manufacturing

applications.

We believe titanium has the potential to be a key critical material via its substitution for stainless steel and

aluminum. In our opinion, the use of stainless steel or aluminum as structural metals, whether it be for the

structural components in an electric vehicle battery pack, light weighting components to reduce fuel emissions in

the transport sector, or the mounting structures in solar arrays, will increase with the transition to a green

economy. We believe the existing production of these metals results in carbon emissions which must be

addressed to transition to a net-zero economy.

We believe titanium to be a superior metal to stainless steel and aluminum due to its combined superior

properties including high strength-to-weight ratio and excellent corrosion resistance. In our opinion, only

titanium’s historically high production cost has held it back from being widely used in place of stainless steel

and aluminum.

Titanium metal manufacturing capacity in the United States from titanium minerals is almost non-existent. As of

2021, the current U.S. titanium metal demand from the aerospace, medical, space and defense sectors are heavily

reliant on international supply chains. We believe these supply chains are not only environmentally and socially

unsustainable but are also a threat to U.S. national security given the reliance on imported titanium feedstocks

for use within the U.S. defense sector.

The Technologies have the potential to create a cost-competitive production of low-carbon titanium via

scrap-to-metal and mineral-to-metal manufacturing processes within the U.S. The Company’s strategy would

allow for the substitution of titanium metal in numerous applications ranging from aerospace and defense to

electric vehicles and transportation. Widespread use of the Company’s titanium would enable a domestic,

closed-loop supply chain, longer product lifetimes and increased product re-usability.

The United States is one of the largest global consumers of titanium metal for aerospace and defense applications

and has become highly reliant on titanium feedstock imports to service these industries. IperionX aims to address

this import dependence by developing a domestic supply chain in accordance with manufacturing and extraction

industry best practices.
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Domestic U.S. Titanium Market

Primary titanium metal is called titanium sponge and is produced from converting titanium minerals via the

energy intensive and expensive Kroll process. Titanium products are produced by melting titanium sponge into

semi-finished goods (ingot, billet) which are then used to create final products (wire, plate, bar, sheet).

In the report publicly delivered in July 2021 by the U.S. Department of Commerce Bureau of Industry and

Security, The Effect of Imports of Titanium Sponge on The National Security, Congress noted that it has

recognized that titanium sponge is critical to national security by including titanium as a strategic material in the

Specialty Metals Clause, with all titanium used in national defense systems directed to be melted or produced in

the United States or a qualifying country.

Titanium was further recognized as essential to U.S. security by the Department of the Interior. In 2018, the

Department of the Interior found that the absence of a titanium sponge supply would have significant

consequences for the U.S. economy and national security and added titanium to its List of Critical Minerals.

While the United States was the first nation ever to commercialize titanium sponge production in the 1950s, by

2020 the United States did not have a single large-scale titanium sponge plant.

The United States now has minimal commercial titanium sponge production capacity, a critical material for many

U.S. defense systems, including fighter jets, bombers, attack aircraft, transports and helicopters, with newer

aircraft using increased amounts of titanium, shown in the table below.

Titanium Content in Select U.S. Military Airframes

Airframe Introduction into Service % of Titanium Content

CH-47 Chinook. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1962 8

F-15 Eagle. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1976 10

F-16 Fighting Falcon . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1978 7

F/A-18 Hornet. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1984 12

F-22 Raptor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2005 39

V-22 Osprey . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2007 31

F-35 Lightning II . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2015 20

Military airframes entering service after 2000 have an average 30 percent titanium content; airframes entering

service prior to 2000 had an average of just 9 percent.

Source: Arconic Engineered Structures, ‘‘World Titanium Trends in Defense’’, Presentation at the Titanium USA

conference, September 24, 2019

Titanium is frequently deployed in applications which require high strength and low weight, such as the A-10

Thunderbolt II attack aircraft, where a titanium cockpit tub has proved vital to the safe return of pilots despite

heavy damage from enemy ground fire.

Titanium is also extensively used in naval applications due to its excellent anti-corrosion characteristics, as well

as army ground vehicles due to its very high strength and light weight.

Currently only Japan, Russia, and Kazakhstan have titanium sponge plants certified to produce aerospace

rotating-quality sponge that can be used for aerospace engine parts and other sensitive aerospace applications. In

2018, Russian and Chinese titanium sponge producers controlled 61% of the world’s titanium sponge production,

an increase on their combined 55% share in 2008 and 37% share in 1998. In 2020, Russia and China’s control of

global titanium sponge production had increased to approximately 70%.

Absent domestic titanium sponge production capacity, the United States is completely dependent on imports of

titanium sponge and scrap and lacks the surge capacity required to support defense and critical infrastructure

needs in an extended national emergency. IperionX’s potentially closed-loop titanium has the potential to supply

additional markets and industries outside of defense. Titanium’s historical high-cost and high-carbon profile have

precluded its use in a variety of other industries including consumer electronics and medical technology –

IperionX’s potential low-cost, low carbon titanium supply opens up an array of these potential new applications.

27



Given the lack of domestic production capacity, and that the United States no longer maintains titanium sponge

in the National Defense Stockpile, U.S. producers of titanium-containing products including fighter jets, bombers,

attack aircraft, transports and helicopters are dependent on non-U.S. sources of titanium. We believe that this

dependence presents the possibility that in a national emergency, U.S. titanium producers would be denied access

to imports of titanium sponge and scrap.

In addition to bringing titanium production back to the United States, we believe IperionX’s potential low-cost,

low carbon titanium supply opens up an array of potential new applications including in consumer electronics

and medical technology.

Why IperionX

IperionX, upon exercising its exclusive rights to acquire or lease the Technologies, is a company which has the

potential to combine both groundbreaking proprietary metal processing technologies with upstream mineral

supply, positioning the Company to re-shore the critical material supply chains to the United States in the future

which is needed to facilitate the transition towards an electrified, sustainable, and socially inclusive net-zero

carbon economy.

Our Strategies

We aim to re-shore U.S. critical mineral supply at reduced carbon intensity through the continued development

and growth of the closed-loop advanced metal Technologies and the development of our critical mineral

properties.

Our objective is to create long-term shareholder value through the development, scale up and commercialization

of the Technologies, and the potential development of additional critical metal and material products to support a

future-facing, renewable and sustainable economy in the United States.

Additionally, we aim to create long-term, productive jobs for the communities in which we operate, and invest

into our communities and ensure that they remain beneficiaries and participants in our continued growth as a

company.

To achieve our stated mission and objectives, we currently have the following business strategies and prospects

over the medium to long term:

• Continue to research, investigate, scale-up and commercialize the Technologies to produce titanium

metal powders for the stakeholders within defense, space, aerospace, electric vehicles and additive

manufacturing.

• Complete techno-economic evaluations, including providing titanium samples produced using the

Technologies for potential customers, to outline material physical and economic metrics of the

development of the Technologies as well as securing long term offtake contracts.

• Continue to investigate potential alternative applications of the Technologies to develop additional

value-added metal closed-loop production capabilities, including zircon and synthetic rutile, and the

potential production of rare earth elements.

• Continue to progress Environmental, Sustainability and Corporate Governance (‘‘ESG’’)

assessments and integration studies to outline material physical and economic ESG metrics as well as

major development milestones and timelines.

• Continue discussions with potential customers and strategic partners for future production and sale of

titanium metal products and critical minerals, including, but not limited to rare earth elements.

• Continue to expand IperionX’s land position in the United States, explore for additional critical

minerals and secure relevant permit and zoning approvals.

To date, we have only commenced pilot scale production of titanium metal but have not commenced commercial

production of any titanium metal, titanium minerals or other minerals, nor have we identified any ore reserves in

accordance with the JORC Code.
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Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we are well-positioned to successfully execute our business strategies because of the following

competitive strengths:

• Patented titanium metal production technologies. We have an exclusive option to acquire Blacksand

which holds the exclusive commercial licensing rights for the patented Technologies to produce low

carbon titanium metal and spherical powders developed by Blacksand at the University of Utah with

support from ARPA-E.

• Market opportunity that capitalizes on a shift to low carbon metal production. The social and

macroeconomic shift to the low carbon production of metals and a circular economy provides a

significant opportunity for IperionX to apply the Technologies and position us to take advantage of a

compelling high growth market.

• Ability to recycle existing titanium metal feedstock and titanium metal products in a closed-loop

process. The Technologies have demonstrated, at pilot-scale, to be capable of producing fully recycled

titanium metal powders using titanium scrap as feedstock in a closed-loop process, technology that

potentially offers lower cost, low carbon titanium metal and powders.

• Differentiated and integrated U.S. domestic supply chain. We believe that our integrated business

model in the U.S. will allow us to achieve our objective to provide a domestic end-to-end supply chain

of low-cost and low carbon titanium metal for strategic and high value applications including

light-weighting for electric vehicles and battery packs as well as broad defense and light-weighting

applications for commercial and military applications.

• Sales of critical minerals. The Titan Project contains titanium minerals that can supply the titanium pigment

and metals markets as well as the Technologies. It also contains significant volumes of other highly valuable

critical minerals which may be sold as co-products, including zircon and rare earth elements.

• Strategically located close to existing processing facilities. The Titan Project is strategically located in

the southeastern U.S., close to significant manufacturing capacity, including the Chemours facility in

New Johnsonville TN, one of the world’s largest producers of titanium dioxide.

• Significant existing infrastructure available. The Titan Project’s location enjoys low-cost access to road, rail

and water logistics connecting it to world class manufacturing industries. The Titan Project is also well

situated to take advantage of a highly skilled labor force and low-cost renewable baseload grid power.

• First mover in restarting exploration of critical minerals in the West Tennessee area. As a first mover

in restarting exploration of critical minerals in West Tennessee, IperionX aims to develop a strategic,

U.S. domestic source of high-quality, low-cost and low carbon titanium metal products and other

critical minerals, including rare earths and silica sand. The Titan Project is located in an area which

saw significant historic exploration from the 1950’s to the 1990’s by companies including DuPont,

Kerr-McGee Corp., BHP Group, RGC Ltd and Altair International Corp.

• Experienced management team. Our senior management team has significant experience in acquiring,

developing, and financing minerals extraction projects in the United States. They have previously held

senior business development, financial, and operational positions at both large, publicly traded

extraction companies as well as successful private extraction operations.

Customers and Partnerships

IperionX is engaged in a wide range of commercial discussions that are advancing with potential customers,

collaborators, and strategic partners interested in titanium metal and products produced with the Technologies.

Because IperionX is an early-stage company, we do not currently have established marketing or distribution

channels or sales contracts. However, we have non-binding memoranda of understanding related to the

development of sales channels for our products with the following companies:

• IperionX has a non-binding Memorandum of Understanding (‘‘MOU’’) to potentially establish a

partnership with Energy Fuels that aims to build an integrated, all-American rare earths supply chain.
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The MOU will evaluate the potential supply of rare earth minerals from the Titan Project to Energy

Fuels for value added processing at Energy Fuels’ White Mesa Mill. Rare earths are highly valued as

critical materials for magnet production essential for wind turbines, electric vehicles, consumer

electronics and military applications.

• IperionX has a non-binding MOU with Chemours to investigate a potential supply agreement between

IperionX and Chemours for up to 50,000 metric tons of ilmenite, 10,000 metric tons of rutile, and 10,000

metric tons of staurolite. Chemours operates one of the largest titanium dioxide plants at its New

Johnsonville plant which is located approximately 20 miles from IperionX’s Titan Project in Tennessee.

• IperionX has a non-binding MOU with EOS to accelerate the deployment of the Technologies for the

potential production of low-cost, low carbon titanium metal powders. IperionX and EOS have agreed to

negotiate in good faith to enter into definitive agreements to give effect to a partnership that allows

IperionX and EOS to work together to advance deployment of spherical and non-spherical titanium

metal powders for use in the additive manufacturing industry.

• IperionX has a non-binding MOU with Mario Pilato BLAT S.A. for the potential supply of zircon

products. The MOU contemplates a supply agreement for an initial five-year term on an agreed

market-based pricing methodology for the annual supply of up to 20,000 tonnes of zircon products

from IperionX’s Titan Project in Tennessee.

Competition

IperionX competes with other metals technology, metal, natural resource, and exploration companies in what is a

fragmented industry. For now, IperionX represents a small portion in this sector. Many of our competitors have

been in business longer than we have and have established more strategic partnerships and relationships and have

greater financial accessibility than we have.

While we compete with other companies in the metals and natural resource space, we believe that there are

readily available purchasers of critical materials, including titanium metal, titanium minerals and rare earth

minerals, if they are able to be produced by our business operations. The price of metals and minerals can be

affected by a number of factors beyond our control, including:

• Fluctuations in the market prices for critical materials, titanium metal, titanium minerals and rare earth

minerals;

• Fluctuating supplies of critical materials, titanium metal, titanium minerals and rare earth minerals;

• Fluctuating demand for critical materials, titanium metal, titanium minerals and rare earth minerals; and

• Metals and extraction activities of others.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures for fiscal 2021 amounted to US$571,568 which represents the purchase of exploration

and evaluation properties and the purchase of property, plant, and equipment.

We expense all other exploration and evaluation expenditures when incurred (other than expenditures incurred in

the acquisition of the rights to explore, including option payments to landowners).

If we complete a definitive Feasibility Study for the Titan Project and ultimately make a decision to develop the

Titan Project, this will require substantial additional funds, which would require future debt or equity financings.

Similar rare earth projects that are planned to be constructed in Australia by other companies have estimated

capital expenditures of between US$200 to US$300 million.

EXPLORATION AND DEVELOPMENT PLANS

We are required by ASX Listing Rules to report ore reserves and mineral resources in Australia in compliance

with the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (the JORC

Code 2012 Edition) prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of The Australasian Institute of Mining and

Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia (JORC). In contrast, the SEC

generally requires disclosure of extraction reserves in accordance with Regulation S-K, Subpart 1300. We are an

exploration stage minerals extraction company, and we have no reserves as defined under Subpart 1300

standards. See ‘‘Cautionary Note to United States Investors.’’
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We have completed multiple exploration drilling programs at the Titan Project, comprising more than

10,000 total meters drilled. Over the next twelve months we have plans to complete further drilling to expand

and increase confidence in Titan Project deposit, and complete technical studies, including a scoping study and

pre-feasibility study as well as hydrology and geotechnical studies. We may elect to undertake further drilling,

metallurgical testwork, and technical studies to assess the economic potential of the Titan Project and define a

critical minerals reserve base. Following the completion of all technical studies and all necessary permitting

activities, IperionX may undertake minerals extraction and processing activities.

Subject to market conditions and the ability to define an economically viable critical minerals deposit, our separate

business plan for the Titan Project is to become a strategic, U.S. domestic source of high-quality and sustainable

titanium and other critical mineral feedstocks, including rare earths, to the United States. The titanium minerals could

form an important sustainable feedstock for the Technologies and assist in the scale up of the Technologies to meet

potential future market demand. We believe that vertical integration with U.S.-based resource operations is a major

competitive advantage for IperionX, providing a potential source of critical mineral feedstock.

We plan to effect our business plan for the Titan Project by:

• completing our exploration drilling program on initial land position and continuing to secure additional

land leases to undertake additional exploration;

• undertaking necessary technical studies to assess the economic potential of the Titan Project and

defining a critical minerals reserve base;

• completing required permitting and zoning activities;

• undertaking discussions with potential customers for future sale of titanium and other critical minerals,

including rare earths;

• completing required financing activities;

• completing construction of the Titan Project’s minerals extraction and processing facilities; and

• commencing minerals extraction and processing activities to supply the United States demand for clean,

low-cost domestic sources of titanium and other critical minerals, including rare earths.

ADDITIONAL BUSINESS INFORMATION

Potential Acquisition of Blacksand

IperionX and Blacksand entered into Blacksand Option Agreement in October 2021 whereby Blacksand granted

IperionX an exclusive Option to purchase 100% of the ownership interests of Blacksand. The option period terminates

upon the earliest to occur of (i) the closing of the purchase of Blacksand, (ii) termination of the existing Blacksand

Research Agreement, (iii) December 31, 2022, or (iv) the termination of the Blacksand Option Agreement.

Separately, IperionX and Blacksand also have the MSA in place pursuant to which IperionX and Blacksand will

investigate the scale up and commercialization of Blacksand’s HAMR and GSD patented technologies for the

processing of titanium ore or feedstock and the production of titanium metal or alloy products under two

statements of work. Under the first statement of work (‘‘SOW 1’’), Blacksand provides research and development

services to investigate the scale up and commercialization of the HAMR technology for a cost of US$480,000.

The term of SOW 1 ends on on the earlier of (i) termination of the MSA or (ii) the completion of the research

and development program. Under the second statement of work (‘‘SOW 2’’), Blacksand provides research and

development services to investigate the scale up and commercialization of the GSD technology for a cost of

US$1,200,000. The term of SOW 2 ends on on the earliest of (i) termination of the MSA, (ii) the completion of

the research and development program or (iii) June 1, 2023.

While the Blacksand Option Agreement (detailed above) gives IperionX exclusive rights to develop Blacksand’s

patented technologies, including the HAMR and GSD patented technologies and related products, the MSA

separately grants IperionX with options to enter into license agreements with Blacksand with respect to the same

technologies. If IperionX exercises the option to license the HAMR technology, it will pay total license fees to

Blacksand of US$1.9 million over a two-year period. From the third anniversary of the option exercise, IperionX

will pay Blacksand the greater of the minimum annual license payment (between US$150,000 and US$250,000)

and a royalty of 3% of the net value of licensed product sold. If IperionX exercises the option to license the
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GSD technology, it will pay total license fees to Blacksand of US$3 million over a two-year period. From the

third anniversary of the option exercise, IperionX will pay Blacksand the greater of the minimum annual license

payment (between US$250,000 and US$500,000) and a royalty of 5% of the net value of licensed product sold.

Blacksand holds the exclusive commercial licensing rights for more than forty global patents through a license

agreement with the University of Utah (‘‘UoU License Agreement’’) including the global patents for the patented

HAMR and GSD technologies that can produce low-cost and low carbon titanium metal. The License Agreement

grants Blacksand a royalty bearing exclusive license to commercialize the intellectual property that Blacksand

developed in conjunction with the University of Utah. The UoU License Agreement automatically continues

unless one of the parties terminates. IperionX will be able to apply this patent and technology platform across a

wider range of advanced metal alloys and powders for markets including space, aerospace, electric vehicles and

3D printing and additive manufacturing.

If IperionX chooses to exercise its option under the Blacksand Option Agreement, IperionX will: (i) pay

US$12,000,000 to Blacksand and its members, of which the Company can elect to pay an amount (between

22.5% to 30%) in shares of the Company (based on a share price equal to 75% of the 10-day VWAP of IperionX

shares on ASX immediately preceding the closing date, subject to a floor of A$0.85 and a ceiling of A$3.00),

subject to IperionX obtaining shareholder approval; (ii) commit to invest US$1,000,000 over a 3 year period

towards the establishment of an endowed chair professorship at the University of Utah, which shall be used to

support research and development related to Blacksand and IperionX, and other related technologies in the field

of titanium, critical metals, and minerals; and (iii) pay the Blacksand members a royalty equal to 0.5% of

cumulative net sales that relate to Blacksand assets or properties above US$300,000,000.

If IperionX chooses not to exercise its option under the Blacksand Option Agreement, the existing MSA and

statements of work will continue which provide IperionX with options to enter into license agreements with

Blacksand over a suite of patents, including the HAMR and GSD patented technologies and related products, to

be applied to certain applications.

Acquisition of the Titan Project

Following its acquisition of HMAPL in December 2020 (the ‘‘Acquisition’’), IperionX holds a 100% interest in

the Titan Project, covering over 11,000 acres of critical minerals properties in Tennessee, United States,

considered prospective for critical minerals including titanium, rare earth elements zircon, and silica sand. The

Titan Project is located in West Tennessee and we believe the Titan Project has access to world class

infrastructure, with nearby access to excellent roads, rail, river, power and skilled labor. Mineral sands projects

operational costs are heavily influenced by electricity and labor costs.

Since securing the initial Titan Project land position in late-2020, IperionX has successfully focused on proving

the Titan Project’s potential. We have completed multiple drilling programs at the Titan Project, confirming

consistent grade and thickness of critical minerals mineralization over approximately 2 miles of strike. Assays

from all holes of the first two drilling programs and the first batch of the third program have returned thick

zones of high-grade total heavy minerals near surface.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

U.S. Securities Regulations

Emerging Growth Company Status

We are an ‘‘emerging growth company’’ under the U.S. Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the

JOBS Act, and will continue to qualify as an ‘‘emerging growth company’’ until the earliest to occur of:

• the last day of the fiscal year during which we have total annual gross revenues of US$1,070,000,000

(as such amount is indexed for inflation every five years by the SEC) or more;

• the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our first sale of

common equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act;

• the date on which we have, during the previous three-year period, issued more than US$1,070,000,000

in non-convertible debt; or
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• the date on which we are deemed to be a ‘‘large accelerated filer’’, as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the

U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, which would occur if the

market value of our ordinary shares and ADSs that are held by non-affiliates exceeds US$700,000,000

as of the last day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter.

An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified exemptions from various requirements that are

otherwise applicable to public companies in the United States. Generally, a company that registers any class of

its securities under Section 12 of the Exchange Act is required to include in the second and all subsequent annual

reports filed by it under the Exchange Act, a management report on internal control over financial reporting and,

subject to an exemption available to companies that meet the definition of a ‘‘smaller reporting company’’ in

Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, an auditor attestation report on management’s assessment of the company’s

internal control over financial reporting. However, for so long as we continue to qualify as an emerging growth

company, we will be exempt from the requirement to include an auditor attestation report in our annual reports

filed under the Exchange Act, even if we do not qualify as a ‘‘smaller reporting company.’’ In addition,

Section 103(a)(3) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, has been amended by the

JOBS Act, to provide that, among other things, auditors of an emerging growth company are exempt from any

rules of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a

supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide additional information about

the audit and the financial statements of the company.

Pursuant to Section 107(b) of the JOBS Act, an emerging growth company may elect to utilize an extended transition

period for complying with new or revised accounting standards for public companies until such standards apply to

private companies. We have elected not to utilize this extended transition period. This election is irrevocable.

For information on the risks that accompany our status as an emerging growth company, see ‘‘Item 3 Key

Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our ADSs—We are an emerging growth company, and we

cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make the

ADSs less attractive to investors and, as a result, adversely affect the price of the ADSs and result in a less

active trading market for the ADSs.’’

In the event that we cease to qualify as an emerging growth company, we will still be exempt from certain rules

under the Exchange Act as a foreign private issuer, as described immediately below.

Foreign Private Issuer Status

We are also considered a ‘‘foreign private issuer’’ pursuant to Rule 405 under the Securities Act. As a foreign

private issuer, we are exempt from certain rules under the Exchange Act that impose certain disclosure

obligations and procedural requirements for proxy solicitations under Section 14 of the Exchange Act. In

addition, our officers, directors and principal shareholders are exempt from the reporting and ‘‘short-swing’’

profit recovery provisions of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules under the Exchange Act with respect

to their purchases and sales of our ordinary shares or ADSs. Moreover, we are not required to file periodic

reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as United States companies whose

securities are registered under the Exchange Act. In addition, we are not required to comply with Regulation FD

(Fair Disclosure), which restricts the selective disclosure of material information.

Nasdaq also allows us a foreign private issuer to elect to follow certain home country laws instead of Nasdaq

practices applicable to U.S. companies. In particular, we follow home country law instead of Nasdaq practice

regarding:

• Nasdaq’s requirement that our independent directors meet regularly in executive sessions. The ASX

Listing Rules and the Corporations Act do not require the independent directors of an Australian

company to have such executive sessions and, accordingly, we have claimed this exemption.

• Nasdaq’s requirement that an issuer provide for a quorum as specified in its bylaws for any meeting of

the holders of ordinary shares, which quorum may not be less than 33 1/3% of the outstanding shares

of an issuer’s voting ordinary shares. In compliance with Australian law, our Constitution provides that

two shareholders present shall constitute a quorum for a general meeting.

• Nasdaq’s requirement that issuers obtain shareholder approval prior to the issuance of securities in

connection with certain acquisitions, changes of control or private placements of securities, or the
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establishment or amendment of certain stock option, purchase or other compensation plans. Applicable

Australian law and rules differ from Nasdaq requirements, with the ASX Listing Rules providing

generally for prior shareholder approval in numerous circumstances, including (i) issuance of equity

securities exceeding 15% (or an additional 10% capacity to issue equity securities for the proceeding

12-month period if shareholder approval by special resolution is sought at the Company’s annual

general meeting) of our issued share capital in any 12-month period (but, in determining the available

issue limit, securities issued under an exception to the rule or with shareholder approval are not

counted), (ii) issuance of equity securities to related parties (as defined in the ASX Listing Rules) and

(iii) directors or their associates acquiring securities under an employee incentive plan.

For as long as we are a ‘‘foreign private issuer’’ we intend to file our annual financial statements on Form 20-F

and furnish our semi-annual financial statements and quarterly updates on Form 6-K to the SEC for so long as

we are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13(g) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act. However, the

information we file or furnish is not the same as the information that is required in annual and quarterly reports

on Form 10-K or Form 10-Q for U.S. domestic issuers. Accordingly, there may be less information publicly

available concerning us than there is for a company that files as a domestic issuer.

We may take advantage of these exemptions until such time as we are no longer a foreign private issuer. We are

required to determine our status as a foreign private issuer on an annual basis at the end of our second fiscal quarter.

We would cease to be a foreign private issuer at such time as more than 50% of our outstanding voting securities are

held by U.S. residents and any of the following three circumstances applies: (1) the majority of our executive officers

or directors are U.S. citizens or residents; (2) more than 50% of our assets are located in the United States; or (3) our

business is administered principally in the United States. Since more than 50% of our assets are located in the United

States, we will lose our status as a foreign private issuer if more than 50% of our outstanding voting securities are

held by U.S. residents as of the last day of our second fiscal quarter in any year.

For information on the risks that accompany our status as a foreign private issuer, see ‘‘Item 3 Key

Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our ADSs—As a foreign private issuer, we are permitted to file

less information with the SEC than a domestic issuer and “Item 3 Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks

Related to Our ADSs—We may lose our foreign private issuer status, which would then require us to comply

with the Exchange Act’s domestic reporting regime and cause us to incur additional legal, accounting and other

expenses.’’

U.S. Environmental, Health and Safety Laws

IperionX’s business operations, including the Technologies and the Titan Project, will be required to comply with

applicable environmental protection laws and regulations and licensing and permitting requirements. The material

environmental, health and safety laws and regulations that we must comply with include, among others, the

following United States federal laws and regulations:

• National Environmental Protection Act (‘‘NEPA’’), which requires careful evaluation of the

environmental impacts of extraction operations that require federal approvals;

• Clean Air Act (‘‘CAA’’) and its amendments, which governs air emissions;

• Clean Water Act (‘‘CWA’’), which governs discharges to and excavations within the waters of the

United States;

• Safe Drinking Water Act (‘‘SDWA’’), which governs the underground injection and disposal of wastewater;

• Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (‘‘RCRA’’), which governs the management of solid waste;

• Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (‘‘CERCLA’’), which

imposes liability where hazardous substances have been released into the environment (commonly

known as Superfund); and

• Federal Mine Safety and Health Act, which established the primary safety and health standards

regarding working conditions of employees engaged in extraction, related operations, and preparation

and milling of the minerals extracted, as well as the Occupation Safety and Health Act, which regulates

the protection of the health and safety of workers to the extent such protection is not already addressed

by the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act.
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Our operations may also be subject to state environmental law and regulations, including but not limited to laws

and regulations related to the reclamation of mined lands, which may require reclamation permits to be acquired

prior to the commencement of minerals extraction operations and may require substantial financial guarantees to

cover the cost of future reclamation activities.

Solid and Hazardous Waste

RCRA, and comparable state statutes, affect our operations by imposing regulations on the generation, transportation,

treatment, storage, disposal and cleanup of hazardous wastes and on the disposal of non-hazardous wastes. Under the

auspices of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (‘‘EPA’’), the individual states administer some or all

of the provisions of RCRA, sometimes in conjunction with their own, more stringent requirements.

In addition, the federal Superfund law can impose joint and several liability without regard to fault or legality of

conduct on classes of persons who are statutorily responsible for the release of a hazardous substance into the

environment. These persons can include the current and former owners, lessees or operators of a site where a

release occurs, and anyone who disposes or arranges for the disposal of a hazardous substance. Under CERCLA,

such persons may be subject to strict, joint and several liability for the entire cost of cleaning up hazardous

substances that have been released into the environment and for other costs, including response costs, alternative

water supplies, damage to natural resources and for the costs of certain health studies. Moreover, it is not

uncommon for neighboring landowners, workers and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and

property damage allegedly caused by hazardous substances released into the indoor or outdoor environment. Each

state also has environmental cleanup laws analogous to CERCLA. Hazardous wastes may have been previously

handled, disposed of, or released on or under properties currently or formerly owned or leased by us or on or

under other locations to which we sent waste for disposal. These properties and any materials disposed or

released on them may subject us to liability under CERCLA, RCRA and analogous state laws. Under such laws,

we could be required to remove or remediate disposed wastes or property contamination, to contribute to

remediation costs, or to perform remedial activities to prevent future environmental harm.

Air Emissions

The federal CAA and comparable state laws restrict the emission of air pollutants from numerous sources

through the issuance of permits and the imposition of other requirements. Major sources of air pollutants are

subject to more stringent, federally imposed permitting requirements. Air pollution regulations may require us to

obtain pre-approval for the construction or modification of certain projects or facilities expected to produce or

significantly increase air emissions, obtain air permits and comply with stringent permit requirements or utilize

specific equipment or technologies to control emissions of certain pollutants. The need to obtain permits has the

potential to delay our operations, and we may be required to incur capital expenditures for air pollution control

equipment or other air emissions related obligations. Administrative enforcement actions for failure to comply

strictly with air pollution regulations or permits are generally resolved by payment of monetary fines and

correction of any identified deficiencies. Alternatively, regulatory agencies could require us to forego

construction, modification or operation of certain air emission sources.

Climate Change

Numerous regulatory initiatives have been enacted, and are likely to continue to be developed, at the

international, national, regional and state levels of government to monitor and limit existing emissions of

greenhouse gases (‘‘GHGs’’) as well as to restrict or eliminate such future emissions. At the federal level, in

December 2009, the EPA determined that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other GHGs endanger public

health and the environment because emissions of such gases are, according to the EPA, contributing to warming

of the Earth’s atmosphere and other climatic changes. Based on these findings, the EPA began adopting and

implementing regulations to restrict emissions of GHGs under existing provisions of the CAA.

President Biden and the Democratic Party, which now controls the U.S. Congress, have identified climate change

as a priority, and it is expected that new executive orders, regulatory action and/or legislation targeting

greenhouse gas emissions, or prohibiting or restricting oil and gas development activities in certain areas, will be

proposed and/or promulgated during the Biden Administration.

Congress has from time to time considered adopting legislation to reduce emissions of GHGs, and a number of

state and regional efforts have emerged that are aimed at tracking and/or reducing GHG emissions by means of
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cap-and-trade programs. Cap and trade programs typically require major sources of GHG emissions to acquire

and surrender emission allowances in return for emitting those GHGs. Further, the United States has rejoined the

Paris Agreement and has committed to reduce U.S. GHG emissions by up to 52% by 2030. The adoption of

legislation or regulatory programs or other government action to reduce emissions of GHGs could require us to

incur increased operating costs.

Clean Water Act

The CWA imposes restrictions and strict controls regarding the discharge of wastes, including mineral processing

wastes, into waters of the United States, a term broadly defined to include, among other things, certain wetlands.

Permits must be obtained to discharge pollutants into federal waters. The CWA provides for civil, criminal and

administrative penalties for unauthorized discharges, both routine and accidental, of pollutants. It imposes

substantial potential liability for the costs of removal or remediation associated with discharges of oil or

hazardous substances. State laws governing discharges to water also provide varying civil, criminal and

administrative penalties, and impose liabilities in the case of a discharge of petroleum or its derivatives, or other

hazardous substances, into state waters. In addition, the EPA has promulgated regulations that require permits to

discharge storm water runoff, including discharges associated with construction activities. In the event of an

unauthorized discharge of wastes, we may be liable for penalties and costs.

Pursuant to these laws and regulations, we may also be required to develop and implement spill prevention,

control and countermeasure plans, also referred to as ‘‘SPCC plans,’’ in connection with on-site storage of

significant quantities of oil. Some states also maintain groundwater protection programs that require permits for

discharges or operations that may impact groundwater conditions. The CWA also prohibits the discharge of fill

materials to regulated waters including wetlands without a permit from the USACE.

In May 2015, the EPA issued a final rule that attempted to clarify the federal jurisdictional reach over waters of

the United States, but the agency repealed this rule in September 2019 and replaced it with the Navigable Water

Protection Rule in April 2020, which narrowed federal jurisdictional reach relative to the 2015 rule. The repeal

and replacement of the 2015 rule is currently subject to litigation and the scope of the jurisdictional reach of the

Clean Water Act may therefore remain uncertain for several years, with a patchwork of legal guidelines

applicable to various states potentially developing. We could face increased costs and delays with respect to

obtaining permits for dredge and fill activities in wetland areas to the extent they are required.

Underground Injection Control Permits

The federal SDWA creates a nationwide regulatory program protecting groundwater. This act is administered by
the EPA. However, to avoid the burden of dual federal and state (or Indian tribal) regulation, the SDWA allows
for the Underground Injection Control (‘‘UIC’’) permits issued by states (and Indian tribes determined eligible
for treatment as states) to satisfy the UIC permit required under the SDWA under two conditions. First, the
state’s program must have been granted primacy. Second, the EPA must have granted, upon request by the state,
an aquifer exemption. The EPA may delay or decline to process the state’s application if the EPA questions the
state’s jurisdiction over the mine site. Permits must be obtained before developing and using deep injection wells
for the disposal or storage of produced fluids, and well casing integrity monitoring must be conducted
periodically to ensure the well casing is not leaking produced fluids to groundwater. Contamination of
groundwater by natural gas and oil drilling, production and related operations may result in fines, penalties,
remediation costs and natural resource damages, among other sanctions and liabilities under the SDWA and other
federal and state laws. In addition, third-party claims may be filed by landowners and other parties claiming
damages for groundwater contamination, alternative water supplies, property impacts and bodily injury.

NEPA

NEPA requires federal agencies to evaluate major agency actions having the potential to significantly impact the
environment. The NEPA process involves public input through comments which can alter the nature of a
proposed project either by limiting the scope of the project or requiring resource-specific mitigation. NEPA
decisions can be appealed through the court system by process participants. This process may result in delaying
the permitting and development of projects or increase the costs of permitting and developing some facilities.

Endangered Species Act

The federal Endangered Species Act (‘‘ESA’’) restricts activities that may affect endangered and threatened
species or their habitats. Some of our operations may be located in areas that are designated as habitats for
endangered or threatened species. A critical habitat designation could result in further material restrictions to
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federal and private land use and could delay or prohibit land access or development. The United States Fish and
Wildlife Service continues its effort to make listing decisions and critical habitat designations where necessary.
The ESA has not previously had a significant impact on our operations. However, the designation of previously
unprotected species as being endangered or threatened could cause us to incur additional costs or become subject
to operating restrictions in areas where the species are known to exist.

Environmental, Social and Governance

During fiscal 2021, IperionX engaged Presidio Graduate School’s expert consulting division, PGS Consults to
commence an Environmental, Sustainability and Corporate Governance (‘‘ESG’’) assessment and subsequent
integration study. PGS Consults is housed in Presidio Graduate School, the country’s first and only independent
graduate school focused entirely on sustainability and social justice, with corporate clients including HP Inc.,
Flex Ltd., Granite Construction, Thermo Fisher Scientific and Domaine Chandon.

PGS Consults will undertake a materiality assessment, a life cycle assessment and create a playbook for ESG
leadership. The review and assessment will identify priority ESG focus areas, highlight key ESG
recommendations, and deliver an actionable life cycle assessment. PGS Consults will conduct the study in
accordance with Global Reporting Initiative, UN Sustainable Development Goals, and Task Force on
Climate-Related Financial Disclosures standards. The ESG integration study will outline material physical and
economic ESG metrics as well as major development milestones and timelines. IperionX expects the ESG
assessment and integration study to be completed in the first half of 2022.

Extraction Permits and Approvals

We currently have permits authorizing the exploration drilling activities with respect to the Titan Project. We are
required to obtain governmental permits for some of our exploration activities and may be required to renew the
permits we already have. Prior to developing or extracting any mineralization that we discover, we will be
required to obtain new governmental permits authorizing, among other things, any site development activities and
site operating activities. Obtaining and renewing governmental permits is a complex and time-consuming process
and involves numerous jurisdictions. public hearings and possibly costly undertakings. The timeliness and success
of permitting efforts are contingent upon many variables not within our control, including the interpretation of
permit approval requirements administered by the applicable permitting authority. We may not be able to obtain
or renew permits that are necessary to our planned operations or the cost and time required to obtain or renew
such permits may exceed our expectations. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the permitting process
could delay the exploration, development or operation of our properties.

See ‘‘Item 3 Key Information—D. Risk Factors—Risks Related to Regulatory and Industry Matters—We will be

required to obtain governmental permits in order to conduct development and minerals extraction operations, a

process which is often costly and time-consuming.’’

Our exploration operations are subject to extensive laws and regulations, which are overseen and enforced by

multiple U.S. federal, state and local authorities. These laws govern exploration, development, production,

exports, various taxes, labor standards, occupational health and safety, waste disposal, protection and remediation

of the environment, protection of endangered and protected species and other matters. Mineral exploration

operations are also subject to U.S. federal and state laws and regulations that seek to maintain health and safety

standards by regulating the design and use of drilling methods and equipment. Various permits from government

bodies are required for drilling operations to be conducted, and we cannot assure you such permits will be

received. Environmental laws and regulations may also, among other things:

• Require notice to stakeholders of proposed and ongoing operations.

• Require the installation of pollution control equipment.

• Restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the

environment in connection with minerals extraction or drilling activities.

• Limit or prohibit extraction or drilling activities on lands located within wetlands, areas inhabited by

endangered species and other protected areas, or otherwise restrict or prohibit activities that could

impact the environment, including water resources.

• Impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from current or former operations on or for any

preexisting environmental impacts at the Titan Project site.
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• Require preparation of an Environmental Assessment or an Environmental Impact Statement.

As of the date hereof, other than with respect to the acquisition of the Titan Project and related permitting

activities, we have not been required to spend material amounts on compliance with environmental regulations.

However, compliance with these laws and regulations may impose substantial costs on us, subject us to

significant potential liabilities, and have an adverse effect upon our capital expenditures, results of operations or

competitive position. Violations and liabilities with respect to these laws and regulations could result in

significant administrative, civil, or criminal penalties, remedial clean-ups, natural resource damages, permit

modifications or revocations, operational interruptions or shutdowns and other liabilities. The costs of remedying

such conditions may be significant, and remediation obligations could adversely affect our business, results of

operations and financial condition. Additionally, Congress and federal and state agencies frequently revise

environmental laws and regulations, and any changes in these regulations or the interpretations thereof could

require us to expend significant resources to comply with new laws or regulations or changes to current

requirements and could have a material adverse effect on our business operations.

C. Organizational Structure

The following reflects our organizational structure. All our subsidiaries are wholly-owned.

IperionX Limited 
(Australia)

Hyperion Metals 
(Australia) Pty Ltd 

(Australia)

TN Exploration LLC
(North Carolina)

Hyperion Materials & 
Technologies LLC

(North Carolina)

Calatos Pty Ltd LLC 
(Nevada)

D. Property, Plant and Equipment

IperionX holds a 100% interest in the Titan Project, covering over 11,000 acres of critical minerals properties in

Tennessee, United States, considered prospective for critical minerals including titanium, rare earth elements,

silica sand and zircon.

The Titan Project is located in west Tennessee and we believe the Titan Project has access to world class

infrastructure, with nearby access to excellent roads, rail, river, power and skilled labor. We believe mineral

sands projects operational costs are heavily influenced by electricity and labor costs.

At December 31, 2021, the Titan Project comprised of approximately 11,071 acres of surface and associated mineral

rights in Tennessee within 84 separate property tracts, of which approximately 137 acres are owned outright,

approximately 1,357 acres are subject to exclusive option to purchase agreements, and approximately 9,577 acres are

subject to exclusive option to lease agreements. Other than the option agreements described above, there currently are

no material liens or encumbrances on the property comprising the Titan Project. However, in order to develop the

project, we will need to obtain permits and approvals as described under ‘‘Item 4. Information on the Company—B.

Business Overview—Governmental Regulations—Extraction Permits and Approvals.’’

Our option to lease agreements, upon exercise, allow us to lease the surface property and associated mineral

rights from the local landowners, and generally have expiry dates between mid-2026 to late-2027. During the

option period, our option to lease agreements provide for annual option payments and bonus payments during

periods when we conduct drilling. Our annual option payments generally range between $25.00 to $75.00 per

acre and our drilling bonuses generally average approximately $1.00 per drill foot. Our obligation to make

annual option payments and drilling bonus payments cease if we exercise our option to lease. Upon exercise, in

the case of an option to lease, we will pay an annual minimum royalty, generally $75 per acre, and a mining

royalty, generally 5% of net revenues from products sold.
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Our option to purchase agreements, upon exercise, allow us to purchase outright the surface property and

associated mineral rights from the local landowners, and generally have expiry dates between mid-2022 to

late-2023. During the option period, our option to purchase agreements provide for annual option payments and

bonus payments during periods when we conduct drilling. Our annual option payments generally range between

$25.00 to $50.00 per acre and our drilling bonuses generally average approximately $1.00 per drill foot. Our

obligation to make annual option payments and drilling bonus payments cease if we exercise our option to

purchase. Upon exercise, in the case of a purchase, we will pay cash consideration approximating the fair market

value of the property, excluding the value of any minerals, plus a premium.

At June 30, 2021, the book carrying value of the Titan Project was US$504,750. See note 6 to our audited

consolidated financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2021 for further details.

The Titan Project is located in an area which saw significant historic exploration from the 1950’s to the 1990’s by

companies including DuPont, Kerr-McGee Corp., BHP Group, RGC Ltd and Altair International Corp. The Titan

Project is also strategically located in the southeast of the United States, close to significant manufacturing capacity,

including the Chemours facility in New Johnsonville, one of the world’s largest producers of titanium dioxide.

Since securing the initial Project land position in late-2020, we have focused on proving the Titan Project’s

potential. We have conducted multiple drilling programs at the Titan Project, comprising more than 10,000 total

meters drilled during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2022.

We may elect to undertake further drilling, metallurgical testwork, and technical studies to assess the economic

potential of the Titan Project and define a critical minerals reserve base. Following the completion of all technical

studies and all necessary permitting activities, we may undertake minerals extraction and processing activities.

Subject to market conditions and the ability to define an economically viable critical minerals deposit, our separate

business plan for the Titan Project is to become a strategic, U.S. domestic source of high-quality, sustainable, low-cost

and low-carbon titanium and other critical mineral feedstocks, including rare earths, to the United States.
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We plan to effect our business plan as described in ‘‘Item 4. Information on the Company—A. History and

Development of the Company—Exploration and Development Plans.’’

 

ITEM 4A. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
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ITEM 5. OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and related

notes included elsewhere in this registration statement on Form 20-F. The following discussion contains

forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates and beliefs. Our actual results could differ materially

from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these

differences include those discussed below and elsewhere in this registration statement on Form 20-F, particularly

those in the section of this registration statement on Form 20-F entitled ‘‘Risk Factors.’’ The consolidated general

purpose financial statements of the consolidated group have been prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by

the IASB.

The IASB sets out accounting policies that it has concluded would result in a financial report containing relevant

and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted in the

preparation of this financial report are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise

stated.

Our financial statements for fiscal 2021 are presented in U.S. dollars and have been prepared in accordance with

IFRS.

Business Strategy

IperionX’s mission is to be the leading developer of low-carbon, sustainable, critical materials supply chains for

advanced American industries including space, aerospace, electric vehicles, and 3D printing. We plan to effect

our business plan as described in ‘‘Item 4. Information on the Company—A. History and Development of the

Company—Exploration and Development Plans.’’

A. Operating Results

Financial Overview of IperionX

The following discussion relates to our consolidated results of operations, financial condition and capital

resources. You should read this discussion in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes

thereto incorporated by reference in this registration statement.

Six Months Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Period Ended December 31, 2020

Continuing operations

Six Months Ended
December 31, 2021

US$

Six Months Ended
December 31, 2020

(restated)
US$

Exploration and evaluation expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,431,522) (285,215)

Corporate and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (998,378) (185,031)

Business development expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,501,724) (71,946)

Share-based payment expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,764,135) (841,896)

Finance income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 157,435 118

Finance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,831) —

Cost of listing on reverse acquisition. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (5,141,126)

Exploration and evaluation expenses

Exploration and evaluation expenses encompasses expenditures incurred by the Company in connection with the

exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of

extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable (other than costs associated with acquiring our exploration

properties, which are capitalized), including drilling and sampling costs, technical and engineering studies,

permitting costs and overhead costs associated with maintaining our exploration headquarters.

Exploration and evaluation expenses increased by US$3,146,307, to US$3,431,522, from the period ended

December 31, 2020 to the period ended December 31, 2021 principally due to increased exploration and

appraisal activities, including drilling, on the Titan Project, which was only acquired by the Group on

December 1, 2020.
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Corporate and administrative expenses

Corporate and administrative expenses encompass overhead costs, such as maintaining our corporate

headquarters, public company costs, audit and other fees for professional services and legal compliance.

Corporate and administrative expenses increased by US$813,347, to US$998,378, from the period ended

December 31, 2020 to the period ended December 31, 2021 principally due to increased hiring and overheads to

support our increased exploration and appraisal activities on the Titan Project, which was only acquired by the

Group on December 1, 2020.

Business development expenses

Business development expenses encompass investor relations expenses, including costs for press releases,

maintenance of the Company’s website and other investor marketing and information initiatives, and other fees

for corporate advisory services.

Business development expenses increased by US$1,429,778, to US$1,501,724, from the period ended

December 31, 2020 to the period ended December 31, 2021 principally due to increased consultancy costs to

support our increased investor marketing and information initiatives.

Share-based payment expense

Share-based payment expense encompasses expenses incurred by the Company in connection with Restricted

Stock Units, Unlisted Options and Performance Rights granted by the Company to officers, employees,

consultants and other key advisors as part of remuneration and incentive arrangements.

Share-based payment expenses from such remuneration arrangements increased by US$3,922,239, to

US$4,764,135, from the period ended December 31, 2020 to the period ended December 31, 2021 principally

due to increased hiring to support our increased exploration and appraisal activities on the Titan Project, which

was only acquired by the Group on December 1, 2020.

Finance income

Finance income encompasses interest income and foreign exchange gains.

Finance income increased by US$157,317, to US$157,435, from the period ended December 31, 2020 to the

period ended December 31, 2021 principally due to the result of increasing average cash and cash equivalent

balances over this period.

Finance costs

Finance costs encompass interest expenses and foreign exchange losses.

Finance costs increased by US$23,831 in the period ended December 31, 2021 compared to nil in the period

ended December 31, 2020 principally due to new leases for premises and vehicles entered into by the Group

since the end of the period ended December 31, 2020.

Cost of listing on reverse acquisition

In addition, the Company determined that the deemed consideration in respect of the reverse acquisition of the

Company by HMAPL represents a share-based payment in accordance with IFRS 2. The Company determined

the fair value of the deemed consideration to be US$7,055,446, of which US$1,914,320 of this was allocated to

the fair value of the net assets acquired and US$5,141,126 was recognized as a share-based expense in the

statement of profit and loss for the period ended December 31, 2020, representing the cost of the listing.

Year Ended June 30, 2021

Exploration and evaluation expenses

Exploration and evaluation expenses were US$2,568,386 for the period ended June 30, 2021.

Corporate and administrative expenses

Corporate and administrative expenses were US$852,944 for the period ended June 30, 2021.
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Business development expenses

Business development expenses were US$581,200 for the period ended June 30, 2021.

Share-based payment expense

Share-based payment expense arising from the Company’s remuneration arrangements were US$4,084,764 for

the period ended June 30, 2021.

Finance income

Finance income was US$5,075 for the period ended June 30, 2021.

Finance costs

Finance costs were US$7,492 for the period ended June 30, 2021.

Cost of listing on reverse acquisition

In addition, the Company determined that the deemed consideration in respect of the reverse acquisition of the

Company by HMAPL represents a share-based payment in accordance with IFRS 2. The Company determined

the fair value of the deemed consideration to be US$7,055,446, of which US$1,914,320 of this was allocated to

the fair value of the net assets acquired and US$5,141,126 was recognized as a share-based expense in the

statement of profit and loss for the period ended June 30, 2021, representing the cost of the listing.
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Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Statement of Profit or Loss

The following unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss and related notes presents the

combination of the financial information of TAO and HMAPL, adjusted to give effect to the ‘‘Reverse Asset

Acquisition,’’ as defined below, and has been prepared for informational purposes only.

The unaudited pro forma combined financial information does not necessarily reflect what the combined

company’s financial results of operations would have been had the Reverse Asset Acquisition occurred on July 1,

2020. The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss also may not be useful in predicting the

future financial condition and results of operations of the combined company. The results of operations may

differ significantly from the pro forma amounts reflected herein due to a variety of factors, including those

described under the captions ‘‘Risk Factors’’ and ‘‘Forward-Looking Statements’’ and elsewhere in this

registration statement.

This information should be read together with the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma combined

statement of profit or loss, HMAPL’s and TAO’s audited financial statements and related notes, IperionX’s

audited financial statements and related notes, the section titled ‘‘Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and

Prospects’’ and other financial information included elsewhere in this Form 20-F.

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss was prepared in accordance with Article 11 of

SEC Regulation S-X as amended by the final rule, Release No. 33-10786 ‘‘Amendments to Financial Disclosures

about Acquired and Disposed Businesses’’ as adopted by the SEC on May 21, 2020. Release No. 33-10786

replaces the existing pro forma adjustment criteria with simplified requirements to depict the accounting for the

transaction (the ‘‘Acquisition Adjustments’’) and present the reasonably estimable synergies and other transaction

effects that have occurred or are reasonably expected to occur (‘‘Management’s Adjustments’’). Management has

elected not to present Management’s Adjustments and no Acquisition Adjustments were identified.

Unaudited Pro Forma Combined
Statement of Profit or Loss

HMAPL
(accounting

acquirer)
For the period
from July 20,

2020 to
June 30, 2021

(historical)
US$

TAO
(accounting

acquiree)
For the period
from July 1 to

December 1, 2020
(historical)

US$

Acquisition
Adjustments

US$

Pro Forma
Combined

US$

Continuing operations

Exploration and evaluation expenses. . . . . . . . (2,568,386) (43,620) — (2,612,006)

Corporate and administrative expenses . . . . . . (852,944) (262,889) — (1,115,833)

Business development expenses . . . . . . . . . . . (581,200) — — (581,200)

Share based payment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,084,764) (62,716) — (4,147,480)

Finance income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,075 2,775 — 7,850

Finance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,492) — — (7,492)

Cost of listing on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . (5,141,126) — — (5,141,126)

Impairment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (332,881) — (332,881)

Other expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (47,917) — (47,917)

Loss before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837) (747,248) — (13,978,085)

Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —

Loss for the year. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837) (747,248) — (13,978,085)

Loss per share:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares –

basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,336,252 31,737,316 — 60,336,252

Loss per ordinary share – basic and diluted. . . . US$ 0.22 US$ 0.02 — US$ 0.23
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The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss has been prepared using the assumptions below:

Note 1—Description of the Reverse Asset Acquisition

On December 1, 2020, IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited and Tao Commodities Limited) (the

‘‘Company’’) completed its acquisition of Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd (‘‘HMAPL’’) after issuing

26,500,000 ordinary shares, 5,000,000 unlisted options, 8,000,000 performance options and 36,000,000

performance shares in the Company to the vendors, following shareholder approval received at the Company’s

general meeting held on November 30, 2020 (the ‘‘Reverse Asset Acquisition’’).

As a result of the Reverse Asset Acquisition, the former shareholders of HMAPL effectively obtained control of

the combined entity. Accordingly, using the reverse acquisition principles of the business combination accounting

standard, while the Company is the legal acquirer of HMAPL, for accounting purposes HMAPL is deemed to be

the acquirer of the Company.

Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the period ended June 30, 2021 have been

prepared as a continuation of the consolidated financial statements of HMAPL. The deemed acquirer, HMAPL,

has accounted for the acquisition of the Company from December 1, 2020. As HMAPL was only incorporated

during the financial period on July 20, 2020, there is no comparative period information for HMAPL.

In addition, at the date of the Reverse Asset Acquisition, it was determined that the Company was not a business

as defined under IFRS 3 Business Combinations (which differs to the definition of a business under Article 11 of

SEC Regulation S-X as amended by the final rule, Release No. 33-10786). Accordingly, for accounting purposes,

the Reverse Asset Acquisition has been treated as a share-based payment transaction.

Note 2—Basis of Presentation

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss has been prepared to illustrate the effect of the

Reverse Asset Acquisition and has been prepared for informational purposes only.

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss of profit or loss for the period ended June 30,

2021 is based on the historical financial statements of TAO and HMAPL. The Acquisition Adjustments consist of

those necessary to account for the Reverse Asset Acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma adjustments are based on information currently available, and assumptions and

estimates underlying the unaudited pro forma adjustments are described in the accompanying notes. Actual

results may differ materially from the assumptions used to present the accompanying unaudited pro forma

combined statement of profit or loss.

The Company and HMAPL did not have any historical relationship prior to the Reverse Asset Acquisition.

Accordingly, no pro forma adjustments were required to eliminate activities between the companies.

The unaudited pro forma combined statements of profit or loss for the period ended June 30, 2021, presents pro

forma effect to the Reverse Asset Acquisition as if it had been completed on July 1, 2020, the beginning of the

earliest period presented.

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss has been prepared in accordance with Article 11 of

SEC Regulation S-X as amended by the final rule, Release No. 33-10786 to reflect the Reverse Asset

Acquisition.

The presentation currency for TAO is Australian dollars. The adjusted historical financial statements of profit and

loss have been translated into U.S. dollars using the average exchange rate during the period from July 1, 2020

to December 1, 2020, which was 1 AUD = 0.7171 USD.

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss for the period ended June 30, 2021 has been

prepared using, and should be read in conjunction with, the following:

• the audited financial statements of HMAPL for the period from July 20, 2020 to June 30, 2021 and

related notes, included elsewhere in this Form 20-F, which have been prepared as a continuation of the

financial statements of HMAPL, due to the fact that, for accounting purposes, HMAPL is deemed to be

the acquirer of the Company; and
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• the audited financial statements of TAO for the period from July 1, 2020 to December 1, 2020 and

related notes, included elsewhere in this Form 20-F, which have been prepared on a standalone basis

for the period prior to consummation of the Reverse Asset Acquisition on December 1, 2020.

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss does not give effect to any anticipated synergies,

operating efficiencies, tax savings or cost savings that may be associated with the Reverse Asset Acquisition.

As a SEC registered company, we will be implementing additional procedures and processes for the purpose of

addressing the standards and requirements applicable to SEC registered companies. We expect to incur additional

annual expenses related to these steps and, among other things, additional directors’ and officers’ liability

insurance, director fees, reporting requirements of the SEC, transfer agent fees, hiring additional accounting, legal

and administrative personnel, increased auditing, tax and legal fees, stock exchange listing fees and similar

expenses. We have not included any pro forma adjustments relating to these costs.

The pro forma adjustments reflecting the consummation of the Reverse Asset Acquisition are based on certain

currently available information and certain assumptions and methodologies that the Company believes are

reasonable under the circumstances. The unaudited pro forma adjustments, which are described in the

accompanying notes, may be revised as additional information becomes available and is evaluated. Therefore, it

is likely that the actual adjustments will differ from the pro forma adjustments and it is possible the difference

may be material. The Company believes that its assumptions and methodologies provide a reasonable basis for

presenting all of the significant effects of the business combination based on information available to

management at the time and that the pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those assumptions and are

properly applied in the unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss.

The unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss is not necessarily indicative of what the actual

results of operations would have been had the Reverse Asset Acquisition taken place on the date indicated, nor

are they indicative of the future consolidated results of operations or financial position of the combined company.

They should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and notes thereto of TAO and

HMAPL.

Note 3—Accounting Policies

Based on a review of the two entities’ accounting policies, management did not identify any differences that

would have a material impact on the unaudited pro forma combined financial information. As a result, the

unaudited pro forma combined statement of profit or loss does not assume any differences in accounting policies.

B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

The liquidity and capital resources discussion that follows contains certain estimates as of the date of this

registration statement of our estimated future sources and uses of liquidity (including estimated future capital

resources and capital expenditures) and future financial and operating results. These estimates reflect numerous

assumptions made by us with respect to general business, economic, regulatory, market and financial conditions,

industry conditions and other future events, and matters specific to our businesses, all of which are difficult or

impossible to predict and many of which are beyond our control. Please carefully read the risks discussed in

‘‘Risk Factors’’ contained in this registration statement which describe significant risks and uncertainties that may

affect us and our financial conditions.

Sources and Uses of Liquidity

We have not yet commenced commercial production at any of our properties and expect to continue to incur

losses during the exploration, evaluation, and development of the Titan Project. Our operations have been

financed by proceeds from issuances of ordinary shares.

At June 30, 2021, we had cash reserves of US$1.7 million and net assets of US$1.8 million. In addition,

subsequent to the end of the 2021 fiscal year, IperionX completed a placement of 20 million shares at an issue

price of A$1.20 per share to institutional, sophisticated and professional investors to raise gross proceeds of

A$24.0 million (US$17.6 million) (the ‘‘Placement’’). Our primary use of cash currently comprises exploration

and evaluation expenditures relating to the Titan Project and for ongoing operating expenses. Based on our

current financial position, we expect to have sufficient cash flow to operate for the next 12 months, complete a

Scoping Study for the Titan Project in 2022, and to maintain adequate liquidity to satisfy working capital

requirements.
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Until we have completed a definitive Feasibility Study for the Titan Project, we are not able to say if or when

we will decide to develop the Titan Project. If we complete a definitive Feasibility Study for the Titan Project

and ultimately make a decision to develop the Titan Project, this will require substantial additional funds, which

would require future debt or equity financings. Similar rare earth projects that are planned to be constructed in

Australia by other companies have estimated capital expenditures of between US$200 to US$300 million.

We may decide to pursue additional financing activities to facilitate development activities at the Titan Project

and to fund working capital and our corporate operations. We expect that such financing will result in additional

sales or issuances of our ordinary shares or ADSs, but we also may engage in debt financing.

If we decide to raise capital by issuing equity securities, the issuance of additional ordinary shares or ADSs

would result in dilution to our existing shareholders. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in

completing any financings or that any such equity or debt financing will be available to us if and when required

or on satisfactory terms.

Funding Requirements and Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures for fiscal 2021 amounted to US$571,568 which represents the purchase of exploration

and evaluation properties and the purchase of property, plant and equipment.

We expense all other exploration and evaluation expenditures when incurred (other than expenditures incurred in

the acquisition of the rights to explore, including option payments to landowners).

If we complete a definitive Feasibility Study for the Titan Project and ultimately make a decision to develop the

Titan Project, this will require substantial additional funds, which would require future debt or equity financings.

Similar rare earth projects that are planned to be constructed in Australia by other companies have estimated

capital expenditures of between US$200 to US$300 million.

Potential acquisition of Blacksand

IperionX has secured an exclusive option to acquire 100% of the ownership interests in Blacksand, valid until

December 31, 2022. Blacksand holds the rights to produce low carbon titanium metal and spherical powders

using the patented Technologies. Upon exercise of the option under the Blacksand Option Agreement, IperionX

will: (i) pay US$12,000,000 to Blacksand and its members, of which IperionX can elect to pay an amount

(between 22.5% to 30%) in shares of IperionX (based on a share price equal to 75% of the 10-day VWAP of

IperionX shares on ASX immediately preceding the closing date, subject to a floor of A$0.85 and a ceiling of

A$3.00), subject to IperionX obtaining shareholder approval; (ii) commit to invest US$1,000,000 over a 3 year

period towards the establishment of an endowed chair professorship at the University of Utah, which shall be

used to support research and development related to Blacksand and IperionX and other related technologies in

the field of titanium, critical metals, and minerals; and (iii) pay the Blacksand members a royalty equal to 0.5%

of cumulative net sales that relate to Blacksand assets or properties above US$300,000,000. If we choose to

exercise our option under the Blacksand Option Agreement this will require additional funds, which would

require future debt or equity financings.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and

the year ended June 30, 2021:

Six Months Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
June 30,

2021 2021

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (5,900,944) $(3,558,025)

Investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (744,865) (571,568)

Financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,295,299 5,829,916

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $12,649,490 US$ 1,700,323

47



Operating Activities

For the six months ended December 31, 2021 net cash used in operating activities was US$5,900,944. For the

year ended June 30, 2021, net cash used in operating activities was US$3,558,025, which represents payments to

suppliers and employees and interest paid and received.

Investing Activities

For the six months ended December 31, 2021, net cash used in investing activities was US$744,865. For the year

ended June 30, 2021, net cash used in investing activities was US$571,568, which represents the purchase of

exploration and evaluation properties, and the purchase of property, plant and equipment .

Financing Activities

For the six months ended December 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was US$19,295,299. For

the year ended June 30, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was US$5,829,916, which represents

proceeds and costs from the issuance of Ordinary Shares, payment of the principal portion of lease liabilities and

a net cash inflow from the Acquisition.

Climate Change

Numerous regulatory initiatives have been enacted, and are likely to continue to be developed, at the

international, national, regional and state levels of government to monitor and limit existing emissions of GHGs

as well as to restrict or eliminate such future emissions. See ‘‘Item 4. Information on the Company—B. Business

Overview—Governmental Regulations—Climate Change’’ for additional information. We do not currently

anticipate that the adoption of legislation or regulatory programs or other government action to reduce emissions

of GHGs will materially and adversely affect our business or results of operations. However, we cannot assure

you as to the effect of future legislation or rules, any of which could require us to incur increased operating

costs.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

During the six months ended December 31, 2021 and fiscal 2021, we did not have any off-balance sheet

arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

C. Research and Development, Patents and Licenses

IperionX’s research and development (‘‘R&D’’) policies are focused on optimizing its R&D resources relating to

human talent, infrastructure, and working with select partners including leading academic institutions to bring

specific, high-level skills to its core R&D projects. These projects include the rapid commercialization of

proprietary technologies to produce low-cost, low-carbon titanium products and powders, as well as recycled

scrap. The core technologies behind IperionX’s products were discovered by researchers at the University of

Utah. IperionX acquired and holds the exclusive rights to commercialize these technologies. The potential

end-market applications for IperionX’s products are broad, as its titanium can be produced in powder form or

milled product (bar, rod, sheet). Ultimately, IperionX aims to displace steel and aluminum to reduce carbon and

GHG emissions in the transportation and other sectors.

D. Trend Information

Not applicable, as the Company is in the exploration stage and therefore has no material trends in production,

sales or inventory.

E. Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,

income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions

are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the
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estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if

the revision affects both current and future periods. See note 1 to our audited consolidated financial statements

for the period ended June 30, 2021, incorporated by reference in this registration statement, for a description of

our other significant accounting policies.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognized in the financial statements are

described below.

Recognition of tax losses

The income tax expense for a particular period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based

on the national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities

attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in

the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply

when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or

substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of

deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made

for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax

asset or liability is recognized in relation to these temporary differences if they arose on goodwill or in a

transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting

profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the carrying amount and

tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of

the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is

probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilize those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred

income tax asset to be utilized.

Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognized to the extent that

it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognized directly in equity are also recognized

directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off

current tax assets against tax liabilities and the deferred tax liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the

same taxation authority.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation is dependent on the successful

development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest. See note 6 to our audited

consolidated financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2021, incorporated by reference in this

registration statement.

Determination of the accounting acquirer in reverse acquisition and fair value of the consideration paid

As a result of the Acquisition, the former shareholders of HMAPL effectively obtained control of the combined

entity. Accordingly, using the reverse acquisition principles of the business combination accounting standard,

while the Company is the legal acquirer of HMAPL, for accounting purposes HMAPL is deemed to be the

acquirer of the Company.

Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of IperionX have been prepared as a continuation of the

consolidated financial statements of HMAPL. The deemed acquirer, HMAPL, has accounted for the acquisition
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of the Company from December 1, 2020. As HMAPL was incorporated on July 20, 2020, and therefore there is

no comparative period information available for HMAPL.

In addition, at the date of the transaction, it was determined that the Company was not a business. Accordingly,

for accounting purposes, the Acquisition has been treated as a share-based payment transaction.

Share-based payments

The fair value of Unlisted Options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the Black Scholes option

valuation model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Unlisted Options were granted. The

fair value of Performance Rights granted that have market-based vesting conditions is estimated as at the date of

grant using trinomial lattice valuation model taking into account the market-based vesting criteria upon which the

Performance Rights were granted. The fair value of Performance Rights granted that do not have market-based

vesting conditions is estimated as at the date of grant on the underlying share price (being the five-day volume

weighted average share price prior to issuance). For additional information, see note 17 to our audited

consolidated financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2021, incorporated by reference in this

registration statement.
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ITEM 6. DIRECTORS, SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES

A. Directors and Senior Management

The following discussion sets forth information regarding our directors and executive officers as of the date of

this registration statement on Form 20-F. In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, a Director (other than the

Managing Director) must not hold office, without re-election, past the third annual general meeting following the

Director’s appointment or three years, whichever is longer. The following table lists the names of our directors

and executive officers. The business address for each director and member of senior management is

c/o Level 9, 28 The Esplanade, Perth WA 6000, Australia.

Name Age Position

Anastasios (Taso) Arima 37 Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Todd W. Hannigan 49 Executive Chairman

Lorraine M. Martin 59 Independent Non-Executive Director

Vaughn W. Taylor 37 Independent Non-Executive Director

Melissa G. Waller 51 Independent Non-Executive Director

Beverly M. Wyse 59 Independent Non-Executive Director

Dominic P. Allen 38 Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer

Lamont Leatherman 56 Vice President and Chief Geologist

Toby Symonds 53 Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer

Jeanne McMullin 55 Vice President and Chief Legal Officer

Gregory D. Swan 40 Vice President and Company Secretary (principal financial officer)

Anastasios (Taso) Arima (37 years of age) – Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Anastasios (Taso) Arima has extensive experience in the development of energy and resource projects in

North America, establishing outstanding management teams and high-quality projects, and has raised over

A$500 million in equity funding over his career. Mr. Arima has been based in the United States since 2014. He

was a founder and director of Piedmont Lithium Limited (NASDAQ/ASX: PLL), which has rapidly grown into a

A$1 billion company and was instrumental in identifying and securing Piedmont’s lithium project. Mr. Arima is

also the founder of Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd, which the Company acquired during the period and

holds the Company’s Titan Project, a potentially large-scale titanium and zircon minerals sands project in west

Tennessee. Mr. Arima attended the University of Western Australia where he earned a Bachelor of Commerce

whilst studying for a Bachelor of Engineering. Mr. Arima was appointed as Director of Hyperion Metals

(Australia) Pty Ltd on July 20, 2021, as Executive Director of the Company on December 1, 2020, and as

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer on March 1, 2021. During the three-year period to the end of the

financial period, Mr. Arima held a directorship in Piedmont Lithium Limited (October 2016 – June 2021).

Todd Hannigan (49 years of age) – Executive Chairman

Todd Hannigan has over 25 years of global experience in natural resources as company founder, chief executive

officer, private capital investor and non-executive director. In these lead roles Mr. Hannigan has helped build

multiple billion-dollar companies in the private and public markets. He is a large shareholder and non-executive

director of Piedmont Lithium Limited (NASDAQ/ASX: PLL). Mr. Hannigan has worked internationally in the

extraction and resources sector for Aston Resources, Xstrata Coal, Hanson PLC, BHP Billiton and MIM.

Mr. Hannigan was the Chief Executive Officer of Aston Resources from 2010 to 2011. During this time, the

company significantly progressed the Maules Creek project, including upgrades to the project’s resources and

reserves, completion of all technical and design work for the definitive Feasibility Study, negotiation of

two major project stake sales and joint venture agreements, securing port and rail access and progression of

planning approvals to final stages. Mr. Hannigan holds a Bachelor of Engineering (Mining) from The University

of Queensland and an MBA from INSEAD. Mr. Hannigan was appointed as Non-Executive Chairman of the

Company on February 1, 2021, and as Executive Chairman on May 24, 2021. During the three-year period to the

end of the financial period, Mr. Hannigan held directorships in Piedmont Lithium Limited (March 2021 –

present), Paringa Resources Limited (May 2014 – present), and Prairie Mining Limited (September 2014 –

February 2021).
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Lorraine M. Martin (59 years of age) – Independent Non-Executive Director

Lorraine M. Martin is President and Chief Executive Officer of the National Safety Council, a non-profit with a

century-long legacy of eliminating preventable deaths and injuries from the workplace. Ms. Martin has 35 years

of experience in aerospace, including leading and developing complex global aircraft programs as a senior

executive at Lockheed Martin. Ms. Martin was Executive Vice President and Deputy of Rotary and Mission

Systems where she led a team of 34,000 global employees in the U.S., Canada, Mexico, Taiwan, Japan, United

Kingdom, Germany, Poland, the Netherlands, New Zealand and Australia with operations in more than

75 worldwide facilities. In this role, she spearheaded the successful operational and cultural integration of

Sikorsky, a global leader in helicopters. Ms. Martin led Lockheed Martin’s largest defense program, the F-35

Lightning II Program, where she was Executive Vice President & General Manager with full P&L responsibility

for a program with over $8 billion in annual revenue and 9,000 employees. Before this, she was Vice President

of the C-130 & C-5 Programs where she led 3,000 employees for a $2 billion aircraft mobility portfolio.

Ms. Martin has a Master of Science in computer science from Boston University and a BA in computational

mathematics from DePauw University. Ms. Martin was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company on

September 13, 2021. During the three-year period to the end of the financial period, Ms. Martin held a

directorship in Kennametal Inc. (NYSE: KMT) (July 2018 – present). Kennametal is a global materials science

firm with a market capitalization of approximately US$3 billion that serves customers across aerospace, energy,

engineering and transportation.

Vaughn Taylor (37 years of age) – Independent Non-Executive Director

Vaughn Taylor was previously Executive Director and Chief Investment Officer of AMB Capital Partners

(‘‘AMB’’), the global investment platform of the Western Australian based Bennett Family, whose wealth is tied

to the Australian Iron Ore industry. Mr. Taylor was with AMB since the formation of the investment platform

over 10 years ago, and was responsible for executing on the investment strategy, expanding the investment

platform and portfolio into offshore markets, overseeing the operations and portfolio on a day-to-day basis and

sourcing new investment opportunities. Mr. Taylor is a board member of multiple leading organizations both in

Australia and internationally, including Cornerstone Health, 4Cyte Pathology, Arrow Capital Partners, Invictus

Capital Partners and GB Energy. Mr. Taylor holds a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) and a Master of Business

(Real Estate) from RMIT University and gained further accreditation at the Robert H. Smith School of Business

at the University of Maryland (USA). Mr. Taylor also holds a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and

Investment from FINSIA and is a member of FINSIA and the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Mr. Taylor was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company on March 3, 2021. During the three-year

period to the end of the financial period, Mr. Taylor has not held a directorship in any other listed companies.

Melissa G. Waller (51 years of age) – Independent Non-Executive Director

Melissa G. Waller has over 30 years’ experience as a senior finance executive and is President for the AIF

Institute, providing essential education, research and resources to investors and investment firms globally with

over $50 trillion assets under management. Ms. Waller is the former Deputy Treasurer and Chief of Staff for the

North Carolina Department of State Treasury, where she successfully oversaw Department strategic planning,

operations, and public-policy implementation, along with a staff of more than 400 employees, including the

North Carolina Retirement Systems, the pension fund for the state and the tenth largest public pension fund in

the United States, with assets in excess of $90 billion. Ms. Waller has served as Chair of the Department’s

Corporate Governance Committee, as well as on the Council of Institutional Investors Board of Directors and the

Governor’s Board of Innovation for the North Carolina University System. She currently serves as Executive

Program Director for the National Institute of Public Finance, as well as Director of Public and Private

Partnerships for the Kenan Institute. Ms. Waller has a bachelor’s degree in journalism and mass communications

from the University of North Carolina. Ms. Waller was appointed as Non-Executive Director of the Company on

September 13, 2021. During the three-year period to the end of the financial period, Ms. Waller has not held a

directorship in any other listed companies.

Beverly M. Wyse (59 years of age) – Independent Non-Executive Director

Beverly M. Wyse has over 30 years of senior leadership in the aerospace industry with Boeing, the world’s

largest aerospace company. Ms. Wyse was the President of Shared Services, a +7,000-person, multi-billion dollar

operating group that provides internal services across Boeing’s global enterprises in more than 65 countries.
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Previously, Ms. Wyse was the Vice President & General Manager of Boeing South Carolina, a major engineering

design, manufacturing, assembly, and delivery site for Boeing that included the 787 Dreamliner Aft-body and

Mid-body operations, 787 final assembly, delivery and test operations. Ms. Wyse was Vice President and General

Manager of the 737 Program, from 2010 to 2015, successfully leading the design, development, certification,

production and delivery for Boeing’s largest commercial program. Before this, Ms. Wyse was the Vice President

& General Manager of the 767 Program. Ms. Wyse has a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering and a

Master’s in Business Administration, from the University of Washington in Seattle. Ms. Wyse was appointed as

Non-Executive Director of the Company on September 13, 2021. During the three-year period to the end of the

financial period, Ms. Wyse held a directorship in Héroux-Devtek Inc. (TSX: HRX) (February 2019 – present).

Héroux-Devtek is an international company specializing in the design, development, manufacture, integration,

testing and repair, and overhaul of landing gear, actuation systems and components for the aerospace market.

Dominic Allen (38 years of age) – Vice President and Chief Commercial Officer

Dominic Allen is a Chartered Accountant with over 10 years commercial experience, including senior roles with

Rio Tinto Limited and Oyu Tolgoi LLC. Mr. Allen previously worked for Ernst & Young Transaction Advisory

Services, completing multiple resource and industrial transactions both in Australia and internationally.

Lamont Leatherman (56 years of age) – Vice President and Chief Geologist

Lamont Leatherman is an exploration geologist with over 25 years of experience. Mr. Leatherman is the former

project geologist for BHP Minerals and Noranda. He has extensive experience in numerous styles of

mineralization including lithium bearing pegmatite systems. Mr. Leatherman was a founder of and currently

Chief Geologist of Nasdaq-listed Piedmont Lithium Inc., responsible for the leasing and delineation of Piedmont

Lithium’s North Carolina lithium project.

Toby Symonds (53 years of age) – Vice President and Chief Strategy Officer

Toby Symonds has over 30 years of experience in finance and asset management. This includes advisory board

roles across private equity and real estate investment firms and executive leadership positions within global

hedge fund firms and investment banking firms based in London, New York and San Francisco. Mr. Symonds

has core competencies in capital markets, corporate strategy, product development, business development,

management information systems and project and team management. Mr. Symonds graduated from North

Carolina State University with a B.A. degree in Political Science.

Jeanne McMullin (55 years of age) – Vice President and Chief Legal Officer

Jeanne McMullin is a corporate attorney and business executive with over 25 years’ experience advising early

and growth stage companies on legal, commercial, operational, and regulatory matters. Ms. McMullin has held

senior legal and operational roles at Twist Capital, a technology investment firm in Los Angeles and at

Colchester Global Investors, a global bond manager in London. Ms. McMullin has a JD from the University of

Pennsylvania Law School and a BA with honors from Brown University. She is a member of the New York bar.

Gregory Swan (40 years of age) – Vice President and Company Secretary

Gregory Swan is a Chartered Accountant with over 15 years’ experience in the formation and development of

publicly listed natural resources companies. He currently serves as Chief Financial Officer and/or Company

Secretary for several listed companies that operate in the resources sector. He commenced his career at a large

international Chartered Accounting firm and has since been involved with a number of extraction exploration and

development companies, including Piedmont Lithium Inc. (NASDAQ:PLL, ASX:PLL), Mantra Resources

Limited (ASX:MRU) and Papillon Resources Limited (ASX:PIR). Mr. Swan holds a Bachelor of Commerce

from the University of Western Australia and is a Member of the Chartered Accountants Australia and

New Zealand, a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia, and a Fellow of the Financial Services Institute

of Australasia. Mr. Swan was appointed as Director of Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd on July 20, 2020 and

as Company Secretary of the Company on December 16, 2020.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships between any members of our executive management and our directors.
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Arrangements for Election of Directors and Members of Management

There are no contracts or other arrangements pursuant to which directors have been or must be selected.

B. Compensation

Overview

Our remuneration policy for our key management personnel (‘‘KMP’’) has been developed by the Board taking

into account the size of the Company, the size of the management team for the Company, the nature and stage of

development of the Company’s current operations, and market conditions and comparable salary levels for

companies of a similar size and operating in similar sectors.

In addition to considering the above general factors, the Board has also placed emphasis on the following

specific issues in determining the remuneration policy for KMP: (a) the Company is currently focused on

undertaking exploration, appraisal and development activities at the Titan Project; (b) risks associated with small

cap resource companies whilst exploring and developing projects; and (c) other than profit which may be

generated from asset sales, the Company does not expect to be undertaking profitable operations until sometime

after the commencement of commercial production on any of its projects.

The objective of our remuneration structure reward framework is to ensure that reward for performance is

competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The remuneration framework provides a mix of fixed and

variable remuneration, which incorporates a blend of short and long-term incentives. There is a deliberate

emphasis on lower fixed base and higher variable results-based remuneration to ensure that management focus is

aligned with that of shareholders. This has been achieved by ensuring that a significant proportion of executive’s

remuneration is ‘at risk’. Long-term incentives are based on Company milestones linked to value drivers of the

Titan Project.

Executive Remuneration

The Company’s remuneration policy is to provide a fixed remuneration component and a performance-based

component (short term incentive and long-term incentive). The Board believes that this remuneration policy is

appropriate given the considerations discussed in the section above and is appropriate in aligning executives’

objectives with shareholder and business objectives.

Fixed Remuneration

Fixed remuneration consists of base salaries, as well as employer 401(k) contributions or contributions to

superannuation funds and other non-cash benefits. Non-cash benefits may include provision of motor vehicles,

rental allowance, health care benefits, health insurance, and life insurance.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the Board. The process consists of a review of Company and

individual performance, relevant comparative remuneration externally and internally and, where appropriate,

external advice on policies and practices.

Performance Based Remuneration – Short Term Incentive

Some executive KMP are entitled to an annual cash bonus upon achieving various key performance indicators

(‘‘KPI’s’’), as set by the Board. Having regard to the current size, nature and opportunities of the Company, the

Board has determined that these KPI’s will include measures such as successful completion of the acquisition of

new projects, exploration activities (e.g. completion of exploration programs within budgeted timeframes and

costs), development activities (e.g. completion of scoping and/or feasibility studies), corporate activities

(e.g. recruitment of key personnel) and business development activities (e.g. project acquisitions and capital

raisings). Prior to the end of each financial year, the Board assesses performance against these criteria.

During fiscal 2021, no bonuses were paid to executive KMP.
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Performance Based Remuneration – Long Term Incentive

The Company has a long-term incentive plan (‘‘LTIP’’) comprising the ‘‘IperionX Limited Employee Equity

Incentive Plan’’ (the ‘‘Plan’’) to reward executive KMP and other key employees and contractors for long-term

performance. The Plan provides for the issuance of unlisted options (‘‘Unlisted Options’’) and unlisted

performance rights (‘‘Performance Rights’’) to eligible employees and contractors as part of their remuneration

and incentive arrangements in order to attract and retain their services and to provide an incentive linked to the

performance of the Company.

To achieve our corporate objectives, we need to attract, incentivize, and retain our executive KMP and other key

employees and contractors. The Board believes that grants made to eligible participants under the Plan will

provide a useful tool to underpin our employment and engagement strategy, and enables us to:

• recruit, incentivize and retain KMP and other key employees and contractors needed to achieve our

business objectives;

• link the reward of key staff with the achievement of strategic goals and the long-term performance of

the Company;

• align the financial interest of participants of the Plan with those of shareholders; and

• provide incentives to participants of the Plan to focus on superior performance that creates shareholder

value.

Performance Rights

The Plan provides for the issuance of Performance Rights to eligible participants which, upon satisfaction of the

relevant performance conditions attached to the Performance Rights, will result in the issue of an Ordinary Share

for each Performance Right. Performance Rights are issued for no consideration and no amount is payable upon

conversion thereof.

Performance Rights granted under the Plan to eligible participants will be linked to the achievement by the

Company of certain performance conditions as determined by the Board from time to time. These performance

conditions must be satisfied in order for the Performance Rights to vest. Upon Performance Rights vesting,

Ordinary Shares are automatically issued for no consideration. If a performance condition of a Performance Right

is not achieved by the expiry date, then the Performance Right will lapse.

During fiscal 2021, 13,450,000 Performance Rights were granted to executive KMP and 2,000,000 Performance

Rights held by executive KMP vested and converted into Ordinary Shares. No Performance Rights held by

executive KMP lapsed during fiscal 2021.

Unlisted Options

The Plan provides for the issuance of Unlisted Options to eligible participants. The Board’s policy is to grant

Unlisted Options to KMP with exercise prices at or above market share price (at the time of agreement). As

such, the Unlisted Options granted to KMP are generally only of benefit if the KMP performs to the level

whereby the value of the Group increases sufficiently to warrant exercising the Unlisted Options granted.

Other than service-based vesting conditions (if any) and the exercise price required to exercise the Unlisted

Options, there are no additional performance criteria on the Unlisted Options granted to KMP, as given the

speculative nature of the Company’s activities and the small management team responsible for its running, it is

considered that the performance of the KMP and the performance and value of the Company are closely related.

The Company prohibits executive KMP from entering into arrangements to limit their exposure to Unlisted

Options granted as part of their remuneration package.

During fiscal 2021, 8,125,000 Unlisted Options were granted to executive KMP and no Unlisted Options were

exercised by executive KMP. No Unlisted Options held by executive KMP lapsed during fiscal 2021.
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Non-Executive Director Remuneration

The Board’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors at market rates for comparable companies for time,

commitment and responsibilities. Given the current size, nature and risks of the Company, Unlisted Options have

been used to attract and retain Non-Executive Directors, where deemed appropriate. The Board determines

payments to the Non-Executive Directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market practice,

duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required.

The maximum aggregate amount of fees that can be paid to Non-Executive Directors is subject to approval by

shareholders at a general meeting. Director’s fees paid to Non-Executive Directors accrue on a daily basis. Fees

for Non-Executive Directors are not linked to the performance of the economic entity. However, to align

directors’ interests with shareholder interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company and

Non-Executive Directors may in limited circumstances receive grants of restricted stock options, unlisted options

or performance rights in order to secure their services. The Company prohibits Non-Executive Directors from

entering into arrangements to limit their exposure to options granted as part of their remuneration package.

Fees for Non-Executive Directors are presently set at US$30,000 per annum. These fees cover main board

activities only. Non-Executive Directors may receive additional remuneration for other services provided to the

Company, including but not limited to, membership of committees.

Relationship between Remuneration of KMP and Shareholder Wealth

During the Company’s exploration and development phases of its business, the Board anticipates that the

Company will retain earnings (if any) and other cash resources for the exploration and development of its

resource projects. Accordingly, we do not currently have a policy with respect to the payment of dividends and

returns of capital. Therefore, there was no relationship between the Board’s policy for determining, or in relation

to, the nature and amount of remuneration of KMP and dividends paid and returns of capital by the Company

during the current and previous four financial years.

The Board did not determine, and in relation to, the nature and amount of remuneration of the KMP by reference

to changes in the price at which shares in the Group traded between the beginning and end of the current and the

previous four financial years. Discretionary annual cash bonuses are based upon achieving various non-financial

KPI’s that are not based on share price or earnings, such as the successful acquisition of new projects,

exploration activities (e.g. completion of exploration programs within budgeted timeframes and costs),

development activities (e.g. completion of scoping and/or feasibility studies), corporate activities (e.g. recruitment

of key personnel) and business development activities (e.g. project acquisitions and capital raisings). However, as

noted above, certain KMP are granted Performance Rights and/or Unlisted Options which generally will be of

greater value to KMP if the value of the Ordinary Shares increases (subject to vesting conditions being met).

Relationship between Remuneration of KMP and Earnings

As discussed above, the Company is currently undertaking exploration and development activities, and does not expect

to be undertaking profitable operations (other than by way of material asset sales, none of which is currently planned)

until sometime after the successful commercialization, production and sales of commodities from one or more of its

projects. Accordingly, the Board does not consider earnings during the current and previous four financial years when

determining, and in relation to, the nature and amount of remuneration of KMP.

Details of Remuneration

Details of the nature and amount of each element of the emoluments of each KMP of the Company for the

period ended June 30, 2021 are as follows. Note that emoluments of each KMP of the Company prior to

completion of the reverse acquisition on December 1, 2020 have been excluded from the below amounts, on the

basis that the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the period ended June 30, 2021 have been

prepared as a continuation of the consolidated financial statements of HMAPL. Further, due to the fact that

HMAPL was only incorporated during fiscal 2021, there is no comparative period information.
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2021

Short-term benefits Post-
employment

benefits
US$

Termination
benefits

US$
Share-based

payments US$
Total
US$

Performance
related

%

Salary &
fees
US$

Other
US$

Current KMP

Todd Hannigan(1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,670 — 1,774 — 981,359 1,001,803 98%

Anastasios Arima(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87,514 — 1,543 — 1,052,363 1,141,420 92%

Vaughn Taylor(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,962 — — — 73,167 82,129 89%

Dominic Allen(4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,704 — — — 496,205 541,909 92%

Lamont Leatherman(5). . . . . . . . . . . 45,000 — — — 74,483 119,483 62%

Gregory Swan(6) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 391,309 391,309 100%

Former KMP

Patric Glovac(7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 48,168 — 1,490 — 335,930 385,588 87%

Mark Connelly(8) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,908 — 846 — 216,756 226,510 96%

Frank Knezovic(9) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,481 — 426 — 59,587 64,494 92%

Alastair Smith(10). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,839 — — — — 7,839 —

275,246 — 6,079 — 3,681,159 3,962,484

(1) Mr. Hannigan was appointed effective February 1, 2021.

(2) Mr. Arima was appointed as Executive Director of the Company effective December 1, 2020 and as CEO and Managing Director of

the Company effective from March 1, 2021. Mr. Arima was appointed as Director of HMAPL on July 20, 2020.

(3) Mr. Taylor was appointed effective March 3, 2021.

(4) Mr. Allen was appointed Corporate Development Officer of the Company effective December 1, 2020. Mr. Allen was appointed as

Director of HMAPL on July 20, 2020.

(5) Mr. Leatherman was appointed effective December 1, 2020. Mr. Leatherman was appointed as a consultant of HMAPL on July 20,

2020.

(6) Mr. Swan was appointed Company Secretary of the Company effective December 16, 2020. Mr. Swan provides services as the

Company Secretary through a services agreement with Apollo Group Pty Ltd (‘‘Apollo’’). During the period, Apollo was paid or is

payable A$105,000 for the provision of serviced office facilities and administrative, accounting and company secretarial services to the

Group. Mr. Swan was appointed as Director of HMAPL on July 20, 2020.

(7) Mr. Glovac resigned effective March 1, 2021. US$33,905 received by Mr. Glovac prior to completion of the reverse acquisition on

December 1, 2020 has been excluded.

(8) Mr. Connelly resigned effective February 18, 2021. US$20,444 received by Mr. Connelly prior to completion of the reverse acquisition

on December 1, 2020 has been excluded.

(9) Mr. Knezovic resigned effective December 29, 2020. US$12,266 received by Mr. Knezovic prior to completion of the reverse

acquisition on December 1, 2020 has been excluded.

(10) Mr. Smith appointed effective January 11, 2021 and resigned effective April 23, 2021.

Loans with Key Management Personnel

No loans were provided to or received from KMP during fiscal 2021.

Employment Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors

Mr. Hannigan, Executive Chairman, has a director appointment letter with the Company. Mr. Hannigan receives a

fixed remuneration component of A$60,000 (US$44,808) per annum.

Mr. Arima, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director, has an employment agreement with the Company

which may be terminated upon six months’ advance written notice, unless mutually agreed upon with the

Company. Mr. Arima receives a fixed remuneration component of US$180,000 per annum and a discretionary

annual bonus of up to US$100,000 to be paid upon the successful completion of KPIs as determined by the

Board.

All Non-Executive Directors have a letter of appointment confirming the terms and conditions of their

appointment as director of the Company.
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C. Board Practices

The Board is responsible for and has the authority to determine all matters relating to the strategic direction,

policies, practices, establishing goals for management and the operation of the Company. The functions and

responsibilities reserved for the Board and those delegated to the Managing Director and executive management

are set out in our Board Charter.

Nasdaq listing standards require that a majority of the Board be independent. An ‘‘independent director’’ is

defined generally as a person other than an officer or employee of the company or its subsidiaries or any other

individual having a relationship which in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with the director’s exercise of

independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The Board has determined that Mses.

Martin, Waller and Wyse and Mr. Taylor are ‘‘independent directors’’ as defined in the Nasdaq listing standards

and applicable SEC rules.

In addition to being set out in the Board Charter, the roles and responsibilities of our directors are also

formalized in the letter of appointment which each director receives and commits to on their appointment. The

letters of appointment specify the term of appointment, time commitment envisaged, expectations in relations to

committee work or any other special duties attaching to the position, reporting lines, remuneration arrangements,

disclosure obligations in relation to personal interests, confidentiality obligations, insurance and indemnity

entitlements and details of the Company’s key governance policies. Each KMP enters into a service contract

which sets out the material terms of employment, including a description of position and duties, reporting lines,

remuneration arrangement and termination rights and entitlement.

The Constitution of the Company requires the Company, to the extent permitted by law, to indemnify any person

who is or has been a director or officer of the Company for any liability caused by such a director or officer and

any legal costs incurred by a director or officer in defending an action for any liability caused by such a director

or officer. During or since the end of fiscal 2021, no amounts have been paid by the Company in relation to the

above indemnities. During fiscal 2021, an insurance premium of US$44,271 was paid by the Company to insure

against a liability incurred by a person who is or has been a director or officer of the Company.

Board Committees

The Board has three standing committees, being an audit committee, a remuneration and nomination committee,

and an environmental, social and governance committee.

Audit Committee

The Board has established an audit committee. Assignments to, and chairs of, audit committee will be selected

by the Board. The audit committee operates under a charter approved by the Board and reports on its activities to

the Board. The audit committee monitors the integrity of our financial statements, the independence and

qualifications of our independent auditors, the performance of our accounting staff and independent auditors, our

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the effectiveness of our internal controls. The audit

committee is responsible for selecting, retaining (subject to shareholder approval), evaluating, setting the

remuneration of, and, if appropriate, recommending the termination of our independent auditors. The audit

committee is established in accordance with Section 10A(m) of the Exchange Act. Under the Nasdaq listing

standards and applicable SEC rules, we are required to have at least three members of the audit committee, all of

whom must be independent. The audit committee currently consists of Mr. Vaughn Taylor (chairperson),

Ms. Lorraine Martin, and Ms. Beverly Wyse, all of whom are considered independent under the listing standards

of the Nasdaq Capital Market for audit committee members and the heightened independence requirement for

audit committee members required by Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act. Mr. Vaughn Taylor is also an audit

committee financial expert.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Board has established a separate remuneration and nomination committee. The remuneration and nomination

committee operates under a charter approved by the Board and reports on its activities to the board. The

remuneration and nomination committee charter sets out the processes the Board employs for setting the level

and composition of compensation for directors and senior executives and ensuring that such compensation is

appropriate and not excessive. Under the Nasdaq listing standards and applicable SEC rules, we are required to
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have at least two members of the Compensation Committee, all of whom must be independent. The remuneration

and nomination committee currently consists of Mr. Vaughn Taylor (chairperson), Ms. Beverly Wyse and

Ms. Melissa Waller, all of whom are considered independent under the Nasdaq listing standards and applicable

SEC rules.

Environmental, Social and Governance Committee

The Board has established a separate ESG committee. The ESG committee operates under a charter approved by

the Board and reports on its activities to the board. The ESG committee charter sets out the processes the Board

employs to oversee the Company’s ESG strategy and initiatives, including the Company’s reporting on its

commitment to sustainability, social responsibility and other related matters. The ESG committee currently

consists of Ms. Melissa Waller (chairperson), Ms. Beverly Wyse, Ms. Lorraine Martin, and Mr. Anastasios

Arima.

Code of Conduct

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct which provides a framework for decisions and actions in relation

to ethical conduct in employment. It aims to encourage the appropriate standards of conduct and behavior of the

directors, officers, employees and contractors of the Company. The document sets out the principles covering

appropriate conduct in a variety of contexts and outlines the minimum standard of behavior expected from

employees, including to:

• act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company as a whole;

• exercise their duty to use due care and diligence in fulfilling the functions of their position;

• recognize that their primary responsibility is to the Company’s shareholders as a whole;

• not take advantage of their position for personal gain, or the gain of their associates; and

• preserve the confidentiality of sensitive information of the Company.

The directors and executives also have a fiduciary relationship with shareholders of the Company, making it

unlawful to improperly use their position to gain advantage for themselves. At all times, directors and officers

must act in the best interest of the Company and eliminate or abstain from participating in any discussion or

decision-making process in relation to matters which they have a conflict of interest, not engage in insider

trading and comply with all applicable anti-bribery laws.

D. Employees

As of June 30, 2021, we had 20 employees and 24 employee contractors based in 3 different countries, as shown

in the chart below.

United States Australia Canada

Employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 1 —

Employee Contractors . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19 2 3

The workforce is non-unionized.
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E. Share Ownership

The following table lists as of December 31, 2021, the number of our shares beneficially owned by each of our

directors, our chief executive officer and other members of our senior management as a group. Beneficial

ownership is calculated based on 139,488,491 ordinary shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021.

Shareholder

Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned(1)

Number Percent

Officers and Directors

Anastasios (Taso) Arima . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,937,500 3.5%

Todd W. Hannigan. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,169,086 7.9%

Lorraine M. Martin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — *

Vaughn W. Taylor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 376,829 *

Melissa G. Waller . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — *

Beverly M. Wyse. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — *

Dominic P. Allen . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,352,500 2.4%

Lamont Leatherman. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,302,500 2.3%

Toby Symonds . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — *

Jeanne McMullin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — *

Gregory D. Swan. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,250,000 1.6%

Officers and directors as a group (10 persons) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,388,415 18.0%

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the outstanding ordinary shares of IperionX.

(1) Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC and generally means that a person has beneficial ownership of a

security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power of that security, including options and performance rights

that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2021.

60



ITEM 7. MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A. Major Shareholders

The following table and accompanying footnotes set forth, as of December 31, 2021, information regarding

beneficial ownership of our ordinary shares by each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than

5% of our ordinary shares. In preparing the disclosure below, we have relied to the extent we believe appropriate

on substantial shareholder notices provided to us by our substantial shareholders and released to ASX.

Beneficial ownership is determined according to the rules of the SEC and generally means that a person has

beneficial ownership of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or shared voting or investment power of that

security, including options and performance rights that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of

December 31, 2021. Ordinary shares subject to options and performance rights currently exercisable or

exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2021 are deemed to be outstanding for computing the percentage

ownership of the person holding these options and/or performance rights and the percentage ownership of any

group of which the holder is a member, but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage of any

other person.

Our calculation of the percentage of beneficial ownership is based on 139,488,491 ordinary shares issued and

outstanding as at December 31, 2021. A large number of our ordinary shares are held by nominee companies so

we cannot be certain of the identity of those beneficial owners.

Unless otherwise indicated, to our knowledge each shareholder possesses sole voting and investment power over

the ordinary shares listed subject to community property laws, where applicable. None of our shareholders has

different voting rights from other shareholders.

Shareholder

Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned

Number Percent

FMR LLC (1 St. Martin’s Le Grand, London, EC1A 4AS, United Kingdom) . . . . . . . . . 13,499,999 9.7%

DITM Holdings Pty Ltd (15 Lennox Street, Mosman, NSW, 2088, Australia)(1) . . . . . . . 11,169,086 7.9%

(1) DITM Holdings Pty Limited is an Australian corporation controlled by Mr. Todd Hannigan.

To our knowledge, there have not been any significant changes in the ownership of our Ordinary Shares by

major shareholders over the past three years, except as follows (which is based upon substantial shareholder

notices filed with the ASX):

• FMR LLC became a substantial shareholder on August 31, 2021, when it acquired 13,499,999 ordinary

shares, or 9.7% of the total voting power, pursuant to a private placement by the Company;

• DITM Holdings Pty Ltd became a substantial shareholder on December 1, 2020, when it reported that

it held 4,618,357 ordinary shares, or 5.3% of the total voting power, as of that date. On January 27,

2021, DITM Holdings Pty Ltd had a change in substantial holding (due to additional purchases) and

reported it held 7,951,691 ordinary shares, or 8.1% of the total voting power, as of that date.

DITM Holdings Pty Ltd is an entity associated with Mr. Todd Hannigan, Director of the Company;

• Arredo Pty Ltd became a substantial shareholder on December 1, 2020, when it reported that it held

5,475,000 ordinary shares, or 6.3% of the total voting power, as of that date. Arredo Pty Ltd ceased to

be a substantial holder on August 31, 2021 (due to dilution);

• Syracuse Capital Pty Ltd became a substantial shareholder on June 18, 2019, when it reported that it

held 2,107,784 ordinary shares, or 6.8% of the total voting power, as of that date. On October 29,

2019, Syracuse Capital Pty Ltd had a change in substantial holding (due to additional purchases) and

reported it held 2,364,854 ordinary shares, or 7.5% of the total voting power, as of that date. On

April 20, 2020, Syracuse Capital Pty Ltd had a change in substantial holding (due to additional

purchases) and reported it held 2,919,778 ordinary shares, or 9.3% of the total voting power, as of that

date. On September 24, 2020, Syracuse Capital Pty Ltd had a change in substantial holding (due to

additional purchases) and reported it held 3,464,944 ordinary shares, or 11.0% of the total voting

power, as of that date. Syracuse Capital Pty Ltd ceased to be a substantial holder on February 1, 2021

(due to dilution);
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• IPConcept (Luxembourg) S.A. became a substantial shareholder on October 21, 2020, when it reported

that it held 1,700,000 ordinary shares, as of that date. IPConcept (Luxembourg) S.A. ceased to be a

substantial holder on December 7, 2021 (due to dilution);

• Mounts Bay Investments Pty Ltd became a substantial shareholder on April 16, 2018, when it reported

that it held 1,874,444 ordinary shares, or 6.1% of the total voting power, as of that date. On August 3,

2018, Mounts Bay Investments Pty Ltd had a change in substantial holding (due to additional

purchases) and reported it held 1,909,444 ordinary shares, or 6.2% of the total voting power, as of that

date. On September 24, 2020, Mounts Bay Investments Pty Ltd had a change in substantial holding

(due to additional purchases) and reported it held 2,269,444 ordinary shares, or 7.2% of the total voting

power, as of that date. Mounts Bay Investments Pty Ltd ceased to be a substantial holder on

December 2, 2020 (due to dilution); and

• Mr. Patric Glovac became a substantial shareholder on November 3, 2020, when he reported that he

held 1,859,445 ordinary shares, or 5.7% of the total voting power, as of that date. Mr. Patric Glovac

ceased to be a substantial holder on December 2, 2020 (due to dilution).

Record Holders

Based on information known to us, as of December 31, 2021, we had 17 shareholders of record in the

United States. These shareholders held an aggregate of 9,339,500 of our outstanding Ordinary Shares, or

approximately 6.7% of our outstanding Ordinary Shares. A number of our Ordinary Shares are held by nominee

companies so we cannot be certain of the identity of those beneficial owners.

We are not controlled by another corporation, by any foreign government or by any natural or legal persons

except as set forth herein, and there are no arrangements known to us which would result in a change in control

of us at a subsequent date.

B. Related Party Transactions

Other than as disclosed below, since July 20, 2020, other than employment and remuneration matters described

in ‘‘Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees—Compensation’’ we did not enter into any

transactions or loans with any: (i) enterprises that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries,

control, are controlled by or are under common control with us; (ii) associates; (iii) individuals owning, directly

or indirectly, an interest in our voting power that gives them significant influence over us, and close members of

any such individual’s family; (iv) key management personnel and close members of such individuals’ families; or

(v) enterprises in which a substantial shareholder interest in our voting power is owned, directly or indirectly, by

any person described in (iii) or (iv) or over which such person is able to exercise significant influence.

Focus Capital Partners, LLC (‘‘Focus Capital’’), a company of which Mr. Smith is a partner, was paid:

(a) US$67,792 for the provision of services in relation to business development activities during fiscal 2021,

which has been recognized as an expense through profit or loss; and (b) US$25,493 in share placement fees

during fiscal 2021, which has been recognized as a share issue costs in equity.

C. Interests of Experts and Counsel

Not Applicable.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION.

A. Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information.

See ‘‘Item 18. Financial Statements.’’

Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to any material legal proceedings.

Dividends

We have not declared any dividends during fiscal 2021, 2020 or 2019 and do not anticipate that we will do so in the

foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the development of our business.

Dividends, if any, on our outstanding ordinary shares will be declared by and subject to the discretion of our Board of

Directors on the basis of our earnings, financial requirements and other relevant factors, and subject to Australian law.

Any dividend we declare will be paid to the holders of ADSs, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, to

the same extent as holders of our ordinary shares, to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulations, less

the fees and expenses payable under the deposit agreement. Any dividend we declare will be distributed by the

depositary bank to the holders of the ADSs, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement. See ‘‘Item 12.

Description of Securities Other Than Equity Securities—D. American Depositary Shares.’’

B. Significant Changes

No significant change, other than as otherwise described in this registration statement on Form 20-F, has

occurred in our operations since the date of our consolidated financial statements included in this registration

statement on Form 20-F.

ITEM 9. THE OFFER AND LISTING

A. Offer and Listing Details

The principal trading market for our ordinary shares is the ASX in Australia. Our ordinary shares trade under the

symbol ‘‘IPX’’.

On February 15, 2022, the closing price of our ordinary shares as traded on the ASX was A$0.91 per ordinary

share. We intend to apply to have the ADSs listed on Nasdaq under the symbol ‘‘IPX’’.

For a description of the rights of the ADSs, see ‘‘Item 12. Description of Securities Other Than Equity

Securities—D. American Depositary Shares.’’

B. Plan of Distribution

Not applicable.

C. Markets

Our ordinary shares are publicly traded on the ASX under the symbol ‘‘IPX’’. We are filing this registration

statement on Form 20-F in anticipation of the listing of the American Depositary Shares, or ADSs, each

representing 10 of our ordinary shares, on Nasdaq under the symbol ‘‘IPX’’. The Bank of New York Mellon,

acting as depositary, will register and deliver the ADSs.

D. Selling Shareholders

Not applicable.

E. Dilution

Not applicable.

F. Expenses of the Issue

Not applicable.
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ITEM 10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

A. Share Capital

Overview

The following description of our ordinary shares is only a summary. We encourage you to read our Constitution,

which is included as an exhibit to this registration statement.

We are a public company limited by shares registered under the Corporations Act by the Australian Securities

and Investments Commission (‘‘ASIC’’). Our corporate affairs are principally governed by our Constitution, the

Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules. Our ordinary shares trade on the ASX.

The Australian law applicable to our Constitution is not significantly different than a U.S. company’s charter

documents except we do not have a limit on our authorized share capital and the concept of par value is not

recognized under Australian law.

Subject to restrictions on the issue of securities in our Constitution, the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing

Rules and any other applicable law, we may at any time issue shares and grant options or warrants on any terms,

with the rights and restrictions and for the consideration that the Board determine.

The rights and restrictions attaching to ordinary shares are derived through a combination of our Constitution, the

common law applicable to Australia, the ASX Listing Rules, the Corporations Act and other applicable law. A

general summary of some of the rights and restrictions attaching to our ordinary shares are summarized below.

Each ordinary shareholder is entitled to receive notice of, and to be present, vote and speak at, general meetings.

As of December 31, 2021, we had 139,488,491 ordinary shares outstanding. In addition, as of December 31,

2021, we had potential ordinary shares for future issuance as follows: (i) 24,624,000 potential ordinary shares for

issuance pursuant to options to purchase ordinary shares at a weighted average exercise price of A$0.26 per

share, (ii) 600,000 potential ordinary shares for issuance upon conversion of restricted stock units upon the

satisfaction of the relevant vesting condition, (iii) 39,600,000 potential ordinary shares for issuance upon

conversion of performance shares upon the satisfaction of the performance conditions and (iv) 25,315,000

potential ordinary shares for issuance upon conversion of performance rights upon the satisfaction of the relevant

performance condition.

Share Options, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and Performance Rights

As at December 31, 2021, the following Unlisted Options, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and

Performance Rights have been issued over unissued ordinary shares of the Company:

• 5,224,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.25 each on or before December 31, 2023;

• 3,650,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before December 31, 2023;

• 5,000,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before December 1, 2025;

• 4,000,000 Class A Performance Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before December 1,

2025;

• 4,000,000 Class B Performance Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before December 1,

2025;

• 1,075,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.45 each on or before December 31, 2023; and

• 1,075,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.55 each on or before December 31, 2023.

• 5,698,331 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$2.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2026;

• 6,698,334 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$3.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2026;

• 10,808,335 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$4.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2026;

• 175,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$2.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2024;
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• 275,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$3.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2024;

• 125,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$4.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2024;

• 150,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$2.00 per share, expiring

March 1, 2026;

• 150,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$3.00 per share, expiring

March 1, 2026;

• 150,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$4.00 per share, expiring

March 1, 2026;

• 600,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$1.33 each on or before September 9, 2025; and

• 600,000 Restricted Stock Units that vest upon achieving various service-based conditions, expiring

September 9, 2025;

• 19,800,000 Class A Performance Shares expiring on December 1, 2024, that will convert into an

equivalent number of ordinary shares upon completion of a positive pre-feasibility study (prepared in

accordance with the JORC Code and independently verified by a Competent Person) for heavy mineral

sands extraction and processing on any of the Titan Project area which demonstrates a net present value

of at least A$200,000,000 before September 17, 2024;

• 19,800,000 Class B Performance Shares expiring on December 1, 2025, that will convert into an

equivalent number of ordinary shares upon the commencement of commercial production from the

Titan Project area before September 17, 2025;

• 50,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$2.00 per share, expiring

December 22, 2026;

• 100,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$3.00 per share, expiring

December 22, 2026;

• 150,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$4.00 per share, expiring

December 22, 2026;

• 259,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving various performance conditions, expiring

December 22, 2024;

• 261,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving various performance conditions, expiring

December 22, 2025; and

• 265,000 Performance Rights that vest upon achieving various performance conditions, expiring

December 22, 2026.

During the period from January 1, 2019 and up to December 31, 2021, 6,126,000 ordinary shares have been

issued as a result of the exercise or conversion of Unlisted Options, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares

and Performance Rights.

Issuances of Securities

Below is information regarding securities sold by us since July 1, 2018, the first day of fiscal 2019. None of the

securities sold by us since such date were registered under the Securities Act, and, we have made no public offerings

in the United States. All our securities were sold through private placement either (i) outside the United States in

reliance on Regulation S, (ii) in the United States to a limited number of investors in transactions not involving any

public offering or (iii) in the case of employee compensation, pursuant to Rule 701 of the Securities Act. As discussed

below, we believe that each issuance of these securities was exempt from, or not subject to, registration under the

Securities Act.

• On October 19, 2018, we issued 220,000 ordinary shares to a consultant in lieu of fees for services;

• On October 25, 2019, we issued 416,667 ordinary shares representing an exclusive option fee to

acquire a portfolio of iron ore tenements. The option was never exercised by the Company;
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• On September 3, 2020, we issued 15,693,334 listed options pursuant to a pro-rata non-renounceable

entitlement issue, with an exercise price of A$0.20 per share and expiring August 31, 2021. As at

September 30, 2021, 15,675,824 of these options have been exercised, and 17,510 of these options

have lapsed without being exercised;

• On December 1, 2020, we issued 25,000,000 ordinary shares as part of a private placement at

A$0.08 per share to institutional and sophisticated investors;

• On December 1, 2020, we issued 29,150,000 ordinary shares, 5,000,000 unlisted options,

8,000,000 performance options and 39,600,000 performance shares in the Company in relation to the

acquisition of the Titan Project;

• On January 27 and 29, 2021, we issued 12,150,000 ordinary shares as part of a private placement at

A$0.30 per share to institutional and sophisticated investors;

• On August 31, 2021, we issued 20,000,000 ordinary shares as part of a private placement at

A$1.20 per share to institutional and sophisticated investors;

• From time to time since July 1, 2018 through December 31, 2021, we have granted unlisted options to

directors, employees, and consultants covering an aggregate of 14,750,000 ordinary shares, with

exercise prices ranging from A$0.20 to A$1.33 per share. As at December 31, 2021, 3,126,000 of these

options have been exercised;

• From time to time since July 1, 2018 through December 31, 2021, we have granted performance rights

to directors, employees, and consultants covering an aggregate of 28,315,000 ordinary shares, that each

convert into one ordinary share upon the satisfaction of various performance conditions. As at

December 31, 2021, 3,000,000 of these performance rights have vested and been converted into

ordinary shares.

• From time to time since July 1, 2018 through December 31, 2021, we have granted restricted stock

units (‘‘RSUs’’) to directors covering an aggregate of 600,000 ordinary shares, with a nil exercise price

that each convert into one ordinary share upon the satisfaction of various service-based vesting

conditions. As at December 31, 2021, none of these RSUs have vested and been converted into

ordinary shares and none of these RSUs have lapsed or been forfeited without being exercised.

B. Constitutional Documents

Incorporation

We are a public limited liability company domiciled in Australia and operate under, and are subject to, the

Australian Corporations Act. IperionX was originally incorporated in Western Australia as Tao Commodities

Limited on May 5, 2017, then changed its name to Hyperion Metals Limited on April 14, 2021, and most

recently changed to its current name, IperionX Limited, on February 9, 2022.

Our Constitution

Our constituent document is our Constitution. Our Constitution is subject to the terms of the ASX Listing Rules

and the Corporations Act. It does not provide for or prescribe any specific objectives or purposes of IperionX. It

may be amended or repealed and replaced by special resolution of shareholders, which is a resolution passed by

at least 75% of the votes cast by shareholders entitled to vote on the resolution. Where there is an inconsistency

between the provisions of the Constitution and the Corporations Act, the provisions of the Australian Corporation

Act will prevail over any inconsistent provisions of the Constitution.

Under Australian law, a company has the legal capacity and powers of an individual both within and outside

Australia. The material provisions of our Constitution are summarized below. This summary is not intended to be

complete nor to constitute a definitive statement of the rights and liabilities of our shareholders. Our Constitution

is filed as an exhibit to this registration statement.
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Interested Directors

Except where permitted by the Corporations Act, a director may not vote in respect of any contract or

arrangement in which the director has, directly or indirectly, any material interest. Such director must not be

counted in a quorum, must not vote on the matter and must not be present at the meeting while the matter is

being considered.

Unless a relevant exception applies, the Corporations Act requires our directors to provide disclosure of certain

interests and prohibits directors of companies listed on the ASX from voting on matters in which they have a

material personal interest and from being present at the meeting while the matter is being considered. In addition,

the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules require shareholder approval of any provision of related party

benefits to our directors.

Directors’ Compensation

The fixed sum remuneration for non-executive directors may not be increased except at a general meeting of

shareholders and the particulars of the proposed increase are required to have been provided to shareholders in

the notice convening the meeting. The aggregate, fixed sum for non-executive directors’ remuneration is to be

divided among the non-executive directors in such proportion as the Board of Directors agree and in accordance

with our Constitution. Remuneration payable to executive directors, such as the Managing Director, does not

form part of the aggregate remuneration pool through which non-executive directors are paid. Executive directors

may be paid remuneration as employees of IperionX.

Pursuant to our Constitution, any director who performs extra or special services that in the opinion of the

Board, are outside the scope of the ordinary duties of a director may be paid additional remuneration or provide

benefits to that director, which is determined by the Board.

The Company must also pay all reasonable travel, accommodation and other expenses properly incurred by the

directors in attending general meetings, Board meetings, committee meetings or otherwise in connection with our

business.

In addition, in accordance with our Constitution, a director may be paid a retirement benefit as determined by the

Board, subject to the limits set out in the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules.

Borrowing Powers Exercisable by Directors

Pursuant to our Constitution, the management and control of our business affairs are vested in the Board. Subject

to the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules, the Board has the power to raise or borrow money, and

charge any of our property or business or any uncalled capital, and may issue debentures or give any other

security for any of our debts, liabilities or obligations or of any other person, in each case, in the manner and on

terms it deems fit.

Retirement of Directors

Pursuant to our Constitution, one-third of our directors, other than the managing director, must retire from office

at every annual general meeting. If the number of directors is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to,

but not exceeding, one-third must retire from office. The directors who retire in this manner are required to be

the directors or director longest in office since last being elected. A director, other than the director who is the

managing director, must retire from office at the conclusion of the third annual general meeting after which the

director was elected. Retired directors are eligible for re-election to the Board of Directors.

Rights and Restrictions on Classes of Shares

Subject to the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules, the rights attaching to our Ordinary Shares are

detailed in our Constitution. Subject to the Corporations Act, ASX Listing Rules and any rights or restrictions

attached to a class of shares, the Company may issue further shares or grant options over shares on any terms, at

any time and for any consideration as the Board resolve. Currently, our outstanding share capital consists of only

one class of Ordinary Shares.

Voting Rights

Subject to our Constitution and any rights or restrictions attached to a class of shares, at a meeting of

shareholders each shareholder has one vote determined by a show of hands. On a poll vote, each shareholder
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shall have one vote for each fully paid share and a fractional vote for each share that is not fully paid, such

fraction being equivalent to the proportion of the amount that has been paid to such date on that share.

Shareholders may vote by proxy, attorney or representative.

Right to Share in Our Profits

Subject to the Corporations Act, the ASX Listing Rules and the rights of the holders of any shares created or

raised under any special arrangements as to dividends, the directors may from time to time declare a dividend to

shareholders entitled to the dividend. Under the Corporations Act, we must not pay a dividend unless: (a) our

assets exceed our liabilities immediately before the dividend is declared and the excess is sufficient for the

payment of the dividend; (b) the payment of the dividend is fair and reasonable to our shareholders as a whole;

and (c) the payment of the dividend does not materially prejudice our ability to pay our creditors. Unless any

share is issued on terms providing to the contrary, the dividends declared will be payable on all shares according

to the proportion that the amount paid (not credited) is of the total amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts

credited) in respect of such shares.

Rights to Share in the Surplus in the Event of Liquidation

Our Constitution provides for the right of shareholders to participate in a surplus in the event of our liquidation.

No Redemption Provision for Ordinary Shares

There are no redemption provisions in our Constitution in relation to Ordinary Shares. Under our Constitution

and subject to the Corporations Act, any preference shares may be issued on the terms that they are, or may at

our option be, liable to be redeemed.

Variation or Cancellation of Share Rights

The rights attached to shares in a particular class of shares may only be varied or cancelled by a special

resolution of IperionX, together with either:

• a special resolution passed by members holding shares in that class; or

• the written consent of members who are entitled to at least 75% of the votes that may be cast in

respect of shares in that class.

Liability for Further Capital Calls

According to our Constitution, the Board of Directors may make any calls from time to time upon shareholders

in respect of all monies unpaid or partly-paid shares (if any), subject to the terms upon which any of the

partly-paid shares have been issued. Each shareholder is liable to pay the amount of each call in the manner, at

the time, and at the place specified by the Board of Directors. Calls may be made payable by installment. Failure

to pay a call will result in interest becoming payable on the unpaid amount and ultimately, forfeiture of those

shares. As of the date of this registration statement, all of our issued shares are fully paid.

Annual General Meetings

Under the Corporations Act, our directors must convene an annual meeting of shareholders at least once every

calendar year and within five months after the end of our last financial year. Notice of the proposed meeting of

our shareholders is required at least 28 days prior to such meeting under the Corporations Act.

General Meetings of Shareholders

General meetings of shareholders may be called by the Board. Notice of the proposed meeting of our

shareholders is required at least 28 days prior to such meeting under the Corporations Act. Except as permitted

under the Corporations Act, shareholders may not convene a meeting. Under the Corporations Act, any director

or one or more shareholders holding in aggregate at least 5% of the votes that may be cast at a general meeting

may call and arrange to hold a general meeting. The meeting must be called in the same way in which general

meetings of the company may be called, including the dispatch of a notice of meeting including the matters to be

voted upon. The shareholders calling the meeting must pay the expenses of calling and holding the meeting.
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The Corporations Act requires the directors to call and arrange to hold a general meeting on the request of

shareholders with at least 5% of the votes that may be cast at a general meeting. The request must be made in

writing, state any resolution to be proposed at the meeting, be signed by the shareholders making the request and

be given to the company. The Board of Directors must call the meeting not more than 21 days after the request

is made. The meeting must be held not later than two months after the request is given.

The quorum required for a general meeting of shareholders consists of at least two shareholders present in

person, or by proxy, attorney or representative. A meeting (excluding a meeting convened on the requisition of

shareholders) which is adjourned for lack of a quorum will be adjourned to the date, time and place as the

Directors may by notice to shareholders appoint, or failing any appointment, to the same day in the following

week at the same time and place. At the reconvened meeting, the required quorum consists of any two members

present in person, or by proxy, attorney or representative appointed pursuant to our Constitution. The meeting is

dissolved if a quorum is not present within 30 minutes from the time appointed for the reconvened meeting.

A meeting of shareholders may be held virtually using any technology that gives shareholders as a whole a

reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting.

An ordinary resolution requires approval by the shareholders by a simple majority of votes cast (namely, a

resolution passed by more than 50% of the votes cast by shareholders entitled to vote on the resolution). A

special resolution (such as in relation to amending our Constitution, approving any variation of rights attached to

any class of shares or our voluntary winding-up), requires approval of a special majority (namely, a resolution

that has been passed by at least 75% of the votes cast by shareholders entitled to vote on the resolution).

The Foreign Acquisitions and Takeovers Act 1975

Overview

Australia’s foreign investment regime is set out in the Foreign Acquisition and Takeovers Act (the ‘‘FATA’’) and

Australia’s Foreign Investment Policy (the ‘‘Policy’’). The Australian Treasurer administers the FATA and the

Policy with the advice and assistance of the Foreign Investment Review Board (‘‘FIRB’’).

In the circumstances set out below in the section entitled ‘Mandatory Notification Requirements’, foreign persons

are required to notify and receive a prior statement of no objection, or FIRB clearance, from the Australian

Treasurer. In the circumstances set out below in the section entitled ‘Other circumstances in which FIRB may be

sought’, it is generally recommended that foreign persons obtain FIRB clearance.

The Australian Treasurer has powers under the FATA to make adverse orders, including prohibition of a proposal,

ordering disposal of an interest acquired or imposing conditions on a proposed transaction, in respect of a

relevant acquisition if he or she considers it to be contrary to Australia’s national interest.

The obligation to notify and obtain FIRB clearance is upon the acquirer of the interest, and not the Company.

The failure to obtain FIRB clearance may be an offence under Australian law.

Investor’s Responsibility

It is the responsibility of any persons who wish to acquire shares of the Company to satisfy themselves as to

their compliance with the FATA, regulations made under the FATA, the Policy, guidelines issued by the FIRB

and with any other necessary approval and registration requirement or formality, before acquiring an interest in

the Company.

Mandatory Notification Requirements

Broadly, FIRB clearance is required for the following transactions involving the acquisition of shares in an

Australian corporation:

• the acquisition of a substantial interest if the Australian corporation is valued in excess of the

applicable monetary threshold (see below);

• any direct investment by a foreign government investor;

• any acquisition of shares in an Australian land corporation; and

• any proposed direct investment in a national security business (including starting such a business) or

proposed investment in national security land.
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Currently, the prescribed threshold is A$289 million though a higher threshold of A$1.250 billion applies for

private foreign investors from the United States, New Zealand, China, Japan, Hong Kong, Peru, South Korea,

Singapore and Chile unless the transaction involves certain prescribed sensitive sectors.

Application of these Requirements to the Company

As at June 30, 2021, the Company did not have any interests in Australian land and hence is not an Australian

land corporation, and the Company’s gross assets were valued below A$289 million. Accordingly, the only

circumstance in which an investor in the Company would currently be subject to the mandatory notification

regime is if they are a foreign government investor making a direct investment in the Company. Applications for

FIRB clearance may be made by prospective investors in accordance with the information on FIRB’s website.

Other Situations Where FIRB Clearance Might be Sought

In addition to those circumstances where it is mandatory under the FATA for a foreign person to notify FIRB and

seek FIRB clearance for a particular transaction (see above), there are other instances where, despite there being

no mandatory notification obligation, the Australian Treasurer may make adverse orders under the FATA (e.g., if

he or she considers a particular transaction to have national security concerns).

National Security Related Transactions

Under Australia’s foreign investment regime, the Australian Treasurer may ‘call in’ certain transactions for

screening on national security grounds and allow investors to voluntarily notify these transactions to obtain

certainty about the investment. Where national security concerns are identified, the Australian Treasurer has the

power to impose conditions, vary existing conditions, or, as a last resort, force the divestment of any realized

investment which was subject to the FATA from January 1, 2021.

Transactions falling within the scope of the national security test are subject to a $0 monetary threshold.

The Company as a Foreign Person

If foreign persons have a substantial interest in the Company, it would be considered to be a foreign person

under the FATA. In such event, we would be required to obtain the approval of the Australian Treasurer for our

own transactions involving the acquisitions of interests in Australian land and some acquisitions of interests in

Australian corporations. FIRB clearance may be required for such acquisitions (which may or may not be given

or may be given subject to conditions). If FIRB clearance is required and not given in relation to a proposed

investment, we may not be able to proceed with that investment. There can be no assurance that we will be able

to obtain any required FIRB clearances in the future.

Defined Terms Used in this Section

Foreign Persons

Under Australia’s foreign investment regime, it is the responsibility of any person (including, without limitation,

nominees and trustees) who is:

• a natural person not ordinarily resident in Australia;

• a corporation in which a natural person not ordinarily resident in Australia, or a corporation

incorporated outside of Australia, holds direct or indirect, actual or potential, voting power of 20% or

more;

• a corporation in which two or more persons, each of whom is either a non-Australian resident or a

non-Australian corporation, hold direct or indirect, actual or potential, voting power in aggregate of

40% or more;

• a trustee of a trust estate in which a non-Australian resident or non-Australian corporation holds

20% or more of the corpus or income of the trust estate;
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• a trustee of a trust estate in which two or more persons, each of whom is either a non-Australian

resident or a non-Australian corporation, hold in aggregate 40% or more of the corpus or income of the

trust estate; or

• a foreign government investor,

to ascertain if they may be required to notify the Australian Treasurer of their investment.

Associates

Associate is broadly defined to include:

• the person’s spouse or de facto partner, lineal ancestors and descendants, and siblings;

• any partner of the person;

• any corporation of which the person is an officer, any officer of a corporation (where the person is a

corporation), employers and employees, any employee of a natural person of whom the person is an

employee;

• any corporation whose directors are accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to

act in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of the person or, where the person is a

corporation, of the directors of the person;

• any corporation in accordance with the directions, instructions or wishes of which, or of the directors

of which, the person is accustomed or under an obligation, whether formal or informal, to act;

• any corporation in which the person holds a substantial interest;

• where the person is a corporation—a person who holds a substantial interest in the corporation;

• the trustee of a trust estate in which the person holds a substantial interest;

• where the person is the trustee of a trust estate—a person who holds a substantial interest in the trust

estate;

• any person who is an associate of any other person who is an associate of the person.

Australian Land Corporation

An Australian land corporation (‘‘ALC’’), is a corporation where the value of its total assets comprising interests

in Australian land exceeds 50% of the value of its total gross assets. An ALC is not necessarily a company

registered in Australia. It may be registered anywhere. It is the composition of the assets of the corporation that

will make it an ALC for the purposes of the Australian foreign investment regime.

Substantial Interest

A substantial interest is:

• control of 20% or more of the actual or potential voting power or issued shares in a target by a

single foreign person (together with associates); or

• control of 40% or more of the actual or potential voting power or issued shares in a target by

multiple foreign persons (together with associates).

Direct Investment

Any investment of an interest of 10% or more is considered to be a direct investment. Investments that involve

interests below 10% may also be considered direct investments if the acquiring foreign government investor is

building a strategic stake in the target, or can use that investment to influence or control the target. In particular,

it includes investments of less than 10% which include any of the following:

• preferential, special or veto voting rights;

• the ability to appoint directors or asset managers;
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• contractual agreements including, but not restricted to, agreements for loans, provision of services and

off take agreements; or

• building or maintaining a strategic or long-term relationship with a target entity.

Foreign Government Issuer

A Foreign Government Investor is:

• a body politic of a foreign country;

• entities in which governments, their agencies or related entities from a single foreign country have an

aggregate interest (direct or indirect) of 20% or more;

• entities in which governments, their agencies or related entities from more than one foreign country

have an aggregate interest (direct or indirect) of 40% or more; or

• entities that are otherwise controlled by foreign governments, their agencies or related entities, and any

associates, or could be controlled by them including as part of a controlling group.

At this time, our total assets do not exceed any of the above thresholds and therefore no approval would be

required from the Australian Treasurer. Nonetheless, should our total assets exceed the threshold in the future, we

will need to be mindful of the number of ordinary shares that can be made available, and monitor the 40%

aggregate shareholding threshold for foreign persons (together with their associates) to ensure that it will not be

exceeded without an application to the Australian Treasurer’s for approval having been contemplated and

submitted if considered necessary. Our Constitution does not contain any additional limitations on a nonresident’s

right to hold or vote our securities.

National Security Business

A business is a national security business if it:

• is a responsible entity (within the meaning of the Security of Critical Infrastructure Act 2018 as

enacted) for an asset;

• is an entity that is a direct interest holder in relation to a critical infrastructure asset (within the

meaning of those terms in the Security of Critical Infrastructure Act 2018 as enacted);

• is a carrier or nominated carriage service provider to which the Telecommunications Act 1997 applies;

• develops, manufacturers or supplies critical goods or critical technology that are, or are intended to be,

for a military use, or an intelligence use, by defense and intelligence personnel, the defense force of

another country, or a foreign intelligence agency;

• provides, or intends to provide, critical services to defense and intelligence personnel, the defense force

of another country, or a foreign intelligence agency;

• stores or has access to information that has a security classification;

• stores or maintains personal information of defense and intelligence personnel collected by the

Australian Defence Force, the Defence Department or an agency in the national intelligence community

which, if accessed, could compromise Australia’s national security;

• collects, as part of an arrangement with the Australian Defence Force, the Defence Department or an

agency in the national intelligence community, personal information on defence and intelligence

personnel which , if disclosed, could compromise Australia’s national security; or

• stores, maintains or has access to personal information on defense and intelligence personnel which , if

disclosed, could compromise Australia’s national security.
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National Security Land

Land is national security land if it is:

• ‘‘Defence’’ premises within the meaning of section 71A of the Defence Act 1903. This includes all land

owned or occupied by Defence, including buildings, structures and Defence prohibited areas. The

definition excludes subparagraph (a)(iii) of the definition which relates to vehicles, vessels or aircraft;

or

• land in which an agency in the national intelligence community has an interest, if the existence of the

interest is publicly known or could be known upon the making of reasonable inquiries.

Ownership Threshold

There are no provisions in our Constitution that require a shareholder to disclose ownership above a certain

threshold. Under the Corporations Act, in relation to a company, a person has a ‘‘substantial holding’’ if (i) the

total votes attached to voting shares in the company in which they (or their associates) have a relevant interest in

is 5 percent or more of the total number of votes attached to voting shares in the company or (ii) the person has

made a takeover bid for voting shares in the company and the bid period has started but not yet ended.

A person who:

• begins to have, or ceases to have, a substantial holding in a listed company;

• has a substantial holding in a listed company and there is movement by at least 1 percent in their

holding; or

• makes a takeover bid for securities of the listed company,

must give notice to the company and to the ASX.

Upon becoming a U.S. public company, our shareholders will also be subject to disclosure requirements under

U.S. securities laws.

Issues of Shares and Change in Capital

Subject to the Corporations Act, ASX Listing Rules and any rights or restrictions attached to a class of shares,

the Company may issue further shares or grant options over shares on any terms, at any time and for any

consideration as the Board resolve. Pursuant to the ASX Listing Rules, we may in our discretion issue securities

without the approval of shareholders, if such issue of securities, when aggregated with securities issued by us

during the previous 12 month period would be an amount that would not exceed 15% of our issued capital at the

commencement of the 12 month period. The Company may seek shareholder approval by special resolution at its

annual general meeting to increase its capacity to issue equity securities by an additional 10% for the proceeding

12 month period. Issues of securities in excess of this limit or the issue of securities to our related parties require

approval of shareholders (unless otherwise permitted under the ASX Listing Rules or unless we have obtained a

waiver from the ASX in relation to the 15% limit).

Subject to the requirements of our Constitution, the Corporations Act, the ASX Listing Rules and any other

applicable law, including relevant shareholder approvals, we may consolidate or divide our share capital into a

larger or smaller number by resolution, reduce our share capital (provided that the reduction is fair and

reasonable to our shareholders as a whole and does not materially prejudice our ability to pay creditors) or buy

back our Ordinary Shares whether under an equal access buy-back or on a selective basis.

Member Approval to Significant Changes

We must not make a significant change (either directly or indirectly) to the nature and scale of our activities

except after having disclosed full details to the ASX in accordance with the requirements of the ASX Listing

Rules (and, if required by ASX, subject to us obtaining the approval of shareholders in a general meeting). We

must not sell or otherwise dispose of the main undertaking of our company without the approval of shareholders

in a general meeting. We need not comply with the above obligations if the ASX grants us an applicable waiver

to be relieved of our obligations.
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Change of Control

Takeovers of listed Australian public companies, such as IperionX, are regulated by the Corporations Act, which

prohibits the acquisition of a ‘‘relevant interest’’ in issued voting shares in a listed company if the acquisition

will lead to that person’s or someone else’s voting power in IperionX increasing from 20% or below to more

than 20% or increasing from a starting point that is above 20% and below 90%, subject to a range of exceptions.

Generally, a person will have a relevant interest in securities if the person:

• is the holder of the securities;

• has power to exercise, or control the exercise of, a right to vote attached to the securities; or

• has the power to dispose of, or control the exercise of a power to dispose of, the securities (including

any indirect or direct power or control).

If, at a particular time, a person has a relevant interest in issued securities and the person:

• has entered or enters into an agreement with another person with respect to the securities;

• has given or gives another person an enforceable right, or has been or is given an enforceable right by

another person, in relation to the securities; or

• has granted or grants an option to, or has been or is granted an option by, another person with respect

to the securities, and the other person would have a relevant interest in the securities if the agreement

were performed, the right enforced or the option exercised, the other person is taken to already have a

relevant interest in the securities.

There are a number of exceptions to the above prohibition on acquiring a relevant interest in issued voting shares

above 20%. In general terms, some of the more significant exceptions include:

• when the acquisition results from the acceptance of an offer under a formal takeover bid;

• when the acquisition is conducted on market by or on behalf of the bidder under a takeover bid and the

acquisition occurs during the bid period;

• when shareholders of IperionX approve the takeover by resolution passed at general meeting;

• an acquisition by a person if, throughout the six months before the acquisition, that person or any other

person has had voting power in IperionX of at least 19% and, as a result of the acquisition, none of the

relevant persons would have voting power in IperionX more than three percentage points higher than

they had six months before the acquisition;

• as a result of a rights issue;

• as a result of dividend reinvestment schemes;

• as a result of underwriting arrangements;

• through operation of law;

• an acquisition that arises through the acquisition of a relevant interest in another listed company;

• arising from an auction of forfeited shares conducted on market; or

• arising through a compromise, arrangement, liquidation or buy-back.

Breaches of the takeovers provisions of the Corporations Act are criminal offenses. ASIC and the Australian

Takeover Panel have a wide range of powers relating to breaches of takeover provisions, including the ability to

make orders cancelling contracts, freezing transfers of, and rights attached to, securities, and forcing a party to

dispose of securities. There are certain defenses to breaches of the takeover provisions provided in the

Corporations Act.

Access to and Inspection of Documents

Inspection of our records is governed by the Corporations Act. Any member of the public has the right to inspect

or obtain copies of our registers on the payment of a prescribed fee. Shareholders are not required to pay a fee

for inspection of our registers or minute books of the meetings of shareholders. Other corporate records,
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including minutes of directors’ meetings, financial records and other documents, are not open for inspection by

shareholders. Where a shareholder is acting in good faith and an inspection is deemed to be made for a proper

purpose, a shareholder may apply to the court to make an order for inspection of our books.

C. Material Contracts

There are no other contracts, other than those disclosed in this registration statement on Form 20-F and those

entered into in the ordinary course of our business, that are material to us, and which were entered into in the

last two completed fiscal years or which were entered into before the two most recently completed fiscal years

but are still in effect as of the date of this registration statement on Form 20-F.

D. Exchange Controls

Australia has largely abolished exchange controls on investment transactions. The Australian dollar is freely

convertible into U.S. dollars or other currencies. In addition, there are currently no specific rules or limitations

regarding the export from Australia of profits, dividends, capital or similar funds belonging to foreign investors,

except that certain payments to non-residents must be reported to the Australian Cash Transaction Reports

Agency, which monitors such transaction, and amounts on account of potential Australian tax liabilities may be

required to be withheld unless a relevant taxation treaty can be shown to apply and under such there are either

exemptions or limitations on the level of tax to be withheld.

E. Taxation

The following is a summary of material U.S. federal and Australian income tax considerations to U.S. Holders,

as defined below, of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of ADSs and ordinary shares. This discussion is

based on the laws in force as of the date of this registration statement, and is subject to changes in the relevant

income tax law, including changes that could have retroactive effect. The following summary does not take into

account or discuss the tax laws of any country or other taxing jurisdiction other than the United States and

Australia. Holders are advised to consult their tax advisors concerning the overall tax consequences of the

acquisition, ownership and disposition of ADSs and ordinary shares in their particular circumstances. This

discussion is not intended, and should not be construed, as legal or professional tax advice.

This summary does not address the 3.8% U.S. federal Medicare Tax on net investment income, the effects of

U.S. federal estate and gift tax laws, the alternative minimum tax, or any state and local tax considerations

within the United States, and is not a comprehensive description of all U.S. federal or Australian income tax

considerations that may be relevant to a decision to acquire or dispose of ADSs or ordinary shares. Furthermore,

this summary does not address U.S. federal or Australian income tax considerations relevant to holders subject

to taxing jurisdictions other than, or in addition to, the United States and Australia, and does not address all

possible categories of holders, some of which may be subject to special tax rules.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following summary, subject to the limitations set forth below, describes the material U.S. federal income tax

consequences to a U.S. Holder (as defined below) of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our ADSs and

ordinary shares as of the date hereof. This summary is limited to U.S. Holders that hold our ADSs or ordinary

shares as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended,

or the Code.

This section does not discuss the tax consequences to any particular holder, nor any tax considerations that may

apply to U.S. Holders subject to special tax rules, such as:

• insurance companies;

• banks or other financial institutions;

• individual retirement and other tax-deferred accounts;

• regulated investment companies;

• real estate investment trusts;

• individuals who are former U.S. citizens or former long-term U.S. residents;
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• brokers, dealers or traders in securities, commodities or currencies;

• traders that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting;

• persons holding our ADSs or ordinary shares through a partnership (including an entity or arrangement

treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) or S corporation;

• persons that received ADSs or ordinary shares as compensation for the performance of services;

• grantor trusts;

• tax-exempt entities;

• persons that hold ADSs or ordinary shares as a position in a straddle or as part of a hedging,

constructive sale, conversion or other integrated transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

• persons that have a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar;

• persons that own (directly, indirectly or constructively) 10% or more of our equity (by vote or value);

or

• persons that are not U.S. Holders.

In this section, a ‘‘U.S. Holder’’ means a beneficial owner of ADSs or ordinary shares that is, for U.S. federal

income tax purposes:

• an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;

• a corporation (or any other entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created

or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia;

• an estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

• a trust (i) the administration of which is subject to the primary supervision of a court in the

United States and for which one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial

decisions or (ii) that has an election in effect under applicable income tax regulations to be treated as a

U.S. person for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In addition, we have not received, nor do we expect to seek a ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, or

the IRS, regarding any matter discussed herein. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that

a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of those set forth below. Each prospective investor should

consult its own tax advisors with respect to the U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. tax consequences of

acquiring, owning and disposing of our ADSs and ordinary shares.

If an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes acquires, owns or

disposes of ADSs or ordinary shares, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in such partnership

generally will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Such a partner or

partnership should consult its own tax advisor as to the U.S. federal income tax consequences of acquiring,

owning and disposing of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

The discussion below is based upon the provisions of the Code, and the U.S. Treasury regulations, rulings and

judicial decisions thereunder as of the date hereof, and such authorities may be replaced, revoked or modified,

possibly with retroactive effect, so as to result in U.S. federal income tax consequences different from those

discussed below. In addition, this summary is based, in part, upon representations made by the depositary to us

and assumes that the deposit agreement, and all other related agreements, will be performed in accordance with

their terms.

You are urged to consult your own tax advisor with respect to the U.S. federal, as well as state, local and

non-U.S., tax consequences to you of acquiring, owning and disposing of ADSs or ordinary shares in light of

your particular circumstances, including the possible effects of changes in U.S. federal and other tax laws.
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ADSs

If you hold ADSs, you generally will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as the owner of the

underlying ordinary shares that are represented by such ADSs. Accordingly, no gain or loss will be recognized

for U.S. federal income tax purposes if you exchange ADSs for the underlying shares represented by those

ADSs.

The U.S. Treasury has expressed concern that parties to whom ADSs are released before shares are delivered to

the depositary or intermediaries in the chain of ownership between holders and the issuer of the security

underlying the ADSs, may be taking actions that are inconsistent with the claiming of foreign tax credits by U.S.

Holders of ADSs. These actions would also be inconsistent with the claiming of the reduced rate of tax,

described below, applicable to dividends received by certain non-corporate U.S. Holders. Accordingly, the

creditability of non-U.S. withholding taxes (if any), and the availability of the reduced tax rate for dividends

received by certain non-corporate U.S. Holders, each described below, could be affected by actions taken by such

parties or intermediaries. For purposes of the discussion below, we assume that intermediaries in the chain of

ownership between the holder of an ADS and us are acting consistently with the claim of U.S. foreign tax credits

by U.S. Holders.

Certain Tax Consequences If We Are a PFIC

The rules governing PFICs can result in adverse tax consequences to U.S. Holders. We generally will be

classified as a PFIC for any taxable year if (i) at least 75% of our gross income for the taxable year consists of

certain types of passive income or (ii) at least 50% of our gross assets during the taxable year, based on a

quarterly average and generally determined by value, produce or are held for the production of passive income.

Passive income for this purpose generally includes, among other things, dividends, interest, rents, royalties, gains

from commodities and securities transactions and gains from the disposition of assets that produce or are held for

the production of passive income. In determining whether a foreign corporation is a PFIC, a pro-rata portion of

the income and assets of each corporation in which it owns, directly or indirectly, at least a 25% interest (by

value) is taken into account. Under this rule, we should be deemed to own the assets and to receive the income

of our wholly-owned subsidiaries for purposes of the PFIC determination. If we are classified as a PFIC in any

taxable year with respect to which you own ADSs or ordinary shares, we generally will continue to be treated as

a PFIC with respect to you in all succeeding taxable years, regardless of whether we continue to meet the tests

described above, unless you make the ‘‘deemed sale election’’ described below.

Because we did not have active business income in the taxable year ended June 30, 2021, we believe we were a

PFIC in tax year 2021, and, because we do not expect to begin active business operations in the current taxable

year ending June 30, 2022, we expect to be a PFIC in tax year 2022. The determination of our PFIC status for

any taxable year, however, will not be determinable until after the end of the taxable year, and will depend on,

among other things, the composition of our income and assets (which could change significantly during the

course of a taxable year) and the market value of our assets for such taxable year, which may be, in part, based

on the market price of our ADSs or ordinary shares (which may be especially volatile). The PFIC determination

will depend, in part, on whether we are able to generate gross income from minerals extraction operations. If we

are able to generate sufficient income from such operations more quickly than is currently anticipated, we may

not be a PFIC for taxable year 2022. You should consult your own tax advisor regarding our PFIC status.

U.S. Federal Income Tax Treatment of a Shareholder of a PFIC

If we are a PFIC for any taxable year during which you hold ADSs or ordinary shares, absent certain elections

(including the mark-to-market election or qualified electing fund election described below), you generally will be

subject to adverse rules (regardless of whether we continue to be classified as a PFIC) with respect to (1) any

‘‘excess distribution’’ (generally, any distributions you receive on your ADSs or ordinary shares in a taxable year

that are greater than 125% of the average annual distributions you receive in the three preceding taxable years or,

if shorter, your holding period) and (2) any gain recognized from a sale or other disposition (including a pledge)

of such ADSs or ordinary shares. Under these special tax rules:

• the excess distribution or gain will be allocated ratably over your holding period for the ADSs or

ordinary shares;
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• the amount allocated to the current taxable year, and any taxable year prior to the first taxable year in

which we were classified as a PFIC in your holding period, will be treated as ordinary income arising

in the current taxable year (and would not be subject to the interest charge discussed below); and

• the amount allocated to each other taxable year during your holding period in which we were classified

as a PFIC (i) will be subject to income tax at the highest rate in effect for that year and applicable to

you and (ii) will be subject to an interest charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax with

respect to the resulting tax attributable to each such year.

In addition, if you are a non-corporate U.S. Holder, you will not be eligible for reduced rates of taxation on any

dividends that we pay if we are a PFIC for either the taxable year in which the dividend is paid or the preceding

year.

If we are a PFIC, the tax liability for amounts allocated to years prior to the year of disposition or excess

distribution cannot be offset by any net operating losses, and gains (but not losses) recognized on the transfer of

the ADSs or ordinary shares cannot be treated as capital gains, even if the ADSs or ordinary shares are held as

capital assets. Furthermore, unless otherwise provided by the U.S. Treasury Department, if we are a PFIC, you

will be required to file an annual report (currently Form 8621) describing your interest in us, making an election

on how to report PFIC income, and providing other information about your share of our income.

If we are classified as a PFIC and then cease to be so classified, a U.S. Holder may make an election (a

‘‘deemed sale election’’) to be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as having sold such U.S. Holder’s

ADSs or ordinary shares on the last day of our taxable year during which we were a PFIC. A U.S. Holder that

makes a deemed sale election would then cease to be treated as owning stock in a PFIC. However, gain

recognized as a result of making the deemed sale election would be subject to the adverse rules described above,

and loss would not be recognized.

PFIC ‘‘Mark-to-market’’ Election

In certain circumstances, a holder of ‘‘marketable stock’’ of a PFIC can avoid certain of the adverse rules

described above by making a mark-to-market election with respect to such stock. For purposes of these rules,

‘‘marketable stock’’ is stock which is ‘‘regularly traded’’ (traded in greater than de minimis quantities on at least

15 days during each calendar quarter) on a ‘‘qualified exchange’’ or other market within the meaning of

applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations. A ‘‘qualified exchange’’ includes a national securities exchange that is

registered with the SEC.

If you make a mark-to-market election, you must include in gross income, as ordinary income, for each taxable

year that we are a PFIC an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of your ADSs or ordinary

shares that are ‘‘marketable stock’’ at the close of the taxable year over your adjusted tax basis in such ADSs or

ordinary shares. If you make such election, you may also claim a deduction as an ordinary loss in each such year

for the excess, if any, of your adjusted tax basis in such ADSs or ordinary shares over their fair market value at

the end of the year, but only to the extent of the net amount previously included in income as a result of the

mark-to-market election. The adjusted tax basis of your ADSs or ordinary shares with respect to which the

mark-to-market election applies would be adjusted to reflect amounts included in gross income or allowed as a

deduction because of such election. If you make an effective mark-to-market election, any gain you recognize

upon the sale or other disposition of your ADSs or ordinary shares in a year that we are a PFIC will be treated

as ordinary income and any loss will be treated as ordinary loss, but only to the extent of the net amount

previously included in income as a result of the mark-to-market election.

Under current law, the mark-to-market election may be available to U.S. Holders of ADSs if the ADSs are listed

on Nasdaq, which constitutes a qualified exchange, although there can be no assurance that the ADSs will be

‘‘regularly traded’’ for purposes of the mark-to-market election. While we would expect the ASX, on which the

ordinary shares are listed, to be considered a qualified exchange, no assurance can be given as to whether the

ASX is a qualified exchange, or that the ordinary shares would be traded in sufficient frequency to be considered

regularly traded for these purposes.
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If you make a mark-to-market election, it will be effective for the taxable year for which the election is made

and all subsequent taxable years unless the ADSs or ordinary shares are no longer regularly traded on a qualified

exchange or the IRS consents to the revocation of the election. You are urged to consult your tax advisors about

the availability of the mark-to-market election, and whether making the election would be advisable in your

particular circumstances.

PFIC ‘‘QEF’’ election

Alternatively, in certain cases a U.S. Holder can avoid the interest charge and the other adverse PFIC tax

consequences described above by obtaining certain information from the PFIC and electing to treat the PFIC as a

‘‘qualified electing fund’’ under Section 1295 of the Code. However, we do not anticipate that this option will be

available to you because we do not intend to provide the information regarding our income that would be

necessary to permit you to make this election.

You are urged to contact your own tax advisor regarding the determination of whether we are a PFIC and the tax

consequences of such status.

Certain Tax Consequences If We Are Not a PFIC

Distributions

If you are a U.S. Holder of our ADSs or ordinary shares in a taxable year in which we are a PFIC (and any

subsequent taxable years), then this section generally will not apply to you. Instead, see ‘‘—Certain Tax

Consequences If We Are A PFIC.’’

We do not currently anticipate paying any distributions on our ADSs or ordinary shares in the foreseeable future.

However, to the extent there are any distributions made with respect to our ADSs or ordinary shares in the

foreseeable future, and subject to the PFIC rules discussed above, the gross amount of any such distributions

(without deduction for any withholding tax)made out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (as

determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) will generally be taxable to you as ordinary dividend income

on the date such distribution is actually or constructively received. Distributions in excess of our current and

accumulated earnings and profits, as so determined, will be treated first as a tax-free return of capital to the

extent of your adjusted tax basis in the ADSs or ordinary shares, as applicable, and thereafter as capital gain.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, we do not intend to maintain calculations of earnings and profits, as determined

for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Consequently, you should expect to treat any distributions paid with

respect to our ADSs or ordinary shares as dividend income. See ‘‘—Backup Withholding Tax and Information

Reporting Requirements’’ below. If you are a corporate U.S. Holder, dividends paid to you generally will not be

eligible for the dividends-received deduction generally allowed under the Code.

If you are a non-corporate U.S. Holder, dividends paid to you by a ‘‘qualified foreign corporation’’ may be

subject to taxation at a maximum rate of 20% if the dividends are ‘‘qualified dividends.’’ Dividends will be

treated as qualified dividends if (a) certain holding period requirements are satisfied, (b) we are eligible for

benefits under the Convention between the Government of the United States of America and the Government of

Australia for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with Respect to Taxes on

Income, as amended (the ‘‘Treaty’’), or our ADSs or ordinary shares are readily tradable on an established U.S.

securities market, and (c) we were not, in the taxable year prior to the year in which the dividend was paid, and

are not, in the taxable year in which the dividend is paid, a PFIC.

The Treaty has been approved for the purposes of the qualified dividend rules and we intend to submit an

application to list the ADSs on Nasdaq. Although IRS guidance indicates that our ADSs (which are expected to

be listed on Nasdaq) will be readily tradeable for purposes of satisfying the conditions required for these reduced

tax rates, but there can be no assurance that our ADSs will be considered readily tradeable on an established

securities market in subsequent years. As discussed above, we believe we were a PFIC in our taxable year

ending June 30, 2021 and expect to be a PFIC in our taxable year ending June 30, 2022. Therefore, the reduced

rate of taxation available to U.S. Holders of a ‘‘qualified foreign corporation’’ is not expected to be available for

such years or any subsequent year in which we are classified as a PFIC. See the discussion above under

‘‘—Certain Tax Consequences If We Are a PFIC.’’ You should consult your tax advisor regarding the availability

of the reduced tax rate on any dividends paid with respect to our ADSs or ordinary shares.

Distributions paid in Australian dollars, including any Australian taxes withheld, will be included in your gross

income in a U.S. dollar amount calculated by reference to the spot exchange rate in effect on the date of actual
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or constructive receipt, regardless of whether the Australian dollars are converted into U.S. dollars at that time. If

Australian dollars are converted into U.S. dollars on the date of actual or constructive receipt, your tax basis in

those Australian dollars should be equal to their U.S. dollar value on that date and, as a result, you generally

should not be required to recognize any foreign exchange gain or loss.

If Australian dollars so received are not converted into U.S. dollars on the date of receipt, you will have a tax

basis in the Australian dollars equal to their U.S. dollar value on the date of receipt. Any gain or loss on a

subsequent conversion or other disposition of the Australian dollars generally will be treated as ordinary income

or loss to you and generally will be income or loss from sources within the United States for foreign tax credit

limitation purposes.

Dividends you receive with respect to ADSs or ordinary shares generally will be treated as foreign source

income, which may be relevant in calculating your foreign tax credit limitation. The limitation on foreign taxes

eligible for credit is calculated separately with respect to specific classes of income. For these purposes,

dividends generally will be categorized as ‘‘passive’’ income. A foreign tax credit for foreign taxes imposed on

distributions may be denied if you do not satisfy certain minimum holding period requirements or if you engage

in certain risk reduction transactions. Subject to certain limitations, you generally will be entitled, at your option,

to claim either a credit against your U.S. federal income tax liability or a deduction in computing your U.S.

federal taxable income in respect of any Australian taxes withheld. If you elect to claim a deduction, rather than

a foreign tax credit, for Australian taxes withheld for a particular taxable year, the election will apply to all

foreign taxes paid or accrued by you or on your behalf in the particular taxable year.

The availability of the foreign tax credit and the application of the limitations on its availability are fact specific

and are subject to complex rules. You are urged to consult your own tax advisor as to the consequences of

Australian withholding taxes and the availability of a foreign tax credit or deduction. See ‘‘—Australian Tax

Considerations—Taxation of Dividends.’’ You should also consult your tax advisor regarding the application of

the foreign tax credit rules to the QEF and mark-to-market regimes described above in the event we are a PFIC

(as we believe to be the case with respect to taxable years 2021 and 2022).

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of ADSs or Ordinary Shares

If you are a U.S. Holder of our ADSs or ordinary shares in a taxable year in which we are a PFIC (and any

subsequent taxable years), then this section generally will not apply to you—instead, see the discussion above

under ‘‘—Certain Tax Consequences If We Are A PFIC.’’

Subject to the PFIC rules discussed above, you generally will, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, recognize

capital gain or loss on a sale, exchange or other disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares equal to the difference

between the amount realized on the disposition (determined in the case of sales or exchanges in currencies other

than U.S. dollars by reference to the spot exchange rate in effect on the date of the sale or exchange or, if sold

or exchanged on an established securities market and you are a cash basis taxpayer or an electing accrual basis

taxpayer, the spot exchange rate in effect on the settlement date) and your adjusted tax basis (as determined in

U.S. dollars) in the ADSs or ordinary shares. Your initial tax basis will be your U.S. dollar purchase price for

such ADSs or ordinary shares.

Assuming we are not a PFIC and have not been treated as a PFIC during your holding period for your ADSs or

ordinary shares, this recognized gain or loss will generally be long-term capital gain or loss if you have held the

ADSs or ordinary shares for more than one year. Generally, if you are a non-corporate U.S. Holder, long-term

capital gains are subject to U.S. federal income tax at preferential rates. For foreign tax credit limitation

purposes, gain or loss recognized upon a disposition generally will be treated as from sources within the United

States. However, in limited circumstances, the Treaty can re-source U.S. source income as Australian source

income. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

You should consult your own tax advisor regarding the availability of a foreign tax credit or deduction in respect

of any Australian tax imposed on a sale or other disposition of ADSs or ordinary shares. See ‘‘Australian Tax

Considerations—Tax on Sales or other Dispositions of Shares.’’

Backup Withholding Tax and Information Reporting Requirements

Payments of dividends with respect to the ADSs or ordinary shares and proceeds from the sale, exchange or

other disposition of the ADSs or ordinary shares, by a U.S. paying agent or other U.S. intermediary, or made into

the United States, will be reported to the IRS and to you as may be required under applicable Treasury
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regulations. Backup withholding may apply to these payments if you fail to provide an accurate taxpayer

identification number or certification of exempt status or otherwise fail to comply with applicable certification

requirements. Certain U.S. Holders are not subject to backup withholding and information reporting. Backup

withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment

to you will be refunded (or credited against your U.S. federal income tax liability, if any), provided the required

information is timely furnished to the IRS. Prospective investors should consult their own tax advisors as to their

qualification for exemption from backup withholding and the procedure for establishing an exemption.

Certain individual U.S. Holders (and under Treasury regulations, certain entities) may be required to report to the

IRS (on Form 8938) information with respect to their investment in the ADSs or ordinary shares not held

through an account with a U.S. financial institution. If you acquire any of the ADSs or ordinary shares for cash,

you may be required to file an IRS Form 926 with the IRS and to supply certain additional information to the

IRS if (i) immediately after the transfer, you own directly or indirectly (or by attribution) at least 10% of our

total voting power or value or (ii) the amount of cash transferred to us in exchange for the ADSs or ordinary

shares when aggregated with all related transfers under applicable regulations, exceeds an applicable dollar

threshold. You are urged to consult with your own tax advisor regarding the reporting obligations that may arise

from the acquisition, ownership or disposition of our ADSs or ordinary shares.

The discussion above is not intended to constitute a complete analysis of all tax considerations applicable to an

investment in ADSs or ordinary shares. You should consult with your own tax advisor concerning the tax

consequences to you in your particular situation.

Australian Tax Considerations

In this section, we discuss the material Australian income tax, stamp duty and goods and services tax

considerations related to the acquisition, ownership and disposal by the absolute beneficial owners of the ADSs.

It is based upon existing Australian tax law as of the date of this registration statement, which is subject to

change, possibly retrospectively. This discussion does not address all aspects of Australian tax law which may be

important to particular investors in light of their individual investment circumstances, such as shares held by

investors subject to special tax rules (for example, financial institutions, insurance companies or tax exempt

organizations). In addition, this summary does not discuss any foreign or state tax considerations, other than

stamp duty and goods and services tax.

Prospective investors are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the Australian and foreign income and

other tax considerations of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of the shares. As used in this summary a

‘‘Non-Australian Shareholder’’ is a holder that is not an Australian tax resident and is not carrying on business in

Australia through a permanent establishment.

Taxation of Dividends

Australia operates a dividend imputation system under which dividends may be declared to be ‘‘franked’’ to the

extent of tax paid on company profits. Fully franked dividends are not subject to dividend withholding tax. An

exemption for dividend withholding tax can also apply to unfranked dividends that are declared to be conduit

foreign income, or CFI, and paid to Non-Australian Shareholders. Dividend withholding tax will be imposed at

30%, unless a shareholder is a resident of a country with which Australia has a double taxation agreement and

qualifies for the benefits of the Treaty. Under the provisions of the current Treaty, the Australian tax withheld on

unfranked dividends that are not declared to be CFI paid by us to a resident of the United States which is

beneficially entitled to that dividend is limited to 15% where that resident is a qualified person for the purposes

of the Treaty.

If a Non-Australian Shareholder is a company and owns a 10% or more interest, the Australian tax withheld on

dividends paid by us to which a resident of the United States is beneficially entitled is limited to 5%. In limited

circumstances the rate of withholding can be reduced to zero.

Tax on Sales or other Dispositions of Shares—Capital gains tax

Non-Australian Shareholders will not be subject to Australian capital gains tax on the gain made on a sale or

other disposal of ADSs, unless they, together with associates, hold 10% or more of our issued capital, at the time

of disposal or for 12 months of the last 2 years prior to disposal.
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Non-Australian Shareholders who own a 10% or more interest would be subject to Australian capital gains tax if

more than 50% of our direct or indirect assets, determined by reference to market value, consists of Australian

land, leasehold interests or Australian extraction, quarrying or prospecting rights. The Treaty is unlikely to limit

Australia’s right to tax any gain in these circumstances. Net capital gains are calculated after reduction for capital

losses, which may only be offset against capital gains.

Tax on Sales or other Dispositions of Shares—Shareholders Holding Shares on Revenue Account

Some Non-Australian Shareholders may hold shares on revenue rather than on capital account for example, share

traders. These shareholders may have the gains made on the sale or other disposal of the shares included in their

assessable income under the ordinary income taxing provisions of the income tax law, if the gains are sourced in

Australia.

Non-Australian Shareholders assessable under these ordinary income provisions in respect of gains made on

shares held on revenue account would be assessed for such gains at the Australian tax rates for non-Australian

residents, which start at a marginal rate of 32.5%. This rate does not include the Temporary Budget Repair Levy

of 2% that applies in certain circumstances. Some relief from Australian income tax may be available to

Non-Australian Shareholders under the Treaty. Non-Australian Shareholders that are companies will be assessed

at a rate of 30%.

To the extent an amount would be included in a Non-Australian Shareholder’s assessable income under both the

capital gains tax provisions and the ordinary income provisions, the capital gain amount would generally be

reduced, so that the shareholder would not be subject to double tax on any part of the income gain or capital

gain.

Dual Residency

If a shareholder is a resident of both Australia and the United States under those countries’ domestic taxation

laws, that shareholder may be subject to tax as an Australian resident. If, however, the shareholder is determined

to be a U.S. resident for the purposes of the Treaty, the Australian tax would be subject to limitation by the

Treaty. Shareholders should obtain specialist taxation advice in these circumstances.

Stamp Duty

No stamp duty is payable by Australian residents or non-Australian residents on the issue and trading of shares

that are quoted on the ASX or Nasdaq at all relevant times and the shares do not represent 90% or more of all of

our issued shares.

Australian Death Duty

Australia does not have estate or death duties. As a general rule, no capital gains tax liability is realized upon the

inheritance of a deceased person’s shares. The disposal of inherited shares by beneficiaries may, however, give

rise to a capital gains tax liability if the gain falls within the scope of Australia’s jurisdiction to tax.

Goods and Services Tax

The issue or transfer of shares to a non-Australian resident investor will not incur Australian goods and services

tax.

F. Dividends and Paying Agents

We have not declared any dividends during fiscal 2021, 2020 or 2019 and do not anticipate that we will do so in

the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the development of our

business. Dividends, if any, on our outstanding ordinary shares will be declared by and subject to the discretion

of our Board of Directors on the basis of our earnings, financial requirements and other relevant factors, and

subject to Australian law.

Any dividend we declare will be paid to the holders of ADSs, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, to

the same extent as holders of our ordinary shares, to the extent permitted by applicable law and regulations, less
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the fees and expenses payable under the deposit agreement. Any dividend we declare will be distributed by the

depositary bank to the holders of the ADSs, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement. See ‘‘Item 12.

Description of Securities Other Than Equity Securities—D. American Depositary Shares.’’

G. Statement by Experts

The consolidated financial statements of IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited and Tao

Commodities Limited) as of June 30, 2021 and the period ended June 30, 2021 included in this Form 20-F have

been so included in reliance on the report of PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent registered public

accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in auditing and accounting.

The consolidated financial statements of IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited and Tao

Commodities Limited) as of December 1, 2020 for the period July 1, 2020 to December 1, 2020 and as of

June 30, 2020 and for the period July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 included in this Form 20-F have been so

included in reliance on the report (which contains an explanatory paragraph relating to the Company’s change in

accounting principle as described in Note 1(d) to the consolidated financial statements) of

PricewaterhouseCoopers, an independent registered public accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as

experts in auditing and accounting.

H. Documents on Display

When this registration statement on Form 20-F becomes effective, we will be subject to the information reporting

requirements of the Exchange Act, applicable to foreign private issuers and under those requirements will file

reports with the SEC. You may read and copy the registration statement on Form 20-F, including the related

exhibits and schedules, and any document we file with the SEC without charge at the SEC’s public reference

room at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, DC 20549. You may also obtain copies of the documents at

prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580,

Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference

room. The SEC also maintains an Internet website that contains reports and other information regarding issuers

that file electronically with the SEC. Our filings with the SEC will also be available to the public through the

SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

As a foreign private issuer, we will be exempt from the rules under the Exchange Act related to the furnishing

and content of proxy statements, and our officers, directors and principal shareholders will be exempt from the

reporting and short-swing profit recovery provisions contained in Section 16 of the Exchange Act. In addition,

we will not be required under the Exchange Act to file annual, quarterly and current reports and financial

statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as U.S. domestic companies whose securities are registered

under the Exchange Act. However, we will file with the SEC, within 120 days after the end of each fiscal year,

or such applicable time as required by the SEC, an annual report on Form 20-F containing financial statements

audited by an independent registered public accounting firm, and may submit to the SEC, on a Form 6-K,

unaudited quarterly financial information.

In addition, since our ordinary shares are traded on the ASX, we have filed annual and semi-annual reports with,

and furnish information to, the ASX, as required under the ASX Listing Rules and the Corporations Act. Copies

of our filings with the ASX can be retrieved electronically at www.asx.com.au under our symbol ‘‘IPX’’. We also

maintain a web site at www.iperionx.com. The information contained on our website or available through our

website is not incorporated by reference into and should not be considered a part of this registration statement on

Form 20-F, and the reference to our website in this registration statement on Form 20-F is an inactive textual

reference only.

I. Subsidiary Information.

Not applicable.
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ITEM 11. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, and cash. The main risks arising from our

financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

We manage our exposure to key financial risks in accordance with our financial risk management policy. Key

risks are monitored and reviewed as circumstances change (e.g., acquisition of a new project) and policies are

revised as required. The overall objective of our financial risk management policy is to support the delivery of

our financial targets while protecting future financial security.

Given the nature and size of the business and uncertainty as to the timing and amount of cash inflows and

outflows, we do not enter into derivative transactions to mitigate the financial risks. In addition, our policy is that

no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken for the purposes of making speculative gains. As our

operations change going forward, we expect that our Board will review this policy periodically.

Our Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The

Board reviews and agrees policies for managing our financial risks as summarized below. For additional

information about our financial risk management objectives and policies, see note 20 to our audited consolidated

financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2021, incorporated by reference in this registration statement.

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the cash and short-term deposits

with a floating interest rate. These financial assets with variable rates expose us to cash flow interest rate risk.

All other financial assets and liabilities are either non-interest bearing (for example, receivables and payables) or

have fixed interest rates (for example, lease liabilities, sub-lease receivables, and loans and borrowings).

Our cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits had a weighted average floating interest rate at

June 30, 2021 of 0.25%.

We currently do not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash outflows of an exposure will fluctuate because

of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

Our exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rate relates primarily to assets and liabilities that are

denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. We also have transactional currency exposures relating to

transactions denominated in currencies other than U.S. dollars. The currency in which these transactions

primarily are denominated is Australian dollars.

It is our policy not to enter into any hedging or derivative transactions to manage foreign currency risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to us if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet

its contractual obligations. This arises principally from cash and cash equivalents and receivables.

We did not have significant concentrations of credit risk as of June 30, 2021. With respect to credit risk arising

from cash and cash equivalents, our exposure arises from default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure

equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Trade and other receivables comprise primarily deposits, accrued interest and goods and services tax refunds due.

Where possible we trade only with recognized, creditworthy third parties. It is our policy that all customers who

wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are

monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that our exposure to bad debts is not significant. At June 30, 2021,

none of our receivables were past due.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that we will not be able to meet our financial obligations as they fall due. The Board’s

approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that we will have sufficient liquidity to meet our

liabilities when due. At June 30, 2021, we determined that we had sufficient liquid assets to meet our financial

obligations.
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ITEM 12. DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN EQUITY SECURITIES

A. Debt Securities.

Not applicable.

B. Warrants and rights.

Not applicable.

C. Other Securities.

Not applicable.

D. American Depositary Shares

The Bank of New York Mellon, as depositary, will register and deliver American Depositary Shares, also referred

to as ADSs. Each ADS will represent 10 shares (or a right to receive 10 shares) deposited with The Hongkong

and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, as custodian for the depositary in Sydney, Australia. Each ADS will

also represent any other securities, cash or other property that may be held by the depositary. The deposited

shares together with any other securities, cash or other property held by the depositary are referred to as the

deposited securities. The depositary’s office at which the ADSs will be administered and its principal executive

office are located at 240 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10286.

You may hold ADSs either (A) directly (i) by having an American Depositary Receipt, also referred to as an

ADR, which is a certificate evidencing a specific number of ADSs, registered in your name, or (ii) by having

uncertificated ADSs registered in your name, or (B) indirectly by holding a security entitlement in ADSs through

your broker or other financial institution that is a direct or indirect participant in The Depository Trust Company,

also called DTC. If you hold ADSs directly, you are a registered ADS holder, also referred to as an ADS holder.

This description assumes you are an ADS holder. If you hold the ADSs indirectly, you must rely on the

procedures of your broker or other financial institution to assert the rights of ADS holders described in this

section. You should consult with your broker or financial institution to find out what those procedures are.

Registered holders of uncertificated ADSs will receive statements from the depositary confirming their holdings.

As an ADS holder, we will not treat you as one of our shareholders and you will not have shareholder rights.

Australian law governs shareholder rights. The depositary will be the holder of the shares underlying your ADSs.

As a registered holder of ADSs, you will have ADS holder rights. A deposit agreement among us, the depositary,

ADS holders and all other persons indirectly or beneficially holding ADSs sets out ADS holder rights as well as

the rights and obligations of the depositary. New York law governs the deposit agreement and the ADSs.

The following is a summary of the material provisions of the deposit agreement. For more complete information,

you should read the entire deposit agreement and the form of ADR. Directions on how to obtain copies of those

documents are provided on page 83 of this registration statement.

Dividends and Other Distributions

How will you receive dividends and other distributions on the shares?

The depositary has agreed to pay or distribute to ADS holders the cash dividends or other distributions it or the

custodian receives on shares or other deposited securities, upon payment or deduction of its fees and expenses.

You will receive these distributions in proportion to the number of shares your ADSs represent.

• Cash. The depositary will convert any cash dividend or other cash distribution we pay on the shares

into U.S. dollars, if it can do so on a reasonable basis and can transfer the U.S. dollars to the United

States. If that is not possible or if any government approval is needed and cannot be obtained, the

deposit agreement allows the depositary to distribute the foreign currency only to those ADS holders to

whom it is possible to do so. It will hold the foreign currency it cannot convert for the account of the

ADS holders who have not been paid. It will not invest the foreign currency and it will not be liable

for any interest.

Before making a distribution, any withholding taxes, or other governmental charges that must be paid will be

deducted. See ‘‘Item 10. Additional Information—E. Taxation.’’ The depositary will distribute only whole U.S.

85



dollars and cents and will round fractional cents to the nearest whole cent. If the exchange rates fluctuate during

a time when the depositary cannot convert the foreign currency, you may lose some of the value of the

distribution.

• Shares. The depositary may distribute additional ADSs representing any shares we distribute as a

dividend or free distribution. The depositary will only distribute whole ADSs. It will sell shares which

would require it to deliver a fraction of an ADS (or ADSs representing those shares) and distribute the

net proceeds in the same way as it does with cash. If the depositary does not distribute additional

ADSs, the outstanding ADSs will also represent the new shares. The depositary may sell a portion of

the distributed shares (or ADSs representing those shares) sufficient to pay its fees and expenses in

connection with that distribution.

• Rights to purchase additional shares. If we offer holders of our securities any rights to subscribe for

additional shares or any other rights, the depositary may (i) exercise those rights on behalf of ADS

holders, (ii) distribute those rights to ADS holders or (iii) sell those rights and distribute the net

proceeds to ADS holders, in each case after deduction or upon payment of its fees and expenses. To the

extent the depositary does not do any of those things, it will allow the rights to lapse. In that case, you

will receive no value for them. The depositary will exercise or distribute rights only if we ask it to and

provide satisfactory assurances to the depositary that it is legal to do so. If the depositary will exercise

rights, it will purchase the securities to which the rights relate and distribute those securities or, in the

case of shares, new ADSs representing the new shares, to subscribing ADS holders, but only if ADS

holders have paid the exercise price to the depositary. U.S. securities laws may restrict the ability of the

depositary to distribute rights or ADSs or other securities issued on exercise of rights to all or certain

ADS holders, and the securities distributed may be subject to restrictions on transfer.

• Other Distributions. The depositary will send to ADS holders anything else we distribute on deposited

securities by any means it thinks is legal, fair and practical. If it cannot make the distribution in that

way, the depositary has a choice. It may decide to sell what we distributed and distribute the net

proceeds, in the same way as it does with cash. Or, it may decide to hold what we distributed, in which

case ADSs will also represent the newly distributed property. However, the depositary is not required to

distribute any securities (other than ADSs) to ADS holders unless it receives satisfactory evidence from

us that it is legal to make that distribution. The depositary may sell a portion of the distributed

securities or property sufficient to pay its fees and expenses in connection with that distribution.

U.S. securities laws may restrict the ability of the depositary to distribute securities to all or certain

ADS holders, and the securities distributed may be subject to restrictions on transfer.

The depositary is not responsible if it decides that it is unlawful or impractical to make a distribution available to

any ADS holders. We have no obligation to register ADSs, shares, rights or other securities under the Securities

Act. We also have no obligation to take any other action to permit the distribution of ADSs, shares, rights or

anything else to ADS holders. This means that you may not receive the distributions we make on our shares or

any value for them if it is illegal or impractical for us to make them available to you.

Deposit, Withdrawal and Cancellation

How are ADSs issued?

The depositary will deliver ADSs if you or your broker deposits shares or evidence of rights to receive shares

with the custodian. Upon payment of its fees and expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or

stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will register the appropriate number of ADSs in the names you request

and will deliver the ADSs to or upon the order of the person or persons that made the deposit.

How can ADS holders withdraw the deposited securities?

You may surrender your ADSs to the depositary for the purpose of withdrawal. Upon payment of its fees and

expenses and of any taxes or charges, such as stamp taxes or stock transfer taxes or fees, the depositary will

deliver the shares and any other deposited securities underlying the ADSs to the ADS holder or a person the

ADS holder designates at the office of the custodian. Or, at your request, risk and expense, the depositary will
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deliver the deposited securities at its office, if feasible. However, the depositary is not required to accept

surrender of ADSs to the extent it would require delivery of a fraction of a deposited share or other security. The

depositary may charge you a fee and its expenses for instructing the custodian regarding delivery of deposited

securities.

How do ADS holders interchange between certificated ADSs and uncertificated ADSs?

You may surrender your ADR to the depositary for the purpose of exchanging your ADR for uncertificated

ADSs. The depositary will cancel that ADR and will send to the ADS holder a statement confirming that the

ADS holder is the registered holder of uncertificated ADSs. Upon receipt by the depositary of a proper

instruction from a registered holder of uncertificated ADSs requesting the exchange of uncertificated ADSs for

certificated ADSs, the depositary will execute and deliver to the ADS holder an ADR evidencing those ADSs.

Voting Rights

How do you vote?

ADS holders may instruct the depositary how to vote the number of deposited shares their ADSs represent. If we

request the depositary to solicit your voting instructions (and we are not required to do so), the depositary will

notify you of a shareholders’ meeting and send or make voting materials available to you. Those materials will

describe the matters to be voted on and explain how ADS holders may instruct the depositary how to vote. For

instructions to be valid, they must reach the depositary by a date set by the depositary. The depositary will try, as

far as practical, subject to the laws of Australia and the provisions of our constitution or similar documents, to

vote or to have its agents vote the shares or other deposited securities as instructed by ADS holders. If we do not

request the depositary to solicit your voting instructions, you can still send voting instructions, and, in that case,

the depositary may try to vote as you instruct, but it is not required to do so.

Except by instructing the depositary as described above, you won’t be able to exercise voting rights unless you

surrender your ADSs and withdraw the shares. However, you may not know about the meeting enough in

advance to withdraw the shares. In any event, the depositary will not exercise any discretion in voting deposited

securities and it will only vote or attempt to vote as instructed.

We cannot assure you that you will receive the voting materials in time to ensure that you can instruct the

depositary to vote the shares represented by your ADSs. In addition, the depositary and its agents are not

responsible for failing to carry out voting instructions or for the manner of carrying out voting instructions. This

means that you may not be able to exercise voting rights and there may be nothing you can do if the shares

represented by your ADSs are not voted as you requested.

In order to give you a reasonable opportunity to instruct the depositary as to the exercise of voting rights relating

to Deposited Securities, if we request the Depositary to act, we agree to give the depositary notice of any such

meeting and details concerning the matters to be voted upon at least 30 days in advance of the meeting date.

Fees and Expenses

Persons depositing or withdrawing ordinary shares

or ADS holders must pay the depositary:

For:

US$5.00 (or less) per 100 ADSs (or portion of 100

ADSs)

• Issuance of ADSs, including issuances resulting

from a distribution of shares or rights or other

property

• Cancellation of ADSs for the purpose of

withdrawal, including if the deposit agreement

terminates

US$0.05 (or less) per ADS • Any cash distribution to ADS holders
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A fee equivalent to the fee that would be payable if

securities distributed to you had been shares and the

shares had been deposited for issuance of ADSs

• Distribution of securities distributed to holders of

deposited securities (including rights) that are

distributed by the depositary to ADS holders

US$0.05 (or less) per ADS per calendar year • Depositary services

Registration or transfer fees • Transfer and registration of shares on our share

register to or from the name of the depositary or

its agent when you deposit or withdraw shares

Expenses of the depositary • Cable (including SWIFT) and facsimile

transmissions (when expressly provided in the

deposit agreement)

• Converting foreign currency to U.S. dollars

Taxes and other governmental charges the depositary

or the custodian has to pay on any ADSs or shares

underlying ADSs, such as stock transfer taxes, stamp

duty or withholding taxes

• As necessary

Any charges incurred by the depositary or its agents

for servicing the deposited securities

• As necessary

The depositary collects its fees for delivery and surrender of ADSs directly from investors depositing shares or

surrendering ADSs for the purpose of withdrawal or from intermediaries acting for them. The depositary collects

fees for making distributions to investors by deducting those fees from the amounts distributed or by selling a

portion of distributable property to pay the fees. The depositary may collect its annual fee for depositary services

by deduction from cash distributions or by directly billing investors or by charging the book-entry system

accounts of participants acting for them. The depositary may collect any of its fees by deduction from any cash

distribution payable (or by selling a portion of securities or other property distributable) to ADS holders that are

obligated to pay those fees. The depositary may generally refuse to provide fee-attracting services until its fees

for those services are paid.

From time to time, the depositary may make payments to us to reimburse us for costs and expenses generally

arising out of establishment and maintenance of the ADS program, waive fees and expenses for services provided

to us by the depositary or share revenue from the fees collected from ADS holders. In performing its duties

under the deposit agreement, the depositary may use brokers, dealers, foreign currency dealers or other service

providers that are owned by or affiliated with the depositary and that may earn or share fees, spreads or

commissions.

The depositary may convert currency itself or through any of its affiliates, or the custodian or we may convert

currency and pay U.S. dollars to the depositary. Where the depositary converts currency itself or through any of

its affiliates, the depositary acts as principal for its own account and not as agent, advisor, broker or fiduciary on

behalf of any other person and earns revenue, including, without limitation, transaction spreads, that it will retain

for its own account. The revenue is based on, among other things, the difference between the exchange rate

assigned to the currency conversion made under the deposit agreement and the rate that the depositary or its

affiliate receives when buying or selling foreign currency for its own account. The depositary makes no

representation that the exchange rate used or obtained by it or its affiliate in any currency conversion under the

deposit agreement will be the most favorable rate that could be obtained at the time or that the method by which

that rate will be determined will be the most favorable to ADS holders, subject to the depositary’s obligation to

act without negligence or bad faith. The methodology used to determine exchange rates used in currency

conversions made by the depositary is available upon request. Where the custodian converts currency, the

custodian has no obligation to obtain the most favorable rate that could be obtained at the time or to ensure that

the method by which that rate will be determined will be the most favorable to ADS holders, and the depositary

makes no representation that the rate is the most favorable rate and will not be liable for any direct or indirect
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losses associated with the rate. In certain instances, the depositary may receive dividends or other distributions

from us in U.S. dollars that represent the proceeds of a conversion of foreign currency or translation from

foreign currency at a rate that was obtained or determined by us and, in such cases, the depositary will not

engage in, or be responsible for, any foreign currency transactions and neither it nor we make any representation

that the rate obtained or determined by us is the most favorable rate and neither it nor we will be liable for any

direct or indirect losses associated with the rate.

Payment of Taxes

You will be responsible for any taxes or other governmental charges payable on your ADSs or on the deposited

securities represented by any of your ADSs. The depositary may refuse to register any transfer of your ADSs or

allow you to withdraw the deposited securities represented by your ADSs until those taxes or other charges are

paid. It may apply payments owed to you or sell deposited securities represented by your ADSs to pay any taxes

owed and you will remain liable for any deficiency. If the depositary sells deposited securities, it will, if

appropriate, reduce the number of ADSs to reflect the sale and pay to ADS holders any proceeds, or send to

ADS holders any property, remaining after it has paid the taxes.

Tender and Exchange Offers; Redemption, Replacement or Cancellation of Deposited Securities

The depositary will not tender deposited securities in any voluntary tender or exchange offer unless instructed to

do so by an ADS holder surrendering ADSs and subject to any conditions or procedures the depositary may

establish.

If deposited securities are redeemed for cash in a transaction that is mandatory for the depositary as a holder of

deposited securities, the depositary will call for surrender of a corresponding number of ADSs and distribute the

net redemption money to the holders of called ADSs upon surrender of those ADSs.

If there is any change in the deposited securities such as a sub-division, combination or other reclassification, or

any merger, consolidation, recapitalization or reorganization affecting the issuer of deposited securities in which

the depositary receives new securities in exchange for or in lieu of the old deposited securities, the depositary

will hold those replacement securities as deposited securities under the deposit agreement. However, if the

depositary decides it would not be lawful and practical to hold the replacement securities because those securities

could not be distributed to ADS holders or for any other reason, the depositary may instead sell the replacement

securities and distribute the net proceeds upon surrender of the ADSs.

If there is a replacement of the deposited securities and the depositary will continue to hold the replacement

securities, the depositary may distribute new ADSs representing the new deposited securities or ask you to

surrender your outstanding ADSs in exchange for new ADSs identifying the new deposited securities.

If there are no deposited securities underlying ADSs, including if the deposited securities are cancelled, or if the

deposited securities underlying ADSs have become apparently worthless, the depositary may call for surrender of

those ADSs or cancel those ADSs upon notice to the ADS holders.

Amendment and Termination

How may the deposit agreement be amended?

We may agree with the depositary to amend the deposit agreement and the ADRs without your consent for any

reason. If an amendment adds or increases fees or charges, except for taxes and other governmental charges or

expenses of the depositary for registration fees, facsimile costs, delivery charges or similar items, or prejudices a

substantial right of ADS holders, it will not become effective for outstanding ADSs until 30 days after the

depositary notifies ADS holders of the amendment. At the time an amendment becomes effective, you are

considered, by continuing to hold your ADSs, to agree to the amendment and to be bound by the ADRs and the

deposit agreement as amended.

How may the deposit agreement be terminated?

The depositary will initiate termination of the deposit agreement if we instruct it to do so. The depositary may

initiate termination of the deposit agreement if:

• 60 days have passed since the depositary told us it wants to resign but a successor depositary has not

been appointed and accepted its appointment;
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• we delist the ADSs from an exchange in the United States on which they were listed and do not list the

ADSs on another exchange in the United States or make arrangements for trading of ADSs on the U.S.

over-the-counter market;

• we delist our shares from an exchange outside the United States on which they were listed and do not

list the shares on another exchange outside the United States;

• the depositary has reason to believe the ADSs have become, or will become, ineligible for registration

on Form F-6 under the Securities Act of 1933;

• we appear to be insolvent or enter insolvency proceedings;

• all or substantially all the value of the deposited securities has been distributed either in cash or in the

form of securities;

• there are no deposited securities underlying the ADSs or the underlying deposited securities have

become apparently worthless; or

• there has been a replacement of deposited securities.

If the deposit agreement will terminate, the depositary will notify ADS holders at least 90 days before the termination

date. At any time after the termination date, the depositary may sell the deposited securities. After that, the depositary

will hold the money it received on the sale, as well as any other cash it is holding under the deposit agreement,

unsegregated and without liability for interest, for the pro rata benefit of the ADS holders that have not surrendered

their ADSs. Normally, the depositary will sell as soon as practicable after the termination date.

After the termination date and before the depositary sells, ADS holders can still surrender their ADSs and receive

delivery of deposited securities, except that the depositary may refuse to accept a surrender for the purpose of

withdrawing deposited securities or reverse previously accepted surrenders of that kind that have not settled if it

would interfere with the selling process. The depositary may refuse to accept a surrender for the purpose of

withdrawing sale proceeds until all the deposited securities have been sold. The depositary will continue to

collect distributions on deposited securities, but, after the termination date, the depositary is not required to

register any transfer of ADSs or distribute any dividends or other distributions on deposited securities to the

ADSs holder (until they surrender their ADSs) or give any notices or perform any other duties under the deposit

agreement except as described in this paragraph.

Limitations on Obligations and Liability

Limits on our Obligations and the Obligations of the Depositary; Limits on Liability to Holders of ADSs

The deposit agreement expressly limits our obligations and the obligations of the depositary. It also limits our

liability and the liability of the depositary. We and the depositary:

• are only obligated to take the actions specifically set forth in the deposit agreement without negligence

or bad faith, and the depositary will not be a fiduciary or have any fiduciary duty to holders of ADSs;

• are not liable if we are or it is prevented or delayed by law or by events or circumstances beyond our

or its ability to prevent or counteract with reasonable care or effort from performing our or its

obligations under the deposit agreement;

• are not liable if we or it exercises discretion permitted under the deposit agreement;

• are not liable for the inability of any holder of ADSs to benefit from any distribution on deposited

securities that is not made available to holders of ADSs under the terms of the deposit agreement, or

for any special, consequential or punitive damages for any breach of the terms of the deposit

agreement;

• have no obligation to become involved in a lawsuit or other proceeding related to the ADSs or the

deposit agreement on your behalf or on behalf of any other person;

• may rely upon any documents we believe or it believes in good faith to be genuine and to have been

signed or presented by the proper person;

• are not liable for the acts or omissions of any securities depository, clearing agency or settlement

system; and
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• the depositary has no duty to make any determination or provide any information as to our tax status,

or any liability for any tax consequences that may be incurred by ADS holders as a result of owning or

holding ADSs or be liable for the inability or failure of an ADS holder to obtain the benefit of a

foreign tax credit, reduced rate of withholding or refund of amounts withheld in respect of tax or any

other tax benefit.

In the deposit agreement, we and the depositary agree to indemnify each other under certain circumstances.

Requirements for Depositary Actions

Before the depositary will deliver or register a transfer of ADSs, make a distribution on ADSs, or permit

withdrawal of shares, the depositary may require:

• payment of stock transfer or other taxes or other governmental charges and transfer or registration fees

charged by third parties for the transfer of any shares or other deposited securities;

• satisfactory proof of the identity and genuineness of any signature or other information it deems

necessary; and

• compliance with regulations it may establish, from time to time, consistent with the deposit agreement,

including presentation of transfer documents.

The depositary may refuse to deliver ADSs or register transfers of ADSs when the transfer books of the

depositary or our transfer books are closed or at any time if the depositary or we think it advisable to do so.

Your Right to Receive the Shares Underlying your ADSs

ADS holders have the right to cancel their ADSs and withdraw the underlying shares at any time except:

• when temporary delays arise because: (i) the depositary has closed its transfer books, or we have closed

our transfer books; (ii) the transfer of shares is blocked to permit voting at a shareholders’ meeting; or

(iii) we are paying a dividend on our ordinary shares;

• when you owe money to pay fees, taxes and similar charges; or

• when it is necessary to prohibit withdrawals in order to comply with any laws or governmental

regulations that apply to ADSs or to the withdrawal of ordinary shares or other deposited securities.

This right of withdrawal may not be limited by any other provision of the deposit agreement.

Direct Registration System

In the deposit agreement, all parties to the deposit agreement acknowledge that the Direct Registration System,

also referred to as DRS, and Profile Modification System, also referred to as Profile, will apply to the ADSs.

DRS is a system administered by DTC that facilitates interchange between registered holding of uncertificated

ADSs and holding of security entitlements in ADSs through DTC and a DTC participant. Profile is a feature of

DRS that allows a DTC participant, claiming to act on behalf of a registered holder of uncertificated ADSs, to

direct the depositary to register a transfer of those ADSs to DTC or its nominee and to deliver those ADSs to the

DTC account of that DTC participant without receipt by the depositary of prior authorization from the ADS

holder to register that transfer.

In connection with and in accordance with the arrangements and procedures relating to DRS/Profile, the parties

to the deposit agreement understand that the depositary will not determine whether the DTC participant that is

claiming to be acting on behalf of an ADS holder in requesting registration of transfer and delivery as described

in the paragraph above has the actual authority to act on behalf of the ADS holder (notwithstanding any

requirements under the Uniform Commercial Code). In the deposit agreement, the parties agree that the

depositary’s reliance on and compliance with instructions received by the depositary through the DRS/Profile

system and in accordance with the deposit agreement will not constitute negligence or bad faith on the part of

the depositary.

Shareholder Communications; Inspection of Register of Holders of ADSs

The depositary will make available for your inspection at its office all communications that it receives from us as

a holder of deposited securities that we make generally available to holders of deposited securities. The
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depositary will send you copies of those communications or otherwise make those communications available to

you if we ask it to. You have a right to inspect the register of holders of ADSs, but not for the purpose of

contacting those holders about a matter unrelated to our business or the ADSs.

Jury Trial Waiver

The deposit agreement provides that, to the extent permitted by law, ADS holders waive the right to a jury trial

of any claim they may have against us or the depositary arising out of or relating to our shares, the ADSs or the

deposit agreement, including any claim under the U.S. federal securities laws. If we or the depositary opposed a

jury trial demand based on the waiver, the court would determine whether the waiver was enforceable in the

facts and circumstances of that case in accordance with applicable case law.

You will not, by agreeing to the terms of the deposit agreement, be deemed to have waived our or the

depositary’s compliance with U.S. federal securities laws or the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of IperionX Limited

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of IperionX Limited (formerly

Hyperion Metals Limited and Tao Commodities Limited) and its subsidiaries (the ‘‘Company’’) as of 30 June

2021, and the related consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, of changes in

equity and of cash flows for the period ended 30 June 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred to

as the ‘‘consolidated financial statements’’). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in

all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 30 June 2021, and the results of its operations

and its cash flows for the period ended 30 June 2021 in conformity with International Financial Reporting

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public

accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and

are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws

and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the

PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated

financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such

procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Perth, Australia
17 February 2022, except for the effects of the revision discussed in Note 1(x) to the consolidated financial
statements, as to which the date is 29 March 2022

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Notes
2021
US$

Continuing operations

Exploration and evaluation expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,568,386)

Corporate and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (852,944)

Business development expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (581,200)

Share-based payment expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17(a) (4,084,764)

Finance income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 5,075

Finance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 (7,492)

Cost of listing on reverse acquisition. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 (5,141,126)

Loss before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

Income tax expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 —

Loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

Loss attributable to members of IperionX Limited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,419)

Other comprehensive loss for the period, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,419)

Total comprehensive loss for the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,233,256)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to members of IperionX Limited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,233,256)

Basic loss per share (US$ per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13 (0.22)

Diluted loss per share (US$ per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13 (0.22)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT JUNE 30, 2021

Notes
2021
US$

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 1,697,904

Trade and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 341

Prepayments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 49,069

Total Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,747,314

Non-Current Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 504,750

Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 539,619

Total Non-Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,044,369

TOTAL ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,791,683

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 544,842

Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 81,104

Provisions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,069

Total Current Liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 637,015

Non-Current Liabilities

Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 394,548

Total Non-Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 394,548

TOTAL LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,031,563

NET ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,760,120

EQUITY

Contributed equity. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 10,255,369

Reserves. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 4,735,588

Accumulated losses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 (13,230,837)

TOTAL EQUITY. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,760,120
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Contributed
Equity

US$

Share-Based
Payments
Reserve

US$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

US$

Accumulated
Losses
US$

Total
Equity

US$

Balance at incorporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — —

Net loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (13,230,837) (13,230,837)

Exchange differences arising on translation of

foreign operations. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (2,419) — (2,419)

Total comprehensive loss for the period . . . . — — (2,419) (13,230,837) (13,233,256)

Issue of shares – incorporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 — — — 1

Issue of shares – seed placement. . . . . . . . . . . . 54,011 — — — 54,011

Reverse acquisition. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,433,752 967,582 — — 7,401,334

Issue of shares – share placement . . . . . . . . . . . 2,819,340 — — — 2,819,340

Issue of shares – exercise of options and

performance rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,033,732 (314,339) — — 719,393

Share issue costs. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (85,467) — — — (85,467)

Share-based payment expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 4,084,764 — — 4,084,764

Balance at June 30, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,255,369 4,738,007 (2,419) (13,230,837) 1,760,120
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Notes
2021
US$

Operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,562,589)

Interest paid. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (511)

Interest received . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,075

Net cash flows used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 (3,558,025)

Investing activities

Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 (504,750)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (66,818)

Net cash flows from investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (571,568)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,592,745

Share issue costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10(a) (85,467)

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,473)

Net cash inflow on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14 2,329,111

Net cash flows from financing activities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,829,916

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,700,323

Net foreign exchange differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,419)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 1,697,904
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements of IperionX

Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited and Tao Commodities Limited) (‘‘IperionX’’ or ‘‘Company’’) and its

consolidated entities (‘‘Consolidated Entity’’ or ‘‘Group’’) for the period ended June 30, 2021 are stated to assist

in a general understanding of the consolidated financial statements.

IperionX is a for-profit company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Our ordinary shares

are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange, or ASX, under the symbol ‘‘HYM’’.

The principal activities of the Group during the period ended June 30, 2021 consisted of the exploration and

development of mineral resource projects.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the period ended June 30, 2021 were authorised for issue

in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on February 17, 2022.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘‘IFRS’’) as issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (‘‘IASB’’).

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group. For the purposes of

preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company is a for-profit entity.

The consolidated financial statements are the first annual financial statements of the newly merged entity formed

as a result of the reverse takeover of the Company by Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd (‘‘HMAPL’’). Refer

to Note 14 for accounting treatment of the acquisition.

As outlined in Note 14, as a result of the reverse acquisition the former shareholders of HMAPL effectively

obtained control of the combined entity. Therefore, while the Company is the legal acquirer of HMAPL, for

accounting purposes HMAPL is deemed to be the acquirer of IperionX Limited and these consolidated financial

statements are presented as a continuation of the operations of HMAPL. As such, no comparative period is

presented throughout the consolidated financial statements because HMAPL was incorporated during the financial

period on July 20, 2020. Accordingly, the financial reporting period as presented in these financial statements

reflects the period from July 20, 2020 to June 30, 2021.

The consolidated financial statements have also been prepared on a historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars (US$).

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of

normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of

business.

(b) New standards, interpretations and amendments

In the current period, the Group has adopted all Accounting Standards and Interpretations effective from July 1,

2020. New and revised standards and amendments thereof and interpretations effective for the current reporting

period that are relevant to the Group include:

• Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)

• Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

The adoption of the aforementioned standards has no impact on the financial statements of the Company as at

June 30, 2021. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been

issued but is not yet effective.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Issued standards and interpretations not early adopted

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet

effective have not been adopted by the Group for the reporting period ended June 30, 2021. Those which may be

relevant to the Group are set out in the table below, but these are not expected to have any significant impact on

the Group’s financial statements:

Standard/Interpretation
Application Date of

Standard
Application Date for

the Group

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January 1, 2022 July 1, 2022

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to

IAS 1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January 1, 2023 July 1, 2023

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current — Deferral of

Effective Date (Amendment to IAS 1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January 1, 2023 July 1, 2023

(d) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as

at June 30, 2021.

Control is achieved when the Company has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. The Company

reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting

rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical

ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and

circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it

power.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company has the power to

govern the financial and operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanying a

shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that

are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another

entity.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using

consistent accounting policies. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are

de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions and balances, income and expenses and profits and losses between Group companies,

are eliminated. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the Statement of Financial Position of the

Company.

(e) Foreign Currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic

environment in which that entity operates.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars which is the Group’s presentation

currency.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the

date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-end exchange rate.

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the

transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair

values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement, except

where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the

extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in the

income statement.

(iii) Group companies

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the group’s

presentation currency are translated as follows:

• assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date;

• income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and

• retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the group’s foreign

currency translation reserve in equity. These differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the

operation is disposed.

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid

investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts.

(g) Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method, less allowance for expected credit losses, applying the simplified approach. If

collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are

presented as non-current assets. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore

are all classified as current.

As the majority of receivables are short term in nature, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as their

fair value.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment

All classes of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, except for land

which is not depreciated. Currently the Group only has plant and equipment which is depreciated over a period

of 5 years.

(i) Exploration and Development Expenditure

Expenditure on exploration and evaluation is accounted for in accordance with the ’area of interest’ method and

with IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure encompasses expenditures incurred by the Group in connection with the

exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of

extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable.

For each area of interest, expenditure incurred in the acquisition of rights to explore is capitalised and recognised

as an exploration and evaluation asset. This includes option payments made to landowners under the Group’s

option agreements with local landowners which are considered part of the acquisition costs. Exploration and

evaluation assets are measured at cost at recognition and are recorded as an asset if:

(i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:

• the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful

development and exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; and

• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a

stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable

reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

All other exploration and evaluation expenditures are expensed as incurred. Once the technical feasibility and

commercial viability of a program or project has been demonstrated with a bankable feasibility study, the

carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the area of interest is reclassified as

a ‘‘mine development property’’.

Where a decision is made to proceed with development, accumulated expenditure is tested for impairment and

transferred to development properties, and then amortised over the life of the reserves associated with the area of

interest once mining operations have commenced. Recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and

evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of

the respective areas of interest.

Impairment

Capitalised exploration costs are reviewed each reporting date to establish whether an indication of impairment

exists. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the capitalised exploration costs is estimated to

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the

carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent

that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no

impairment loss been recognised for the asset.

(j) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial

period which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition. Trade

and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the

reporting date.

They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their

short-term nature.

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for

which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(l) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the

financial asset.

(m) Income Tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the

national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable

to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial

statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply

when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or

substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of

deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made

for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax

asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose on goodwill or in a

transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting

profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and

tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of

the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is

probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred

income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that

it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised

directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off

current tax assets against tax liabilities and the deferred tax liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the

same taxation authority.

(n) Employee Entitlements

Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to

balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months have been measured at

the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable

later than 12 months have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made

for those benefits.

(o) Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (‘‘EPS’’) is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to members of the

Company for the reporting period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity, by the weighted average number

of ordinary shares of the Company, adjusted for any bonus issue.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic EPS earnings, adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs

associated with dilutive potential Ordinary Shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of conversion to
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Ordinary Shares associated with dilutive potential Ordinary Shares, by the weighted average number of Ordinary

Shares and dilutive Ordinary Shares adjusted for any bonus issue.

(p) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST

incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part

of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Statement of

Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a

gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating

cash flows.

(q) Use and Revision of Accounting Estimates, Judgements and Assumptions

The preparation of the financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that

affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if

the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are

described in the following note:

• Recognition of tax losses (Notes 1(m) and 3);

• Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (Note 6);

• Determination of the accounting acquirer in reverse acquisition and fair value of the consideration paid

(Note 14); and

• Share-based payments (Note 17).

(r) Operating Segments

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn

revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of

the same entity), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to

make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete

financial information is available. This includes start up operations which are yet to earn revenues. Management

will also consider other factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and

the level of segment information presented to the board of directors.

Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the chief operating decision

makers, being the board of directors.

The group aggregates two or more operating segments when they have similar economic characteristics, and the

segments are similar in each of the following respects:

• Nature of the products and services,

• Nature of the production processes,

• Type or class of customer for the products and services,

• Methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and if applicable,

• Nature of the regulatory environment.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by IFRS 8 Operating Segments are reported

separately. However, an operating segment that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported separately

where information about the segment would be useful to users of the financial statements.

Information about other business activities and operating segments that are below the quantitative criteria are

combined and disclosed in a separate category for ‘‘all other segments’’.

Currently, the Group has only one operating segment.

(s) Impairment of Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any

such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate

of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell

and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that

are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be

estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the

cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds

its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its

recoverable amount.

In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

asset.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the

recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a

change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was

recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That

increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had

no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is

adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic

basis over its remaining useful life.

(t) Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or

for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity

securities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income) is based on quoted market prices at the

reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the

appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter

derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes

assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer

quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as discounted

cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of

interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward

exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the reporting date.

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to

approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by

discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for

similar financial instruments.

F-13



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Issued and Unissued Capital

Ordinary Shares and Performance Shares are classified as equity. Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the

fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of

new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(v) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before the end of the year but not distributed at

balance date.

(w) Share-Based Payments

Equity-settled share-based payments are provided to officers, employees, consultants and other advisors. These

share-based payments are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant date. Fair value is

determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed

on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments that will

eventually vest. At each reporting date, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments

expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss over

the remaining vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payments may also be provided as consideration for the acquisition of assets. Where

ordinary shares are issued, the transaction is recorded at fair value based on the quoted price of the ordinary

shares at the date of issue. The acquisition is then recorded as an asset or expensed in accordance with

accounting standards.

(x) Revisions

In the year ended June 30, 2021, the Group reclassified the net cash inflow on reverse acquisition from investing

to financing cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows. This change had no impact on the Group’s

net loss or financial position for the period ended June 30, 2021.

2. INCOME AND EXPENSES

Note
2021
US$

Finance income

Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,075

5,075

Finance costs

Interest on lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,097)

Other finance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,395)

(7,492)

Depreciation and amortisation

Amortisation of right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 (8,364)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 (960)

(9,324)

F-14



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

2. INCOME AND EXPENSES (Continued)

Note
2021
US$

Employee benefits expense

Wages and salaries . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (509,474)

Employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (44,325)

Post-employment benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (8,929)

Share-based payment expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,084,764)

(4,647,492)

3. INCOME TAX

2021
US$

Recognised in profit or loss

Current income tax:

Current income tax benefit in respect of the current period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Deferred income tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Income tax expense reported in profit or loss. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss before income tax

Accounting loss before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

At the Australian income tax rate of 30%. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,969,251)

Effect of lower income tax rate in the United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124,391

Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,942,127

Exchange differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,365)

Effect of deferred tax assets not brought to account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 908,098

Income tax expense reported in profit or loss. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities:

Right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142,128

Deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (142,128)

—

Deferred tax assets:

Accrued expenditures . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53,997

Provisions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,893

Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142,695

Tax losses available to offset against future taxable income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,260,669

Deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (142,128)

Deferred tax assets acquired on reverse acquisition not brought to account (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (410,028)

Other deferred tax assets not brought to account (1). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (908,098)

—

Notes:

(1) The benefit of deferred tax assets not brought to account will only be brought to account if: (a) future assessable income is derived of a

nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; (b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation

continue to be complied with; and (c) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

4. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR ON ORDINARY SHARES

No dividends have been paid or proposed for the period ended June 30, 2021.

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2021
US$

Cash at bank and on hand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,697,904

1,697,904

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash flows from operations
Loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)
Adjustment for non-cash income and expense items

Share-based payments expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,084,764
Cost of listing on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,141,126
Amortisation of right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,364
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 960

Changes in assets and liabilities
Increase in receivables and prepayments. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (34,405)
Increase in payables and provisions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 472,003

Net cash outflow from operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,558,025)

6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Titan
Project(1)

US$

2021
Carrying amount at incorporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —
Additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 504,750

Carrying amount at June 30, 2021(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 504,750

Notes:

(1) At June 30, 2021, the Titan Project comprised of approximately 6,111 acres of surface and associated mineral rights in Tennessee

prospective for heavy mineral sands, including titanium, rare earth minerals, high grade silica sand, and zircon, of which approximately

137 acres are owned and approximately 5,974 acres are subject to exclusive option agreements. These exclusive option agreements,

upon exercise, allow the Group to purchase or, in some cases lease, the surface property and associated mineral rights.

(2) The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation is dependent on the successful development and

commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest.

7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
equipment

US$

Right-of-use
assets
US$

Total
US$

2021

Carrying amount at incorporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — —

Additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 66,818 482,125 548,943

Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (960) (8,364) (9,324)

Carrying amount at June 30, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 65,858 473,761 539,619

- at cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 66,818 482,125 548,943

- accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (960) (8,364) (9,324)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

8. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021
US$

Current

Trade payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 286,846

Accruals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 255,965

Payroll liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,031

Total trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 544,842

9. LEASES

The Group leases office premises in the United States. The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets (included

under property, plant and equipment) and the movements during the period are in Note 7. The carrying amounts

of lease liabilities are set out in the Statement of Financial Position. The following are the amounts recognised in

profit or loss in respect of leases:

Note
2021
US$

Amortisation of right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 (8,364)

Interest expense on lease liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 (3,097)

Net amount recognised in profit or loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,461)

10. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Note
2021
US$

Issued capital

105,105,787 fully paid ordinary shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10(a) 10,255,369

(a) Movements in issued capital

Number of
Ordinary

Shares

Number of
Class A

Performance
Shares

Number of
Class B

Performance
Shares US$

2021

Opening balance at incorporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —

Issue of shares – incorporation (July 2020) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1 — — 1

Issue of shares – seed placement (August-October 2020). . 99,999 — — 54,011

Reverse acquisition – exchange of ordinary shares of

HMAPL for ordinary shares and performance shares of

IperionX, adjusted to reflect the exchange ratio set

forth in the merger agreement . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 26,400,000 18,000,000 18,000,000 —

Reverse acquisition – shares issued to facilitators of

reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,650,000 1,800,000 1,800,000 —

Reverse acquisition – recognition of legal acquirer shares . 57,386,667 — — 6,433,752

Issue of shares – share placement (January 2021). . . . . . . . 12,150,000 — — 2,819,340

Issue of shares – exercise of options and performance

rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,419,120 — — 1,033,732

Share issue costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (85,467)

Closing balance at June 30, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 105,105,787 19,800,000 19,800,000 10,255,369
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

10. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (Continued)

(b) Rights attaching to Ordinary Shares

The rights attaching to fully paid ordinary shares (‘‘Ordinary Shares’’) arise from a combination of the

Company’s Constitution, statute and general law:

(i) Shares - The issue of shares in the capital of the Company and options over unissued shares by the

Company is under the control of the directors, subject to the Corporations Act 2001, ASX Listing Rules and

any rights attached to any special class of shares.

(ii) Meetings of Members - Directors may call a meeting of members whenever they think fit. Members may

call a meeting as provided by the Corporations Act 2001.The Constitution contains provisions prescribing

the content requirements of notices of meetings of members and all members are entitled to a notice of

meeting. A meeting may be held in two or more places linked together by audio-visual communication

devices. A quorum for a meeting of members is 2 shareholders. The Company holds annual general

meetings in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the Listing Rules.

(iii) Voting - Subject to any rights or restrictions at the time being attached to any shares or class of shares of

the Company, each member of the Company is entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at a general

meeting. Resolutions of members will be decided by a show of hands unless a poll is demanded. On a show

of hands each eligible voter present has one vote. However, where a person present at a general meeting

represents personally or by proxy, attorney or representative more than one member, on a show of hands the

person is entitled to one vote only despite the number of members the person represents. On a poll each

eligible member has one vote for each fully paid share held and a fraction of a vote for each partly paid

share determined by the amount paid up on that share.

(iv) Changes to the Constitution - The Company’s Constitution can only be amended by a special resolution passed

by at least three quarters of the members present and voting at a general meeting of the Company. At least 28

days’ written notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution must be given.

(v) Listing Rules - Provided the Company remains admitted to the Official List, then despite anything in its

Constitution, no act may be done that is prohibited by the Listing Rules, and authority is given for acts

required to be done by the Listing Rules. The Company’s Constitution will be deemed to comply with the

Listing Rules as amended from time to time.

(c) Rights attaching to Performance Shares

Performance Shares comprise 19,800,000 Class A and 19,800,000 Class B Performance Shares issued in relation

to the acquisition of HMAPL (refer Note 14) and are issued based upon the following terms and conditions:

• The Performance Shareholders are not entitled to a dividend;

• The Performance Shares are not transferable;

• The Performance Shareholders shall have no right to vote, subject to the Corporations Act;

• The Performance Shares will convert into Ordinary Shares as follows:

○ Each Class A Performance Share will convert into one (1) Ordinary Share upon completion of a

positive pre-feasibility study (prepared in accordance with the JORC Code and independently

verified by a Competent Person) for heavy mineral sands mining and processing on any of the

Titan Project area which demonstrates a net present value of at least A$200,000,000 before

September 17, 2024 (the ‘‘Pre-Feasibility Study Milestone’’);

○ Each Class B Performance Share will convert into one (1) Ordinary Share upon the

commencement of commercial production from the Titan Project area before September 17, 2025

(the ‘‘First Production Milestone’’);

○ All Performance Shares shall automatically convert into Ordinary Shares upon the occurrence of

certain change of control events; and
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

10. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (Continued)

○ To the extent that any Performance Shares have not converted into Ordinary Shares by the

applicable expiry date, all such Performance Shares for each holder will automatically lapse be

combined into one single Performance Share that will then convert into one single Ordinary Share.

• The Ordinary Shares issued on conversion of any Performance Share will rank equally with and confer

rights identical with all other Ordinary Shares then on issue and application will be made by the

Company to ASX for official quotation of the Ordinary Shares upon the date of conversion.

• The Company shall allot and issue Ordinary Shares immediately upon conversion of the Performance

Shares for no consideration and shall record the allotment and issue in the manner required by the

Corporations Act.

• The Performance Shares are unquoted. No application for quotation of the Performance Shares will be

made by the Company.

11. RESERVES

Note
2021
US$

Share-based payments reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11(b) 4,738,007
Foreign currency translation reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11(f) (2,419)

4,735,588

(a) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to record the fair value of Unlisted Options and Performance Rights

issued by the Group.

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of entities whose functional currency is different to the Group’s

presentation currency are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in Note 1(e).

(b) Movements in share-based payments reserve during the period

Number of
Listed

Options
(Note 11(c))

Number of
Unlisted
Options

(Note 11(d))

Number of
Performance

Rights
(Note 11(e)) US$

2021
Opening balance at incorporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —
Reverse acquisition – options issued to vendors of legal

acquiree . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 13,000,000 — —
Reverse acquisition – recognition of legal acquirer options

and rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,693,334 5,000,000 2,000,000 967,582
Issue of employee options and performance rights . . . . . . . — 9,150,000 16,325,000(2) —
Exercise of options and performance rights. . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,069,120) (1,350,000) (2,000,000) (314,339)
Share-based payment expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 4,084,764

Closing balance at June 30, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,624,214 25,800,000 16,325,000 4,738,007

Notes:

(1) For details on the valuation of Unlisted Options and Performance Rights, including models and assumptions used, refer to Note 17 of
the financial statements.

(2) During the period, the Group agreed, subject to shareholder approval, to grant 3,500,000 performance rights to Mr. Hannigan. These
performance rights have not been included in this table as they had not been granted at June 30, 2021.
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

11. RESERVES (Continued)

(c) Terms and conditions of Listed Options

Listed Options have the following terms and conditions:

• Each Listed Option entitles the holder to the right to subscribe for one Share upon the exercise of each

Listed Option;

• The Listed Options outstanding at the end of the financial period have the following exercise prices

and expiry dates:

○ 12,624,214 Listed Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before August 31, 2021;

• The Listed Options are exercisable at any time prior to the Expiry Date;

• Shares issued on exercise of the Listed Options rank equally with the then Shares of the Company;

• Application will be made by the Company to ASX for official quotation of the Shares issued upon the

exercise of the Listed Options;

• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Listed

Options holders may be varied to comply with the ASX Listing Rules which apply to the

reconstruction at the time of the reconstruction; and

• The Listed Options are quoted on ASX (ASX code: HYMOA).

(d) Terms and conditions of Unlisted Options

Unlisted Options granted as share-based payments have the following terms and conditions:

• Each Unlisted Option entitles the holder to the right to subscribe for one Share upon the exercise of

each Unlisted Option;

• The Unlisted Options outstanding at the end of the financial period have the following exercise prices

and expiry dates:

○ 6,000,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.25 each on or before December 31, 2023;

○ 4,650,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before December 31, 2023;

○ 5,000,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before December 1, 2025;

○ 4,000,000 Class A Performance Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before

December 1, 2025;

○ 4,000,000 Class B Performance Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before

December 1, 2025;

○ 1,075,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.45 each on or before December 31, 2023; and

○ 1,075,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.55 each on or before December 31, 2023.

• The Unlisted Options are exercisable at any time prior to the Expiry Date, subject to vesting conditions

being satisfied (if applicable);

• Shares issued on exercise of the Unlisted Options rank equally with the then Shares of the Company;

• Application will be made by the Company to ASX for official quotation of the Shares issued upon the

exercise of the Unlisted Options;

• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Unlisted

Option holders may be varied to comply with the ASX Listing Rules which apply to the reconstruction

at the time of the reconstruction; and

• No application for quotation of the Unlisted Options will be made by the Company.
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FOR THE PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 (continued)

11. RESERVES (Continued)

(e) Terms and conditions of Performance Rights

Performance Rights granted as share-based payments have the following terms and conditions:

• Each Performance Right automatically converts into one Share upon vesting of the Performance Right;

• Each Performance Right is subject to performance conditions (as determined by the Board from time to

time) which must be satisfied in order for the Performance Right to vest;

• The Performance Rights outstanding at the end of the financial period have the following performance

conditions and expiry dates:

○ 5,133,333 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$2.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2026;

○ 5,133,333 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$3.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2026;

○ 5,233,334 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$4.00 per share, expiring

April 23, 2026;

○ 125,000 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$2.00 per share, expiring April 23,

2024;

○ 125,000 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$3.00 per share, expiring April 23,

2024;

○ 125,000 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$4.00 per share, expiring April 23,

2024;

○ 150,000 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$2.00 per share, expiring March 1,

2026;

○ 150,000 performance rights that vest upon a 30-day VWAP of A$3.00 per share, expiring March 1,

2026; and

○ 150,000 performance rights that vest upon achieving a 30-day VWAP of A$4.00 per share,

expiring March 1, 2026;

• Application will be made by the Company to ASX for official quotation of the Shares issued upon

conversion of the Performance Rights;

• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Performance

Right holders may be varied to comply with the ASX Listing Rules which apply to the reconstruction

at the time of the reconstruction;

• No application for quotation of the Performance Rights will be made by the Company; and

• Without approval of the Board, Performance Rights may not be transferred, assigned or novated,

except, upon death, a participant’s legal personal representative may elect to be registered as the new

holder of such Performance Rights and exercise any rights in respect of them.

(f) Movements in foreign currency translation reserve during the period

2021
US$

Balance at incorporation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,419)

Balance at June 30 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,419)
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12. ACCUMULATED LOSSES

2021
US$

Balance at incorporation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —
Net loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

Balance at June 30 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

13. LOSS PER SHARE

2021
US$

Basic loss per share. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.22)

Diluted loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.22)

The following reflects the loss and share data used in the calculations of basic loss per share:

2021
US$

Net loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

Loss used in calculating basic and dilutive loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,230,837)

Number of
Ordinary Shares

2021

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares used in calculating basic and dilutive loss per

share. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 60,336,252

(a) Non-Dilutive Securities

As at June 30, 2021, 25,800,000 Unlisted Options and 16,325,000 Performance Rights, which together represent

42,125,000 potential Ordinary Shares, were considered non-dilutive as they would decrease the loss per share.

(b) Conversions, Calls, Subscriptions or Issues after June 30, 2021

Subsequent to June 30, 2021, the Company has issued:

(i) 20,000,000 ordinary shares pursuant to a share placement to institutional, sophisticated and professional

investors;

(ii) 12,606,704 ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of listed options;

(iii) 1,400,000 ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of unlisted options;

(iv) 600,000 restricted stock units to new Directors of the Company; and

(v) 600,000 unlisted options to new Directors of the Company.

Other than as above, there have been no other conversions to, calls of, or subscriptions for Ordinary Shares or

issues of potential Ordinary Shares since the reporting date and before the completion of this financial report.

14. REVERSE ACQUISITION ACCOUNTING

On December 1, 2020, IperionX Limited (‘‘Company’’) completed its acquisition of Hyperion Metals (Australia)

Pty Ltd (‘‘HMAPL’’) after issuing 26,500,000 ordinary shares, 5,000,000 unlisted options, 8,000,000 performance

options and 36,000,000 performance shares in the Company to the vendors, being the shareholders of HMAPL,

following shareholder approval received at the Company’s general meeting held on November 30, 2020.

As a result of the acquisition, the former shareholders of HMAPL effectively obtained control of the combined

entity. Accordingly, using the reverse acquisition principles of the business combination accounting standard,

while the Company is the legal acquirer of HMAPL, for accounting purposes HMAPL is deemed to be the

acquirer of the Company.
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14. REVERSE ACQUISITION ACCOUNTING (Continued)

Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared as a continuation of the

consolidated financial statements of HMAPL. The deemed acquirer, HMAPL, has accounted for the acquisition

of the Company from December 1, 2020. As HMAPL was only incorporated during the financial period on

July 20, 2020, there is no comparative period information for HMAPL.

In addition, at the date of the transaction, it was determined that the Company was not a business. Accordingly,

for accounting purposes, the acquisition has been treated as a share-based payment transaction.

As a result of the reverse acquisition, during the period the Group has recognised an expense of US$5.1 million

in its statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, effectively representing the cost of listing. The

cost is calculated as the difference in the fair value of the equity instruments that HMAPL is deemed to have

issued to acquire the Company and the fair value of the Company’s identifiable net assets, as follows:

December 1, 2020
US$

Fair value of consideration:
Equity(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,401,334
Direct costs relating to the reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,875
Cash option fee paid to HMAPL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (25,292)
Pre-acquisition loan to HMAPL. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (331,471)

Fair value of consideration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,055,446

Fair value of net assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,983,223
Trade and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,523
Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (102,426)

Fair value of net assets acquired. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,914,320

Cost of listing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,141,126

Net cash inflow:
Net cash acquired on reverse acquisition. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,983,223
Direct costs relating to the reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,875)
Cash option fee paid to HMAPL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,292
Pre-acquisition loan to HMAPL. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 331,471

Net consolidated cash inflow . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,329,111

Notes:

(1) The fair value of the equity interests deemed to have been issued by HMAPL has been determined based on the underlying share price of the

Company on ASX on the deemed date of acquisition (A$0.26 per share on December 1, 2020), adjusted by the fair value of share-based

contingent consideration deemed to have been issued to the existing equity holders of the Company and the fair value of share-based

contingent consideration issued to the equity holders of HMAPL, resulting in a deemed value of consideration of US$7,401,334, of which

US$6,433,752 has been allocated to issued share capital (i.e. ordinary shares and performance shares) and US$967,582 has been allocated to

share-based contingent consideration (i.e. listed options, unlisted options, and unlisted performance rights). Note 17 sets out the key

assumptions adopted in the valuation of the unlisted options (Series 2-5) included as contingent consideration. In addition, a probability

adjustment has been applied to the valuation of the performance shares and performance options included as contingent consideration

reflecting the likelihood that the non-market performance conditions associated with them will vest (80% likelihood that the Pre-Feasibility

Study Milestone will be achieved and a 20% likelihood that the First Production Milestone will be achieved).
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15. RELATED PARTIES

(a) Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation

Equity Interest
2021
%

Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Australia 100

TN Exploration LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . United States 100

Hyperion Materials & Technologies LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . United States 100

Calatos Pty Ltd LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . United States 100

(b) Ultimate Parent

IperionX Limited is the ultimate parent of the Group.

(c) Key Management Personnel

The aggregate compensation made to Key Management Personnel of the Group is set out below:

2021
US$

Short-term employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 275,246

Post-employment benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,079

Share-based payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,681,159

Total compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,962,484

No loans were provided to or received from Key Management Personnel during the period ended June 30, 2021.

Focus Capital Partners, LLC (‘‘Focus Capital’’), a company of which Mr Smith is a partner, was paid: (a)

US$67,792 for the provision of services in relation to business development activities during the period, which

has been recognised as an expense through profit or loss; and (b) US$25,493 in share placement fees during the

period, which has been recognised as a share issue costs in equity.

(d) Other transactions with Related Parties

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company,

have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

16. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

2021
US$

2020
US$

(a) Financial Position

Assets

Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,530,089 1,264,716

Non-Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 340,969 868,521

Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,871,058 2,133,237

Liabilities

Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 110,938 69,672

Total Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 110,938 69,672
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16. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES (Continued)

2021
US$

2020
US$

Equity

Contributed equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,360,608 3,372,855

Reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,723,616 845,282

Accumulated losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,324,104) (2,154,572)

Total Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,760,120 2,063,565

(b) Financial Performance

Loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15,169,532) (549,740)

Other comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 96,762 —

Total comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15,072,770) (549,740)

(c) Other

No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity in relation to its subsidiaries.

Refer to note 21 for details of contingent assets and liabilities.

17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a) Recognised share-based payment expense

From time to time, the Group grants Restricted Stock Units, Unlisted Options and Performance Rights to

officers, employees, consultants and other key advisors as part of remuneration and incentive arrangements. The

number of Restricted Stock Units, Unlisted Options and Performance Rights granted, and the terms of the

options or rights granted are determined by the Board. Shareholder approval is sought where required.

In addition, the Group has determined that the deemed consideration in respect of the reverse acquisition of the

Company by HMAPL represents a share-based payment in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based payments. The

Group has determined the fair value of the deemed consideration to be US$7,055,446, of which US$1,914,320 of

this has been allocated to the fair value of the net assets acquired and US$5,141,126 has been recognised as a

share-based expense in the statement of profit and loss for the period, representing the cost of the listing. See

note 14 for further details.

During the period, the following equity-settled share-based payments have been recognised:

2021
US$

Expense arising from staff remuneration arrangements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,084,764)

Expense arising from cost of listing on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,141,126)

Total expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,225,890)
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) Summary of securities granted as share-based payments

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (‘‘WAEP’’) of Unlisted Options

and Performance Rights granted as share-based payments at the beginning and end of the financial period:

2021
Number

2021
WAEP

Outstanding at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Recognition of legal acquirer Listed Options on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,693,334 A$0.20

Recognition of legal acquirer Unlisted Options on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000,000 A$0.20

Recognition of legal acquirer Performance Rights on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000,000 —

Unlisted Options granted to vendors of legal acquiree on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . 13,000,000 A$0.20

Unlisted Options granted during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,150,000 A$0.31

Performance Rights granted during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,325,000 —

Listed Options exercised during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,069,120) (A$0.20)

Unlisted Options exercised during the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,350,000) (A$0.24)

Performance Rights converted during the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,000,000) —

Outstanding at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 54,749,214 A$0.19

The following Unlisted Options and Performance Rights were granted as share-based payments during the

period:

2021 Security Type Number Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise Price

A$

Vesting Hurdle
(30-day
VWAP)

A$
Fair Value

A$

Series 1 Options 7,000,000 01-Dec-20 31-Dec-23 $0.25 — $0.163

Series 2 Options 5,000,000 01-Dec-20 01-Dec-25 $0.20 — $0.201

Series 3 Options 4,000,000 01-Dec-20 01-Dec-25 $0.20 — $0.201

Series 4 Options 4,000,000 01-Dec-20 01-Dec-25 $0.20 — $0.201

Series 5 Options 5,000,000 01-Dec-20 31-Dec-23 $0.20 — $0.174

Series 6 Rights 150,000 03-Mar-21 01-Mar-26 — $2.00 $0.694

Series 7 Rights 150,000 03-Mar-21 01-Mar-26 — $3.00 $0.643

Series 8 Rights 150,000 03-Mar-21 01-Mar-26 — $4.00 $0.602

Series 9 Rights 2,000,000 14-Apr-21 23-Apr-26 — $2.00 $0.745

Series 10 Rights 2,000,000 14-Apr-21 23-Apr-26 — $3.00 $0.693

Series 11 Rights 2,000,000 14-Apr-21 23-Apr-26 — $4.00 $0.651

Series 12 Options 875,000 14-Apr-21 31-Dec-23 $0.45 — $0.605

Series 13 Options 875,000 14-Apr-21 31-Dec-23 $0.55 — $0.575

Series 14 Rights 125,000 15-Apr-21 23-Apr-24 — $2.00 $0.599

Series 15 Rights 125,000 15-Apr-21 23-Apr-24 — $3.00 $0.510

Series 16 Rights 125,000 15-Apr-21 23-Apr-24 — $4.00 $0.445

Series 17 Rights 2,875,000 15-Apr-21 23-Apr-26 — $2.00 $0.705

Series 18 Rights 2,875,000 15-Apr-21 23-Apr-26 — $3.00 $0.654

Series 19 Rights 2,975,000 15-Apr-21 23-Apr-26 — $4.00 $0.613

Series 20 Options 200,000 15-Apr-21 31-Dec-23 $0.45 — $0.570

Series 21 Options 200,000 15-Apr-21 31-Dec-23 $0.55 — $0.540

Series 22 Rights 258,333 22-Jun-21 23-Apr-26 — $2.00 $0.821

Series 23 Rights 258,333 22-Jun-21 23-Apr-26 — $3.00 $0.763

Series 24 Rights 258,334 22-Jun-21 23-Apr-26 — $4.00 $0.716
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17. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(c) Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life

At June 30, 2021, the weighted average remaining contractual life of Listed Options, Unlisted Options and

Performance Rights on issue that had been granted as share-based payments was 3.16 years.

(d) Weighted Average Fair Value

The weighted average fair value of Unlisted Options and Performance Rights granted as share-based payments

by the Group during the period ended June 30, 2021 was A$0.53.

(e) Range of Exercise Prices

At June 30, 2021, the range of exercise prices of Listed and Unlisted Options on issue that had been granted as

share-based payments was A$0.20 to A$0.55.

(f) Weighted Average Share Price of Exercised Options

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of Listed and Unlisted Options exercised during the

period was A$0.90.

(g) Option and Right Pricing Models

The fair value of Unlisted Options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the Black Scholes option

valuation model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Unlisted Options were granted. The

fair value of Performance Rights granted that have market-based vesting conditions is estimated as at the date of

grant using trinomial lattice valuation model taking into account the market based vesting criteria upon which the

Performance Rights were granted. The fair value of Performance Rights granted that do not have market-based

vesting conditions is estimated as at the date of grant on the underlying share price (being the five-day volume

weighted average share price prior to issuance).

The tables below list the inputs to the valuation model used for Unlisted Options and Performance Rights

granted by the Group during the period:

2021 Series 1 Series 2 Series 3 Series 4 Series 5 Series 6

Fair value at grant date . . . . . . . . . . A$0.163 A$0.201 A$0.201 A$0.201 A$0.174 A$0.694

Share price at grant date . . . . . . . . . A$0.26 A$0.26 A$0.26 A$0.26 A$0.26 A$0.800

Vesting hurdle (30-day VWAP) . . . N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A A$2.00

Exercise price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A$0.25 A$0.20 A$0.20 A$0.20 A$0.20 Nil

Expected life of options/rights1 . . . 3.08 years 5.00 years 5.00 years 5.00 years 3.10 years 5.00 years

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . 0.10% 0.26% 0.26% 0.26% 0.10% 0.700%

Expected volatility2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Expected dividend yield3 . . . . . . . . — — — — — —

2021 Series 7 Series 8 Series 9 Series 10 Series 11 Series 12

Fair value at grant date . . . . . . . . . . A$0.643 A$0.602 A$0.745 A$0.693 A$0.651 A$0.605

Share price at grant date . . . . . . . . . A$0.800 A$0.800 A$0.850 A$0.850 A$0.850 A$0.850

Vesting hurdle (30-day VWAP) . . . A$3.00 A$4.00 A$2.00 A$3.00 A$4.00 N/A

Exercise price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil A$0.450

Expected life of options/rights1 . . . 5.00 years 5.00 years 5.03 years 5.03 years 5.03 years 2.72 years

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . 0.700% 0.700% 0.680% 0.680% 0.680% 0.105%

Expected volatility2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Expected dividend yield3 . . . . . . . . — — — — — —
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2021 Series 13 Series 14 Series 15 Series 16 Series 17 Series 18

Fair value at grant date . . . . . . . . . . A$0.575 A$0.599 A$0.510 A$0.445 A$0.705 A$0.654

Share price at grant date . . . . . . . . . A$0.850 A$0.810 A$0.810 A$0.810 A$0.810 A$0.810

Vesting hurdle (30-day VWAP) . . . N/A A$2.00 A$3.00 A$4.00 A$2.00 A$3.00

Exercise price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A$0.550 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

Expected life of options/rights1 . . . 2.72 years 3.02 years 3.02 years 3.02 years 5.02 years 5.02 years

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . 0.105% 0.105% 0.105% 0.105% 0.690% 0.690%

Expected volatility2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Expected dividend yield3 . . . . . . . . — — — — — —

2021 Series 19 Series 20 Series 21 Series 22 Series 23 Series 24

Fair value at grant date . . . . . . . . . . A$0.613 A$0.570 A$0.540 A$0.821 A$0.763 A$0.716

Share price at grant date . . . . . . . . . A$0.810 A$0.810 A$0.810 A$0.930 A$0.930 A$0.930

Vesting hurdle (30-day VWAP) . . . A$4.00 N/A N/A A$2.00 A$3.00 A$4.00

Exercise price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Nil A$0.450 A$0.550 Nil Nil Nil

Expected life of options/rights1 . . . 5.02 years 2.71 years 2.71 years 4.84 years 4.84 years 4.84 years

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . 0.690% 0.105% 0.105% 0.820% 0.820% 0.820%

Expected volatility2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Expected dividend yield3 . . . . . . . . — — — — — —

Notes:

(1) The expected life is based on the expiry date of the options or rights.

(2) The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be
the actual outcome.

(3) The dividend yield reflects the assumption that the current dividend payout will remain unchanged.

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the

Consolidated Entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate

resources to the segment and to assess its performance.

The Consolidated Entity operates in one segment, being mineral exploration in the United States of America.

(a) Reconciliation of non-current assets by geographical location

2021
US$

United States of America . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,044,369

1,044,369

19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(a) Overview

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, and cash. The main risks arising

from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and

processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.

The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management

policy. Key risks are monitored and reviewed as circumstances change (e.g. acquisition of a new project) and

policies are revised as required. The overall objective of the Group’s financial risk management policy is to

support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets whilst protecting future financial security.
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Given the nature and size of the business and uncertainty as to the timing and amount of cash inflows and

outflows, the Group does not enter into derivative transactions to mitigate the financial risks. In addition, the

Group’s policy is that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken for the purposes of making

speculative gains. As the Group’s operations change, the Directors will review this policy periodically going

forward.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management

framework. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing the Group’s financial risks as summarised

below.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails

to meet its contractual obligations. This arises principally from cash and cash equivalents and receivables.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. The carrying amount of the Group’s

financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure, as represented below:

Note
2021
US$

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 1,697,904

Trade and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 341

1,698,245

With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure arises from default of

the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Trade and other receivables comprise primarily deposits, accrued interest and GST refunds due. Where possible

the Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who

wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are

monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. At

June 30, 2021 none of the Group’s receivables are past due.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The

Board’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will always have sufficient

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. At June 30, 2021, the Group had sufficient liquid assets to meet its

financial obligations.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments, are provided below.

There are no netting arrangements in respect of financial liabilities.

≤1 year
US$

1-5 years
US$

≥5 years
US$

Total
contractual
cash flows

US$

Carrying
amount of
liabilities

US$

2021

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 544,842 — — 544,842 544,842

Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 115,067 461,903 — 576,970 475,652

659,909 461,903 — 1,121,812 1,020,494

(d) Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the cash and short-term

deposits with a floating interest rate. These financial assets with variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

interest rate risk. All other financial assets and liabilities are either non-interest bearing (for example, receivables

and payables) or have fixed interest rates (for example, lease liabilities, sub-lease receivables, and loans and

borrowings).

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Note
2021
US$

Interest-bearing financial instruments

Cash at bank and on hand . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 1,697,904

Short term deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

1,697,904

The Group’s cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits had a weighted average floating interest rate at

period end of 0.25%.

The Group currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

A sensitivity of 0.5% (50 basis points) has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level

of both short term and long-term interest rates. A 0.5% (50 basis points) movement in interest rates at the

reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This

analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

Profit or loss Equity

+0.5%
US$

-0.5%
US$

+0.5%
US$

-0.5%
US$

2021
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,490 (8,490) 8,490 (8,490)

(e) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash outflows of an exposure will fluctuate because

of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rate relates primarily to assets and liabilities

that are denominated in currencies other than US$. The Group also has transactional currency exposures relating

to transactions denominated in currencies other than US$. The currency in which these transactions primarily are

denominated is A$.

It is the Group’s policy not to enter into any hedging or derivative transactions to manage foreign currency risk.

At the reporting date, the Group’s exposure to financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies was:

A$ denominated financial assets and liabilities

2021
A$ exposure

(US$ Equivalent)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,560,370
Trade and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 341
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (110,938)
Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Net exposure. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,449,773
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19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Commodity Price Risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk. These commodity prices can be volatile and are influenced by

factors beyond the Group’s control. As the Group is currently engaged in exploration and development activities,

no sales of commodities are forecast for the next 12 months, and accordingly, no hedging or derivative

transactions have been used to manage commodity price risk.

(g) Capital Management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence

and to sustain future development of the business. Given the stage of development of the Group, the Board’s

objective is to minimise debt and to raise funds as required through the issue of new shares. The Group is not

subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the period.

(h) Fair Value

The net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value. The methods for

estimating fair value are outlined in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

20. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At June 30, 2021, the Group had entered into exclusive option agreements with local landowners in Tennessee, United

States, in relation to its Titan Project, which upon exercise, allows the Group to purchase or, in some cases lease,

approximately 5,974 acres of surface property and the associated mineral rights from the local landowners. Upon

exercise, in the case of an option to lease, the Company will pay a production royalty to the landowners, subject to a

minimum royalty. Upon exercise, in the case of a purchase, the Company will pay cash consideration approximating

the fair market value of the property, excluding the value of any minerals, plus a premium.

21. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

(a) On 12 July 2021, the Company announced that PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditor of the

Company following the resignation of BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and ASIC’s consent to the resignation in

accordance with section 329(5) of the Corporations Act 2001;

(b) On 22 July 2021, the Company announced the execution of a memorandum of understanding (‘‘MOU’’) for

a technology partnership with EOS GmbH (‘‘EOS’’), the world’s leading solution supplier in the field of

industrial 3D printing (known as additive manufacturing, or AM) of metals and plastics;

(c) On 31 August 2021, the Company completed a placement of 20 million shares at an issue price of A$1.20

per share to institutional, sophisticated and professional investors to raise gross proceeds of A$24.0 million

(US$17.6 million) (‘‘Placement’’). The Placement was led by cornerstone investor, Fidelity Management &

Research Company, an American multinational financial services corporation;

(d) On October 21, 2021, the Company announced that it had purchased an option to acquire 100% of the

ownership interests of Blacksand Technology, LLC on or before December 31, 2022. Blacksand holds the

exclusive commercial licensing rights for more than forty global patents through a license agreement with

the University of Utah including the global patents for the patented HAMR and GSD technologies that can

produce low-cost and low carbon titanium metal;

(e) On December 6, 2021, the Company announced that it had signed a memorandum of understanding with

Chemours to investigate the potential supply to Chemours of up to 50,000 metric tons of ilmenite, 10,000

metric tons of rutile, and 10,000 metric tons of staurolite. Chemours operates one of the largest titanium

dioxide plants at its New Johnsonville plant which is located approximately 20 miles from the Company’s

Titan Project in Tennessee; and
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21. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE (Continued)

(f) On January 6, 2022, the Company announced that it plans to pursue a listing on a national securities

exchange in the United States and will change its name to ‘IperionX Limited’;

(g) On February 9, 2022, the Company changed its name from ‘Hyperion Metals Limited’ to ‘IperionX

Limited’; and

(h) The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has not significantly impacted

the Company up to June 30, 2021, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative,

after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the

Australian, United States and other governments, such as maintaining social distancing requirements,

quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided.

Other than as outlined above, as at the date of this report there are no other matters or circumstances which have

arisen since June 30, 2021 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

• the operations, in financial years subsequent to June 30, 2021, of the Group;

• the results of those operations, in financial years subsequent to June 30, 2021, of the Group; or

• the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to June 30, 2021, of the Group.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of IperionX Limited

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of IperionX Limited (formerly

Hyperion Metals Limited and Tao Commodities Limited) and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 1 December

2020 and 30 June 2020, and the related consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income, of changes in equity and of cash flows for the period ended 1 December 2020 and the year ended 30

June 2020, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our

opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the

Company as of 1 December 2020 and 30 June 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the

period ended 1 December 2020 and the year ended 30 June 2020 in conformity with International Financial

Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1(d) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it

accounts for exploration and evaluation expenditure in the year ended 30 June 2020.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility

is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public

accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and

are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws

and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the

PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated

financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such

procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the

consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Perth, Australia

17 February 2022

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020

Notes

1 Jul 2020 to
1 Dec 2020

A$

Restated(1)

1 Jul 2019 to
30 Jun 2020

A$

Continuing operations

Exploration and evaluation expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (60,828) (122,778)

Corporate and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (366,600) (678,772)

Share based payment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (87,458) (89,783)

Finance income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 3,870 22,651

Finance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 — (4,775)

Impairment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 (464,205) —

Other income/(expenses) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2 (66,820) 4,560

Loss before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3 — —

Loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

Loss attributable to members of IperionX Limited. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations . . . . . . . . . (33,566) 9,448

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period, net of tax . . . . . . . . . . (33,566) 9,448

Total comprehensive loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,075,607) (859,449)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to members of IperionX Limited. . . . (1,075,607) (859,449)

Basic loss per share (A$ per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 (0.03) (0.03)

Diluted loss per share (A$ per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12 (0.03) (0.03)

Notes:

(1) With effect from 1 July 2019, the policy for accounting for exploration expenditure has changed from the policy applied in previous

reporting periods (refer Note 1(d)).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AT 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 30 JUNE 2020

Notes
1 Dec 2020

A$

Restated(1)

30 Jun 2020
A$

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 2,717,623 1,649,187

Trade and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,608 42,438

Loan to Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 449,879 —

Prepayments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 24,875

Total Current Assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,187,110 1,716,500

Non-Current Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 — 487,743

Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 30,800

Total Non-Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 518,543

TOTAL ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,187,110 2,235,043

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7 139,075 68,602

Lease liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8 — 25,960

Total Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 139,075 94,562

TOTAL LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 139,075 94,562

NET ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,048,035 2,140,481

EQUITY

Contributed equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 5,673,818 4,577,708

Reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 1,091,451 1,191,666

Accumulated losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11 (3,717,234) (3,628,893)

TOTAL EQUITY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,048,035 2,140,481

Notes:

(1) With effect from 1 July 2019, the policy for accounting for exploration expenditure has changed from the policy applied in previous

reporting periods (refer Note 1(d)).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020

Contributed
Equity

Share Based
Payments
Reserve

A$

Option
Premium
Reserve

A$

Foreign Currency
Translation

Reserve
A$

Accumulated
Losses

A$

Total
Equity

A$

Balance at 1 July 2020 (restated)(1) . . 4,577,708 993,483 153,750 44,433 (3,628,893) 2,140,481

Net loss for the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (1,042,041) (1,042,041)

Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations . . . . — — — (33,566) — (33,566)

Total comprehensive loss for the

period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (33,566) (1,042,041) (1,075,607)

Share placements. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,000,000 — — — — 2,000,000

Share issue costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (991,500) 871,500 — — — (120,000)

Conversion of performance rights . . . . . 87,610 (87,600) — — — 10

Issue of listed options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 15,693 — — 15,693

Expiry of unlisted options . . . . . . . . . . . — (953,700) — — 953,700 —

Share based payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 87,458 — — — 87,458

Balance at 1 December 2020 . . . . . . . 5,673,818 911,141 169,443 10,867 (3,717,234) 3,048,035

Balance at 1 July 2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,527,708 953,700 153,750 56,941 (2,178,110) 3,513,989

Effect of change in accounting

policy(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (21,956) (581,886) (603,842)

Balance at 1 July 2019 (restated)(1) . . 4,527,708 953,700 153,750 34,985 (2,759,996) 2,910,147

Net loss for the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (868,897) (868,897)

Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations . . . . — — — 9,448 — 9,448

Total comprehensive loss for the

period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 9,448 (868,897) (859,449)

Share based payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 50,000 39,783 — — — 89,783

Balance at 30 June 2020

(restated)(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4,577,708 993,483 153,750 44,433 (3,628,893) 2,140,481

Notes:

(1) With effect from 1 July 2019, the policy for accounting for exploration expenditure has changed from the policy applied in previous

reporting periods (refer Note 1(d)).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020

Notes

1 Jul 2020
to

1 Dec 2020
A$

Restated(1)

1 Jul 2019 to
30 Jun 2020

A$

Operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (393,110) (809,330)

Interest paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (4,775)

Interest received . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,870 22,651

Other income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,456 12,156

Net cash flows used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 (376,784) (779,298)

Investing activities

Loan to Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (449,879) —

Purchase of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (604) (6,423)

Net cash flows used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (450,483) (6,423)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9(a) 2,000,000 —

Share issue costs. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9(a) (120,000) —

Proceeds from conversion of performance rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 —

Proceeds from issue of options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,693 —

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (31,225)

Net cash flows from financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,895,703 (31,225)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,068,436 (816,946)

Net foreign exchange differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,649,187 2,466,133

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 2,717,623 1,649,187

Notes:

(1) With effect from 1 July 2019, the policy for accounting for exploration expenditure has changed from the policy applied in previous

reporting periods (refer Note 1(d)).
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in preparing the consolidated financial statements of IperionX

Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited and ‘Tao Commodities Limited’) (‘‘IperionX’’ or ‘‘Company’’) and

its consolidated entities (‘‘Consolidated Entity’’ or ‘‘Group’’) for the periods from 1 July 2020 to 1 December

2020 and 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 are stated to assist in a general understanding of the consolidated

financial statements.

IperionX is a for-profit company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Our registered office

is located at Level 9, 28 The Esplanade, Perth, Western Australia, 6000. Our ordinary shares are listed on the

Australian Securities Exchange, or ASX, under the symbol ‘‘HYM’’ (formerly under the symbol ‘‘TAO’’).

The principal activities of the Group during the period 1 July 2020 to 1 December 2020 and the year ended

30 June 2020 consisted of the exploration and development of mineral resource projects.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the periods from 1 July 2020 to 1 December 2020 and

1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on

February 17, 2022.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘‘IFRS’’) as issued by the International Accounting

Standards Board (‘‘IASB’’).

On December 1, 2020, the Company acquired 100% of Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd (‘‘HMAPL’’). The

transaction was accounted for as a reverse acquisition with HMAPL as the accounting acquirer. Therefore, these

consolidated financial statements present the results of the Company for the five-month period prior to the

acquisition from July 1, 2020 to December 1, 2020, being the date HMAPL is deemed for accounting to have

acquired the Company. The comparative financial statements present the results for the twelve-month period from

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020. As a result, the amounts presented for the current period are not comparable with

the prior period amounts.

The financial report has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for other financial assets, which

have been measured at fair value.

The financial report is presented in Australian dollars (A$), which is also the functional currency of the

Company.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of

normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of

business.

(b) New standards, interpretations and amendments

In the current period, the Group has adopted all Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB

that are effective from 1 July 2020. New and revised standards and amendments thereof and interpretations

effective for the current reporting period that are relevant to the Group include:

• Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)

• Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards

The adoption of the aforementioned standards has no impact on the financial statements of the Company as at

1 December 2020. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has

been issued but is not yet effective.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020 (Continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Issued standards and interpretations not early adopted

Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended by the IASB but are not yet

effective have not been adopted by the Group for the reporting period ended 1 December 2020. Those which

may be relevant to the Group are set out in the table below, but these are not expected to have any significant

impact on the Group’s financial statements:

Standard/Interpretation
Application Date of

Standard
Application Date for

the Group

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January 1, 2022 July 1, 2022
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-Current (Amendments to

IAS 1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January 1, 2023 July 1, 2023
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current — Deferral of

Effective Date (Amendment to IAS 1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . January 1, 2023 July 1, 2023

(d) Changes in Accounting Policy

The policy for accounting for exploration and evaluation expenditure has changed from the policy applied in

previous reporting periods.

In previous reporting periods, the costs incurred in connection with the exploration and evaluation of areas with

current rights of tenure were capitalised to the Statement of Financial Position. The criteria for carrying forward

the costs were:

• Such costs are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the area of

interest, or alternatively by its sale; or

• Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits

a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active

and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area are continuing.

Costs carried forward in respect of an area of interest that was abandoned were written off in the year in which

the decision to abandon was made.

The policy has changed, and the new policy has been applied retrospectively (with comparative information

restated accordingly). Under the new policy, except as noted below, exploration and evaluation expenditure is

expensed to the Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income as and when it is incurred.

Exploration and evaluation costs are only capitalised to the Statement of Financial Position if they result from an

acquisition of a project. Exploration and evaluation costs, subsequent to the acquisition of the rights to explore,

will now be expensed as incurred, up and until the preparation of a technical feasibility study.

The Directors are of the opinion that the change in accounting policy provides users with more relevant and no

less reliable information as the policy is more transparent and less subjective. The policy is common of smaller

exploration companies as exploration and evaluation expenditure is viewed as an ongoing expense of discovery,

until a technical feasibility study has been completed.

The impact of this change in accounting policy is reflected below:

Consolidated statement of financial position

As previously reported
at 1 July 2019

$

Effect of change in
accounting policy

$

As adjusted at
1 July 2019

$

Exploration and evaluation assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,081,149 (603,843) 477,306
Foreign currency translation reserve. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56,941 (21,956) 34,985
Accumulated losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,178,110) (581,886) (2,759,996)

F-39



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020 (Continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidated statement of financial position
30 June 2020

A$

Decrease in exploration and evaluation assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (737,153)

Increase/(decrease) in equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (737,153)

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Year Ended
30 June 2020

A$

Increase in exploration and evaluation expenses. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (122,778)

Increase/(decrease) in profit or loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (122,778)

Basic and diluted loss per share have also been restated. The amount of the impact on basic and diluted loss per

share for the new result for the year ended 30 June 2020 due to the change in accounting policy is an increase in

loss per share to 2.8 cents.

The impact of the change in accounting policy has not been quantified for the current period as these accounting

records have not been maintained.

(e) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as

at 1 December 2020 and 30 June 2020.

Control is achieved when the Company has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. The Company

reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting

rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical

ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and

circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it

power.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company has the power to

govern the financial and operating policies, so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanying a

shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that

are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another

entity.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using

consistent accounting policies. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are

de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions and balances, income and expenses and profits and losses between Group companies,

are eliminated. Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the Statement of Financial Position of the

Company.

(f) Foreign Currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary

economic environment in which that entity operates.
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at

the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate.

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the

transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when

fair values were determined.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement,

except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to

the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is

recognised in the income statement.

(iii) Group companies

The financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the

group’s presentation currency are translated as follows:

• assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date;

• income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and

• retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the group’s

foreign currency translation reserve in equity. These differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which the operation is disposed.

(g) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid

investments with original maturities of 3 months or less, and bank overdrafts.

(h) Trade and Other Receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method, less allowance for expected credit losses, applying the simplified approach. If

collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are

presented as non-current assets. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore

are all classified as current.

As the majority of receivables are short term in nature, their carrying amount is assumed to be the same as their

fair value.

(i) Property, Plant and Equipment

All classes of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, except for land

which is not depreciated.

1 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2020

Major depreciation periods are:

Plant and equipment:. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5years 5years

(j) Exploration and Development Expenditure

Expenditure on exploration and evaluation is accounted for in accordance with the ’area of interest’ method and

with IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources.
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1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Exploration and evaluation expenditure encompasses expenditures incurred by the Group in connection with the

exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of

extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable.

For each area of interest, expenditure incurred in the acquisition of rights to explore is capitalised and recognised

as an exploration and evaluation asset. This includes option payments made to landowners under the Group’s

option agreements with local landowners which are considered part of the acquisition costs. Exploration and

evaluation assets are measured at cost at recognition and are recorded as an asset if:

(i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

(ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:

• the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful

development and exploitation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; and

• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a

stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable

reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

All other exploration and evaluation expenditures are expensed as incurred. Once the technical feasibility and

commercial viability of a program or project has been demonstrated with a bankable feasibility study, the

carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation expenditure in respect of the area of interest is reclassified as

a ‘‘mine development property’’ and future expenditure incurred in the development of that area of interest is

accounted for in accordance with the Group’s policy for Property, Plant & Equipment, as described in Note 1(i).

Impairment

Capitalised exploration costs are reviewed each reporting date to establish whether an indication of impairment

exists. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the capitalised exploration costs is estimated to

determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the

carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent

that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years.

Where a decision is made to proceed with development, accumulated expenditure is tested for impairment and

transferred to development properties, and then amortised over the life of the reserves associated with the area of

interest once mining operations have commenced. Recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and

evaluation assets is dependent on successful development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of

the respective areas of interest.

(k) Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial

year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 60 days of recognition. Trade and

other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due within 12 months from the reporting

date.

They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their

short-term nature.

(l) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for

which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.
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(m) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the

financial asset.

(n) Government grant income

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the

conditions attaching to the grant and that the grant will be received. Government grants are recognised in profit

or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for

which grants are intended to compensate. If the grant relates to expenses or losses already incurred by the entity,

or to provide immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs, the income is recognised in

the period in which it becomes receivable.

(o) Income Tax

The income tax expense for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the

national income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable

to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial

statements, and to unused tax losses.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply

when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or

substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of

deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is made

for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No deferred tax

asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose on goodwill or in a

transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting

profit or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and

tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of

the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is

probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent

that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred

income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised to the extent that

it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised

directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off

current tax assets against tax liabilities and the deferred tax liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the

same taxation authority.

(p) Employee Entitlements

Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to

balance date. Employee benefits that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months have been measured at

the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs. Employee benefits payable

later than 12 months have been measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made

for those benefits.
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(q) Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (‘‘EPS’’) is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to members of the

Company for the reporting period, after excluding any costs of servicing equity, by the weighted average number

of ordinary shares of the Company, adjusted for any bonus issue.

Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the basic EPS earnings, adjusted by the after tax effect of financing costs

associated with dilutive potential Ordinary Shares and the effect on revenues and expenses of conversion to

Ordinary Shares associated with dilutive potential Ordinary Shares, by the weighted average number of Ordinary

Shares and dilutive Ordinary Shares adjusted for any bonus issue.

(r) Goods and Services Tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST

incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part

of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables in the Statement of

Financial Position are shown inclusive of GST. Cash flows are presented in the Statement of Cash Flows on a

gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating

cash flows.

(s) Use and Revision of Accounting Estimates, Judgements and Assumptions

The preparation of the financial report requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that

affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if

the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both

current and future periods.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying

accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognised in the financial statements are

described in the following note:

• Recognition of tax losses (Note 3);

• Write-off of exploration and evaluation expenditures (Note 2); and

• Share-based payments (Note 15).

(t) Operating Segments

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn

revenues and incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of

the same entity), whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s chief operating decision maker to

make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance and for which discrete

financial information is available. This includes start up operations which are yet to earn revenues. Management

will also consider other factors in determining operating segments such as the existence of a line manager and

the level of segment information presented to the board of directors.

Operating segments have been identified based on the information provided to the chief operating decision

makers, being the board of directors.

The group aggregates two or more operating segments when they have similar economic characteristics, and the

segments are similar in each of the following respects:

• Nature of the products and services,

• Nature of the production processes,

F-44



NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020 (Continued)

1. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

• Type or class of customer for the products and services,

• Methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and if applicable,

• Nature of the regulatory environment.

Operating segments that meet the quantitative criteria as prescribed by IFRS 8 Operating Segments are reported

separately. However, an operating segment that does not meet the quantitative criteria is still reported separately

where information about the segment would be useful to users of the financial statements.

Information about other business activities and operating segments that are below the quantitative criteria are

combined and disclosed in a separate category for ‘‘all other segments’’.

(u) Impairment of Assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any

such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate

of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell

and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that

are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be

estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the

cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds

its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to its

recoverable amount.

In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax

discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the

asset.

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously

recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the

recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a

change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was

recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That

increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had

no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is

adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic

basis over its remaining useful life.

(v) Fair Value Estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or

for disclosure purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity

securities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income) is based on quoted market prices at the

reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the

appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over the counter

derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes

assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer

quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as discounted

cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of

interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward

exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at the reporting date.
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The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to

approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by

discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for

similar financial instruments.

(w) Issued and Unissued Capital

Ordinary Shares and Performance Shares are classified as equity. Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the

fair value of the consideration received by the Company. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of

new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(x) Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared on or before the end of the year but not distributed at

balance date.

(y) Share-Based Payments

Equity-settled share-based payments are provided to officers, employees, consultants and other advisors. These

share-based payments are measured at the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant date. Fair value is

determined using the Black Scholes option pricing model for options and the barrier up-and-in trinomial pricing

model with a Parisian barrier adjustment for rights. The fair value determined at the grant date is expensed on a

straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Company’s estimate of equity instruments that will

eventually vest. At each reporting date, the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments

expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss over

the remaining vesting period, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-based payments reserve.

Equity-settled share-based payments may also be provided as consideration for the acquisition of assets. Where

ordinary shares are issued, the transaction is recorded at fair value based on the quoted price of the ordinary

shares at the date of issue. The acquisition is then recorded as an asset or expensed in accordance with

accounting standards.

2. INCOME AND EXPENSES

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Finance income
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,870 22,651

3,870 22,651

Finance costs
Interest on lease liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (4,775)

— (4,775)

Impairment expenses
Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (454,309) —
Write-off of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,896) —
Write-off of trade and other receivables. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,000) —

(464,205) —

Other income and expenses
Grant income(2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,456 37,368
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,453 —
Depreciation and amortisation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (32,808)
Transaction costs related to acquisition of HMAPL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (80,729) —

(66,820) 4,560
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1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Employee benefits expense
Wages, salaries and other payroll expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (143,400) (312,611)

Share-based payments expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (87,458) (39,784)
(230,858) (352,395)

Notes:

(1) During the period, the Group made the decision to write-off all capitalised exploration costs associated with the Milford Project on the
basis that minimal future exploration and evaluation expenditures are planned for the Milford Project. Refer to Note 6 for further
details.

(2) During the period ended 1 December 2020 and the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group received a cash flow boost from the Australian
Government as part of temporary cash flow support to businesses that employ staff during the economic downturn associated with
COVID-19.

3. INCOME TAX

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Recognised in profit or loss
Current income tax:

Current income tax benefit in respect of the current period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
Deferred income tax:

Origination and reversal of temporary differences. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Income tax expense reported in profit or loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss before income tax
Accounting loss before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

At the Australian income tax rate of 30% (2020: 30%) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (312,612) (260,669)
Expenditure not allowable for income tax purposes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 186,749 119,726
Income not assessable for income tax purposes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (11,210)
Other temporary differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (31,992)
Effect of deferred tax assets not brought to account . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 125,863 184,145

Income tax expense reported in profit or loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Other temporary differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 7,462
Deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (7,462)

— —

Deferred Tax Assets: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 436
Capital allowances. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 54,459
Other temporary differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,300 9,307
Tax losses available to offset against future taxable income. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 552,891 467,830
Deferred tax assets used to offset deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (7,462)
Deferred tax assets not brought to account (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (577,191) (524,570)

— —

Notes:

(1) The benefit of deferred tax assets not brought to account will only be brought to account if: (a) future assessable income is derived of a
nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; (b) the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation
continue to be complied with; and (c) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit.
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4. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR ON ORDINARY SHARES

No dividends have been paid or proposed for the period ended 1 December 2020 (30 June 2020: Nil).

5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Cash at bank and on hand. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,717,623 1,649,187

2,717,623 1,649,187

Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash flows from operations

Loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

Adjustment for non-cash income and expense items

Share based payment expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87,458 89,783

Write-off of exploration and evaluation assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 454,309 —

Write-off of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,897 —

Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,453) —

Amortisation of right-of-use assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 32,678

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 130

Change in assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 22,830 (27,307)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 24,875 (4,991)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 70,341 (694)

Net cash outflow from operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (376,784) (779,298)

6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Milford Project(1)

A$

1 December 2020

Carrying amount at 1 July 2020 (restated) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 487,742

Foreign exchange differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (33,433)

Write-off(2). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (454,309)

Carrying amount at 1 December 2020(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

30 June 2020

Carrying amount at 1 July 2019 (restated) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 477,306

Foreign exchange differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,436

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 (restated)(3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 487,742

Notes:

(1) At 1 December 2020, the Milford Project comprised 100 Mining Rights on U.S. Bureau of Land Management (‘‘BLM’’) administered

land, situated approximately 6 kilometres west of the town of Milford in Utah, United States. The Milford Project is considered

prospective for epithermal and replacement style precious and base metal mineralisation along structural corridors in reactive host

rocks.

(2) During the period, the Group made the decision to write-off all capitalised exploration costs associated with the Milford Project, being

a total of A$454,309, on the basis that minimal future exploration and evaluation expenditures are planned for the Milford Project.

(3) The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation is dependent on the successful development and

commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest.
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7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Current

Trade payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,119 11,478

Accruals . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 81,000 26,404

Payroll liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,956 30,720

Total trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 139,075 68,602

8. LEASES

The Group leases office premises in Australia. The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are included under

property, plant and equipment in the Statement of Financial Position. The carrying amounts of lease liabilities are

set out in the Statement of Financial Position. The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss in

respect of leases:

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Depreciation of right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (32,678)

Interest expense on lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (4,775)

Net amount recognised in profit or loss. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (37,453)

9. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Note
1 Dec 2020

A$
30 Jun 2020

A$

Issued capital

57,386,667 fully paid ordinary shares1 (2020: 31,386,667) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9(a) 5,673,818 4,577,708

Notes:

(1) Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

(a) Movements in issued capital

Number of
Ordinary Shares A$

1 December 2020

Opening balance at 1 July 2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,386,667 4,577,708

Issue of shares – share placement (December 2020). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,000,000 2,000,000

Issue of shares – conversion of performance rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,000,000 87,610

Share issue costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (991,500)

Closing balance at 1 December 2020. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 57,386,667 5,673,818

30 June 2020

Opening balance at 1 July 2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,970,000 4,527,708

Issue of shares – option fee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 416,667 50,000

Closing balance at 30 June 2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,386,667 4,577,708
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9. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (Continued)

(b) Rights attaching to ordinary shares

The rights attaching to fully paid ordinary shares (‘‘Shares’’) arise from a combination of the Company’s

Constitution, statute and general law. Shares issued following the exercise of Unlisted Options or conversion of

Performance Rights in will rank equally in all respects with the Company’s existing Shares.

(i) Shares - The issue of shares in the capital of the Company and options over unissued shares by the

Company is under the control of the directors, subject to the Corporations Act 2001, ASX Listing Rules and

any rights attached to any special class of shares.

(ii) Meetings of Members - Directors may call a meeting of members whenever they think fit. Members may

call a meeting as provided by the Corporations Act 2001.The Constitution contains provisions prescribing

the content requirements of notices of meetings of members and all members are entitled to a notice of

meeting. A meeting may be held in two or more places linked together by audio-visual communication

devices. A quorum for a meeting of members is 2 shareholders. The Company holds annual general

meetings in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the Listing Rules.

(iii) Voting - Subject to any rights or restrictions at the time being attached to any shares or class of shares of

the Company, each member of the Company is entitled to receive notice of, attend and vote at a general

meeting. Resolutions of members will be decided by a show of hands unless a poll is demanded. On a show

of hands each eligible voter present has one vote. However, where a person present at a general meeting

represents personally or by proxy, attorney or representative more than one member, on a show of hands the

person is entitled to one vote only despite the number of members the person represents. On a poll each

eligible member has one vote for each fully paid share held and a fraction of a vote for each partly paid

share determined by the amount paid up on that share.

(iv) Changes to the Constitution - The Company’s Constitution can only be amended by a special resolution

passed by at least three quarters of the members present and voting at a general meeting of the Company. At

least 28 days’ written notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution must

be given.

(v) Listing Rules - Provided the Company remains admitted to the Official List, then despite anything in its

Constitution, no act may be done that is prohibited by the Listing Rules, and authority is given for acts

required to be done by the Listing Rules. The Company’s Constitution will be deemed to comply with the

Listing Rules as amended from time to time.

10. RESERVES

Note
1 Dec 2020

A$
30 Jun 2020

A$

Option premium reserve. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10(b) 169,443 153,750

Share-based payments reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10(c) 911,141 993,483

Foreign currency translation reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10(g) 10,867 44,433

1,091,451 1,191,666

(a) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Option premium reserve

The option premium reserve is used to record the value of monies raised from issue of listed options.

(ii) Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve is used to record the fair value of Unlisted Options and Performance

Rights issued by the Group.
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10. RESERVES (Continued)

(iii) Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising on translation of entities whose functional currency is different to the Group’s

presentation currency are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve, as described in Note 1(g).

(b) Movements in option premium reserve

Number of
Listed Options A$

1 December 2020

Opening balance at 1 July 2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,448,351 153,750

Expiry of listed options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15,448,351) —

Issue of listed options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,693,334 15,693

Closing balance at 1 December 2020. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,693,334 169,443

30 June 2020

Opening balance at 1 July 2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,448,351 153,750

Closing balance at 30 June 2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,448,351 153,750

(c) Movements in share-based payments reserve

Number of
Incentive
Options

Number of
Performance Rights A$

1 December 2020

Opening balance at 1 July 2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,000,000 3,000,000 993,483

Issue of unlisted placement options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000,000 — 871,500

Expiry of unlisted options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,000,000) — (953,700)

Conversion of performance rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1,000,000) (87,600)

Share-based payment expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 87,458

Closing balance at 1 December 2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,000,000 2,000,000 911,141

30 June 2020

Opening balance at 1 July 2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,000,000 — 953,700

Issue of performance rights . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 4,500,000 —

Lapse of performance rights. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — (1,500,000) —

Share-based payment expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 39,783

Closing balance at 30 June 2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11,000,000 3,000,000 993,483

Notes:

(1) For details on the valuation of Unlisted Options and Performance Rights, including models and assumptions used, refer to Note 16 of
the financial statements.

(d) Terms and conditions of Listed Options

Listed Options have the following terms and conditions:

• Each Listed Option entitles the holder to the right to subscribe for one Share upon the exercise of each

Listed Option;
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• The Listed Options outstanding at the end of the financial period have the following exercise prices

and expiry dates:

○ 15,693,334 Listed Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before August 31, 2021;

• The Listed Options are exercisable at any time prior to the Expiry Date;

• Shares issued on exercise of the Listed Options rank equally with the then Shares of the Company;

• Application will be made by the Company to ASX for official quotation of the Shares issued upon the

exercise of the Listed Options;

• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Listed

Options holders may be varied to comply with the ASX Listing Rules which apply to the

reconstruction at the time of the reconstruction; and

• The Listed Options are quoted on ASX.

(e) Terms and conditions of Unlisted Options

Unlisted Options granted as share-based payments have the following terms and conditions:

• Each Unlisted Option entitles the holder to the right to subscribe for one Share upon the exercise of

each Unlisted Option;

• The Unlisted Options granted as share based payments at the end of the financial period have the

following exercise prices and expiry dates:

○ 5,000,000 Unlisted Options exercisable at A$0.20 each on or before December 31, 2023.

• The Unlisted Options are exercisable at any time prior to the Expiry Date, subject to vesting conditions

being satisfied (if applicable);

• Shares issued on exercise of the Unlisted Options rank equally with the then Shares of the Company;

• Application will be made by the Company to ASX for official quotation of the Shares issued upon the

exercise of the Unlisted Options;

• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Unlisted

Option holders may be varied to comply with the ASX Listing Rules which apply to the reconstruction

at the time of the reconstruction; and

• No application for quotation of the Unlisted Options will be made by the Company.

(f) Terms and conditions of Performance Rights

Performance Rights granted as share-based payments have the following terms and conditions:

• Each Performance Right automatically converts into one Share upon vesting of the Performance Right;

• Each Performance Right is subject to performance conditions (as determined by the Board from time to

time) which must be satisfied in order for the Performance Right to vest;

• The Performance Rights outstanding at the end of the financial period have the following performance

conditions and expiry dates:

○ 1,000,000 performance rights that vest upon a 20-day VWAP of A$0.40 per share, expiring 24

November 2022; and

○ 1,000,000 performance rights that vest upon a 20-day VWAP of A$0.55 per share, expiring 24

November 2022;

• Application will be made by the Company to ASX for official quotation of the Shares issued upon

conversion of the Performance Rights;
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• If there is any reconstruction of the issued share capital of the Company, the rights of the Performance

Right holders may be varied to comply with the ASX Listing Rules which apply to the reconstruction

at the time of the reconstruction;

• No application for quotation of the Performance Rights will be made by the Company; and

• Without approval of the Board, Performance Rights may not be transferred, assigned or novated,

except, upon death, a participant’s legal personal representative may elect to be registered as the new

holder of such Performance Rights and exercise any rights in respect of them.

(g) Movements in foreign currency translation reserve

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Balance at start of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 44,433 34,985

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (33,566) 9,448

Balance at end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,867 44,433

11. ACCUMULATED LOSSES

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Balance at start of period (restated) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,628,893) (2,759,996)

Net loss for the period (restated) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

Expiry of options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 953,700 —

Balance at end of period (restated) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,717,234) (3,628,893)

12. LOSS PER SHARE

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Basic loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.03) (0.03)

Diluted loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.03) (0.03)

The following reflects the loss and share data used in the calculations of basic loss per share:

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Net loss. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

Loss used in calculating basic and dilutive loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,042,041) (868,897)

Number of
Ordinary Shares

1 Dec 2020

Number of
Ordinary Shares

30 Jun 2020

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares used in calculating basic and

dilutive loss per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,737,316 31,340,238

(a) Non-Dilutive Securities

As at 1 December 2020, 15,693,334 Listed Options, 12,000,000 Unlisted Options and 2,000,000 Performance

Rights, which together represent 29,693,334 potential Ordinary Shares, were considered non-dilutive as they

would decrease the loss per share.
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12. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

(b) Conversions, Calls, Subscriptions or Issues after 1 December 2020

Subsequent to 1 December 2020, the Company has issued:

(a) 29,150,000 ordinary shares, 5,000,000 unlisted options, 8,000,000 performance options and 39,600,000

performance shares in the Company in regards to the acquisition of the Titan Project;

(b) 12,150,000 ordinary shares pursuant to a share placement to institutional and sophisticated investors in

February 2021;

(c) 20,000,000 ordinary shares pursuant to a share placement to institutional, sophisticated and professional

investors in August 2021;

(d) 15,675,824 ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of listed options;

(e) 2,750,000 ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of unlisted options;

(f) 2,000,000 ordinary shares pursuant to the conversion of performance rights;

(g) 9,150,000 unlisted options and 16,325,000 performance rights to employees and consultants;

(h) 600,000 restricted stock units to new Directors of the Company; and

(i) 600,000 unlisted options to new Directors of the Company.

Other than as above, there have been no other conversions to, calls of, or subscriptions for Ordinary Shares or

issues of potential Ordinary Shares since the reporting date and before the completion of this financial report.

13. RELATED PARTIES

(a) Subsidiaries

Country of
Incorporation

Equity Interest %

1 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2020

Calatos Pty Ltd LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . United States 100% 100%

(b) Ultimate Parent

IperionX Limited is the ultimate parent of the Group.

(c) Transactions with Key Management Personnel

The aggregate compensation made to Key Management Personnel of the Group is set out below:

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

Short-term employee benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 82,075 202,154
Post-employment benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,125 19,205
Share-based payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 87,458 39,784

Total compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 176,658 261,143

No loans were provided to or received from Key Management Personnel during the period ended 1 December

2020 (2020: nil).

(d) Other transactions with Related Parties

During the period, GTT Ventures Pty Ltd, a company associated with Mr. Patric Glovac, was paid: (a) consulting

fees of A$59,300 (2020: A$126,000) and (b) rent and outgoings of A$19,433 (2020: A$36,000).

During the period, Nova Legal Pty Ltd, a company associated with Mr. Frank Knezovic, was paid A$14,236

(2020: A$33,549) for legal services.
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14. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

1 Dec 2020
A$

30 Jun 2020
A$

(a) Financial Position

Assets

Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,187,110 1,716,500

Non-Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 518,453

Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,187,110 2,235,043

Liabilities

Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (139,075) (94,562)

Total Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (139,075) (94,562)

Equity

Contributed equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,673,818 4,577,708

Reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,080,584 1,147,233

Accumulated losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,706,369) (3,584,460)

Total Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,048,035 2,140,481

(b) Financial Performance

Loss for the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,075,609) (746,119)

Other comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Total comprehensive loss. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,075,609) (746,119)

(c) Other

No guarantees have been entered into by the parent entity in relation to its subsidiaries.

15. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a) Recognised share-based payment expense

From time to time, the Group grants Unlisted Options and Performance Rights to officers, employees, consultants

and other key advisors as part of remuneration and incentive arrangements. The number of options or rights

granted, and the terms of the options or rights granted are determined by the Board. Shareholder approval is

sought where required.

The following equity-settled share-based payments have been recognised during the periods from 1 July 2020 to

1 December 2020 and 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020:

1 Dec 2020
A$30

Jun 2020
A$

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment transactions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (87,458) (39,783)
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15. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b) Summary of Unlisted Options and Performance Rights granted as share-based payments

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (‘‘WAEP’’) of Unlisted Options

and Performance Rights granted as share-based payments at the beginning and end of the financial period:

1 Dec 2020
Number

1 Dec 2020
WAEP

30 Jun 2020
Number

30 Jun 2020
WAEP

Outstanding at beginning of period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,000,000 A$0.24 11,000,000 A$0.30

Lapsed during the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (11,000,000) — — —

Performance rights converted during the period . . . . (1,000,000) — — —

Unlisted options granted during the period . . . . . . . . 5,000,000 A$0.20 — —

Performance rights granted during the period . . . . . . — — 4,000,000 —

Performance rights forfeited during the period . . . . . — — (1,500,000) —

Outstanding at end of period. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,000,000 A$0.14 14,000,000 A$0.24

The following Unlisted Options and Performance Rights were granted as share-based payments during the

periods from 1 July 2020 to 1 December 2020 and 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020:

Security Type Number Grant Date Expiry Date
Exercise Price

A$
Fair Value

A$

1 December 2020

Series 1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Options 5,000,000 01-Dec-20 31-Dec-23 $0.20 $ 0.174

30 June 2020

Series 2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Rights 1,000,000 25-Nov-19 25-Nov-22 — $0.0876

Series 3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Rights 1,000,000 25-Nov-19 25-Nov-22 — $0.0657

Series 4 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Rights 1,000,000 25-Nov-19 25-Nov-22 — $0.0513

(c) Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life

At 1 December 2020, the weighted average remaining contractual life of Unlisted Options and Performance

Rights on issue that had been granted as share-based payments was 2.77 years (30 June 2020: 0.58 years).

(d) Range of Exercise Prices

At 1 December 2020, the range of exercise prices of Unlisted Options on issue that had been granted as

share-based payments was A$0.20 to A$0.20 (30 June 2020: A$0.30 to A$0.30).

(e) Weighted Average Share Price of Exercised Options

There were no Unlisted Options exercised during the period ended 1 December 2020 or year ended 30 June

2020.

(f) Weighted Average Fair Value

The weighted average fair value of Unlisted Options and Performance Rights granted as share-based payments

by the Group during the period ended 1 December 2020 was A$0.174.

(g) Option and Right Pricing Models

The fair value of Unlisted Options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using the Black Scholes option

valuation model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the Unlisted Options were granted. The

fair value of Performance Rights granted that have market-based vesting conditions is estimated as at the date of
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15. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

grant using trinomial lattice valuation model taking into account the market based vesting criteria upon which the

Performance Rights were granted. The fair value of Performance Rights granted that do not have market-based

vesting conditions is estimated as at the date of grant on the underlying share price (being the five-day volume

weighted average share price prior to issuance).

The tables below list the inputs to the valuation model used for Unlisted Options and Performance Rights

granted by the Group during the periods from 1 July 2020 to 1 December 2020 and 1 July 2019 to 30 June

2020:

1 December 2020 30 June 2020

Series 1 Series 2 Series 3 Series 4

Fair value at grant date . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A$0.174 A$0.0876 A$0.0657 A$0.0513

Share price at grant date . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A$0.26 A$0.12 A$0.12 A$0.12

Vesting hurdle (20-day VWAP) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . N/A A$0.25 A$0.40 A$0.55

Exercise price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . A$0.20 A$0.00001 A$0.00001 A$0.00001

Expected life of options/rights1 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3.1 years 3.0 years 3.0 years 3.0 years

Risk-free interest rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 0.10% 0.74% 0.74% 0.74%

Expected volatility2 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 100% 76% 76% 76%

Expected dividend yield3 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — —

Notes:

(1) The expected life is based on the expiry date of the options or rights.

(2) The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be
the actual outcome.

(3) The dividend yield reflects the assumption that the current dividend payout will remain unchanged.

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about

components of the Consolidated Entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order

to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. The Consolidated Entity operates in one

segment, being mineral exploration in the United States of America.

(a) Reconciliation of non-current assets by geographical location

1 Dec 2020 30 Jun 2020

A$ A$

United States of America . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 487,742

— 487,742

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(a) Overview

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, and cash. The main risks arising

from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, policies and

processes for measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital. Other than as disclosed, there have

been no significant changes since the previous financial year to the exposure to or management of these risks.

The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management

policy. Key risks are monitored and reviewed as circumstances change (e.g. acquisition of a new project) and

policies are revised as required. The overall objective of the Group’s financial risk management policy is to

support the delivery of the Group’s financial targets whilst protecting future financial security.
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Given the nature and size of the business and uncertainty as to the timing and amount of cash inflows and

outflows, the Group does not enter into derivative transactions to mitigate the financial risks. In addition, the

Group’s policy is that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken for the purposes of making

speculative gains. As the Group’s operations change, the Directors will review this policy periodically going

forward.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management

framework. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing the Group’s financial risks as summarised

below.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails

to meet its contractual obligations. This arises principally from cash and cash equivalents and receivables.

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group. The carrying amount of the Group’s

financial assets represents the maximum credit risk exposure, as represented below:

Note
1 Dec 2020

A$
30 Jun 2020

A$

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 2,717,623 1,649,187
Trade and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,605 42,438
Loan to Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 449,879 —

3,187,107 1,691,625

With respect to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents, the Group’s exposure arises from default of

the counter party, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Trade and other receivables comprise primarily deposits, accrued interest and GST refunds due. Where possible

the Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who

wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are

monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. At

1 December 2020 none (2020: none) of the Group’s receivables are past due.

(c) Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The

Board’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that the Group will always have sufficient

liquidity to meet its liabilities when due. At 1 December 2020, the Group had sufficient liquid assets to meet its

financial obligations.

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments, are provided below.

There are no netting arrangements in respect of financial liabilities.

≤1 year
A$

1-5 years
A$

≥5 years
A$

Total
A$

1 December 2020
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 139,075 — — 139,075

139,075 — — 139,075

30 June 2020
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 68,602 — — 68,602
Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,960 — — 25,960

94,562 — — 94,562
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(d) Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the cash and short-term

deposits with a floating interest rate. These financial assets with variable rates expose the Group to cash flow

interest rate risk. All other financial assets and liabilities are either non-interest bearing (for example, receivables

and payables) or have fixed interest rates (for example, lease liabilities, sub-lease receivables, and loans and

borrowings).

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Note
1 Dec 2020

A$
30 Jun 2020

A$

Interest-bearing financial instruments

Cash at bank and on hand. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 2,717,623 1,623,235

Short term deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 25,952

2,717,623 1,649,187

17. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d) Interest Rate Risk (Continued)

The Group’s cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits had a weighted average floating interest rate at

year end of 0.61% (2019: 1.05%).

The Group currently does not engage in any hedging or derivative transactions to manage interest rate risk.

Interest rate sensitivity

A sensitivity of 0.5% (50 basis points) has been selected as this is considered reasonable given the current level

of both short term and long-term interest rates. A 0.5% (50 basis points) movement in interest rates at the

reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This

analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

Profit or loss Equity

+0.5% A$ —0.5% A$ +0.5% A$ —0.5% A$

1 December 2020

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,588 (13,588) 13,588 (13,588)

(e) Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash outflows of an exposure will fluctuate because

of changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rate relates primarily to assets and liabilities

that are denominated in currencies other than A$. The Group also has transactional currency exposures relating to

transactions denominated in currencies other than A$.

It is the Group’s policy not to enter into any hedging or derivative transactions to manage foreign currency risk.

At the reporting date, the Group did not have any material financial instruments denominated in foreign

currencies.

(f) Commodity Price Risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk. These commodity prices can be volatile and are influenced by

factors beyond the Group’s control. As the Group is currently engaged in exploration and development activities,

no sales of commodities are forecast for the next 12 months, and accordingly, no hedging or derivative

transactions have been used to manage commodity price risk.
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(g) Capital Management

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence

and to sustain future development of the business. Given the stage of development of the Group, the Board’s

objective is to minimise debt and to raise funds as required through the issue of new shares. The Group is not

subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the period.

(h) Fair Value

The net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value. The methods for

estimating fair value are outlined in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

18. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

(a) On 1 December 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd

(‘‘HMAPL’’) which holds a 100% interest in the Titan Project comprising titanium and zircon prospective

HMS properties in Tennessee, United States. The acquisition was accounted for as a reverse acquisition with

HMAPL deemed to be the accounting acquirer;

(b) On 20 January 2021, the Company announced the appointment of Mr. Todd Hannigan as Non-Executive

Chairman of the Company, in conjunction with Mr. Hannigan participating in a placement by the Company

to raise A$3.6 million;

(c) On 1 February 2021, the Company announced that it had completed its previously announced placement of

12,150,000 shares to institutional and sophisticated investors to raise gross proceeds of A$3.6 million;

(d) On 15 February 2021, the Company announced that it had signed a research agreement and option for

exclusive licence to develop titanium metal powders using the breakthrough HAMR technology invented by

Dr. Z. Zak Fang and his team at the University of Utah with funding from ARPA-E, with Boeing and

Arconic (formerly Alcoa, Inc.) as industrial partners;

(e) On 18 February 2021, the Company announced that experienced U.S. based resource company executive,

Mr. Taso Arima, has been appointed Managing Director of the Company, effective from March 1, 2021;

(f) On 14 April 2021, the Company changed its name from ‘Tao Commodities Limited’ to ‘Hyperion Metals

Limited’;

(g) On 12 July 2021, the Company announced that PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as auditor of the

Company following the resignation of BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and ASIC’s consent to the resignation in

accordance with section 329(5) of the Corporations Act 2001;

(h) On 22 July 2021, the Company announced the execution of a memorandum of understanding (‘‘MOU’’) for

a technology partnership with EOS GmbH (‘‘EOS’’), the world’s leading solution supplier in the field of

industrial 3D printing (known as additive manufacturing, or AM) of metals and plastics;

(i) On 31 August 2021, the Company completed a placement of 20 million shares at an issue price of A$1.20

per share to institutional, sophisticated and professional investors to raise gross proceeds of A$24.0 million

(US$17.6 million) (‘‘Placement’’). The Placement was led by cornerstone investor, Fidelity Management &

Research Company, an American multinational financial services corporation;

(j) On October 21, 2021, the Company announced that it had purchased an option to acquire 100% of the

ownership interests of Blacksand Technology, LLC on or before December 31, 2022. Blacksand holds the

exclusive commercial licensing rights for more than forty global patents through a license agreement with

the University of Utah including the global patents for the patented HAMR and GSD technologies that can

produce low cost and low carbon titanium metal;
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIODS 1 JULY 2020 TO 1 DECEMBER 2020 AND 1 JULY 2019 TO 30 JUNE 2020 (Continued)

18. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE (Continued)

(k) On December 6, 2021, the Company announced that it had signed a memorandum of understanding with

Chemours to investigate the potential supply to Chemours of up to 50,000 metric tons of ilmenite, 10,000

metric tons of rutile, and 10,000 metric tons of staurolite. Chemours operates one of the largest titanium

dioxide plants at its New Johnsonville plant which is located approximately 20 miles from the Company’s

Titan Project in Tennessee; and

(l) On January 6, 2022, the Company announced that it plans to pursue a listing on a national securities

exchange in the United States and will change its name to ‘IperionX Limited’;

(m) On February 9, 2022, the Company changed its name from ‘Hyperion Metals Limited’ to ‘IperionX

Limited’; and

(n) The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has not significantly impacted

the Company up to 1 December 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or

negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed

by the Australian, United States and other governments, such as maintaining social distancing requirements,

quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided.

Other than as outlined above, as at the date of this report there are no other matters or circumstances which have

arisen since 1 December 2020 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect:

• the operations, in financial years subsequent to 1 December 2020, of the Group;

• the results of those operations, in financial years subsequent to 1 December 2020, of the Group; or

• the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 1 December 2020, of the Group.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Note

Six Months Ended
December 31, 2021

US$

Period Ended
December 31, 2020

(restated)
US$

Continuing operations

Exploration and evaluation expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,431,522) (285,215)

Corporate and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (998,378) (185,031)

Business development expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,501,724) (71,946)

Share-based payment expense. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,764,135) (841,896)

Finance income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 157,435 118

Finance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,831) —

Cost of listing on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 — (5,141,126)

Loss before income tax . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,562,155) (6,525,096)

Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,562,155) (6,525,096)

Loss attributable to members of IperionX Limited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,562,155) (6,525,096)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations . . . . . . . (232,068) 75,680

Other comprehensive loss for the period, net of tax. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (232,068) 75,680

Total comprehensive loss for the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,794,223) (6,449,416)

Total comprehensive loss attributable to members of IperionX

Limited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,794,223) (6,449,416)

Loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per share (US$ per share) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (0.08) (0.40)

Notes:

(1) The Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the comparative period ended December 31, 2020 has been

restated. Refer to Note 9 for further information.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at December 31, 2021 and June 30, 2021

Note
December 31, 2021

US$
June 30, 2021

US$

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,256,359 1,697,904

Trade and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,722 341

Prepayments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 37,185 49,069

Total Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,313,266 1,747,314

Non-Current Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 885,725 504,750

Property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 714,941 539,619

Financial assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 250,000 —

Total Non-Current Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,850,666 1,044,369

TOTAL ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,163,932 2,791,683

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 553,088 544,842

Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 94,191 81,104

Provisions. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 11,069

Total Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 647,279 637,015

Non-Current Liabilities

Lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 464,696 394,548

Total Non-Current Liabilities. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 464,696 394,548

TOTAL LIABILITIES . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,111,975 1,031,563

NET ASSETS . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,051,957 1,760,120

EQUITY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

Contributed equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 29,669,773 10,255,369

Reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6 9,175,176 4,735,588

Accumulated losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,792,992) (13,230,837)

TOTAL EQUITY . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 15,051,957 1,760,120
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Contributed
Equity

US$

Share-
Based

Payments
Reserve

US$

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Reserve

US$

Accumulated
Losses
US$

Total
Equity

US$

Balance at July 1, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . 10,255,369 4,738,007 (2,419) (13,230,837) 1,760,120

Net loss for the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (10,562,155) (10,562,155)

Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations . . . — — (232,068) — (232,068)

Total comprehensive loss. . . . . . . . . . — — (232,068) (10,562,155) (10,794,223)

Issue of shares - share placement . . . . 17,604,000 — — — 17,604,000

Issue of shares - exercise of options. . 2,239,216 (92,479) — — 2,146,737

Share issue costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (428,812) — — — (428,812)

Share-based payment expense . . . . . . . — 4,764,135 — — 4,764,135

Balance at December 31, 2021 . . . . . 29,669,773 9,409,663 (234,487) (23,792,992) 15,051,957

Balance at incorporation (restated) . — — — — —

Net loss for the period. . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (6,525,096) (6,525,096)

Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations . . . — — 75,680 — 75,680

Total comprehensive loss . . . . . . . . . — — 75,680 (6,525,096) (6,449,416)

Issue of shares – incorporation . . . . . 1 — — — 1

Issue of shares – seed placement . . . . 54,011 — — — 54,011

Reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,433,752 967,582 — — 7,401,334

Share-based payment expense . . . . . . . — 841,896 — — 841,896

Balance at December 31, 2020

(restated) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,487,764 1,809,478 75,680 (6,525,096) 1,847,826

Notes:

(1) The Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the comparative period ended December 31, 2020 has been restated.

Refer to Note 9 for further information.
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Note

Six Months Ended
December 31, 2021

US$

Period Ended
December 31, 2020

(restated)
US$

Cash flows from operating activities

Payments to suppliers and employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,892,972) (452,022)

Interest received. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,716 118

Interest paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (22,688) —

Net cash flows used in operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,900,944) (451,904)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4 (380,975) (74,903)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (113,890) —

Purchase of financial assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (250,000) —

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (744,865) (74,903)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 19,750,737 54,012

Share issue costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (428,812) —

Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (26,626) —

Net cash inflow on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9 — 2,329,111

Net cash flows from financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,295,299 2,383,123

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,649,490 1,856,316

Net foreign exchange differences . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (91,036) 75,442

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,697,905 —

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,256,359 1,931,758

Notes:

(1) The Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the comparative period ended December 31, 2020 has been restated. Refer

to Note 9 for further information.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Corporate information

IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited) (‘‘IperionX’’ or ‘‘Company’’) is a for-profit company

limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Our registered office is located at Level 9, 28 The

Esplanade, Perth, Western Australia, 6000. Our ordinary shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange,

or ASX, under the symbol ‘‘IPX’’ (formerly under the symbol ‘‘HYM’’).

The principal activities of the Group during the six months ended December 31, 2021 and the period from

July 20, 2020 to December 31, 2021 consisted of the exploration and development of mineral resource projects.

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements of IperionX and its subsidiaries (the

‘‘Consolidated Entity’’ or the ″Group″) for the six months ended December 31, 2021 and the period from

July 20, 2020 to December 31, 2020 (the ″Interim Financial Statements″) were authorised for issue in accordance

with a resolution of the Directors on March 11, 2022.

Basis of preparation

The Interim Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standard 34

Interim Financial Reporting issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (‘‘IASB’’). The preparation

of the Interim Financial Statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that

affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses on a

year-to-date basis. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

The Interim Financial Statements do not include all the notes of the type normally included in annual financial

statements and are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations and cash flows expected for the year

ended June 30, 2022. Accordingly, the Interim Financial Statements are to be read in conjunction with the annual

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended June 30, 2021. In the opinion of management,

the accompanying Interim Financial Statements reflect all adjustments consisting only of normal recurring

adjustments, which are necessary for a fair presentation of the financial results of such period.

The financial report has been prepared on a historical cost basis and is presented in United States dollars ($).

The accounting policies and methods of computation adopted in the preparation of the interim financial report

are consistent with those adopted and disclosed in the Group’s annual financial statements for the financial year

ended June 30, 2021, except as disclosed below. These accounting policies are consistent with International

Financial Reporting Standards.

New and amended standards and interpretations

In the current period, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised standards, interpretations and

amendments that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after

July 1, 2021.

There are no new or revised standards, interpretations or amendments that are effective for the current period that

are relevant to the Group.

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not

yet effective. The new standards have not had a material effect on the Group’s financial statements.

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about

components of the Consolidated Entity that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order

to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance.

The Consolidated Entity operates in one segment, being exploration and development of minerals and metals in

the United States of America.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

3. DIVIDENDS PAID OR PROVIDED FOR

No dividend has been paid or provided for during the six months ended December 31, 2021 (December 31,

2020: nil).

4. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

Titan Project
US$

Carrying value at July 1, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 504,750

Additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 380,975

Carrying amount at December 31, 2021(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 885,725

Carrying value at incorporation. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . —

Additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 504,750

Carrying amount at June 30, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 504,750

Notes:

(1) The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation is dependent on the successful development and
commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest.

5. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Issued capital

December 31, 2021
US$

June 30, 2021
US$

139,488,491 ordinary shares (June 30, 2021: 105,105,787). . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,669,773 10,255,369

29,669,773 10,255,369

Movements in issued capital

No. of
Ordinary Shares

No. of
Performance Shares US$

Opening balance at July 1, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 105,105,787 39,600,000 10,255,369

Issue of shares - share placement. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,000,000 — 17,604,000

Issue of shares - exercise of listed options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,606,704 — 1,857,559

Issue of shares - exercise of unlisted options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,776,000 — 381,657

Share issue costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (428,812)

Closing balance at December 31, 2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 139,488,491 39,600,000 29,669,773

6. RESERVES

Reserves

December 31, 2021
US$

June 30, 2021
US$

Share based payments reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,409,663 4,738,007

Foreign currency translation reserve . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (234,478) (2,419)

Total Reserves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,175,185 4,735,588
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

6. RESERVES (Continued)

Movements share based payments reserve

No. of
Listed

Options

No. of
Unlisted
Options

No. of
Performance

Rights
No. of
RSUs US$

Opening balance at July 1, 2021 . . . . . . . . . 12,624,214 25,800,000 16,325,000 — 4,738,007

Grant of employee incentive securities . . . . — 600,000 8,990,000 600,000 —

Exercise of options . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (12,606,704) (1,776,000) — — (92,479)

Expiry of options. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (17,510) — — — —

Share-based payments expense . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 4,764,135

Closing balance at December 31, 2021 . . . . — 24,624,000 25,315,000 600,000 9,409,663

7. SUBSIDIARIES

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of IperionX Limited and the subsidiaries

listed in the following table.

Country of
Incorporation December 31, 2021 June 30, 2021

Parent Entity

IperionX Limited. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Australia

Subsidiaries

IperionX Inc. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . USA 100% —

IperionX Critical Minerals LLC. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . USA 100% 100%

IperionX Materials & Technologies LLC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . USA 100% 100%

Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Australia 100% 100%

Calatos Pty Ltd LLC. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . USA 100% 100%

8. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

At December 31, 2021, the Group had entered into exclusive option agreements with local landowners in

Tennessee, United States, in relation to its Titan Project, which upon exercise, allows the Group to lease or

purchase approximately 10,934 acres of surface property and the associated mineral rights from the local

landowners. Upon exercise, in the case of an option to lease, the Company will pay a production royalty to the

landowners, subject to a minimum royalty. Upon exercise, in the case of a purchase, the Company will pay cash

consideration approximating the fair market value of the property, excluding the value of any minerals, plus a

premium.

9. REVERSE ACQUISITION

December 31, 2020

On December 1, 2020, the Company completed its acquisition of Hyperion Metals (Australia) Pty Ltd

(‘‘HMAPL’’) after issuing 26,500,000 ordinary shares, 5,000,000 unlisted options, 8,000,000 performance options

and 36,000,000 performance shares in the Company to the vendors, following shareholder approval received at

the Company’s general meeting held on November 30, 2020.

As a result of the acquisition, the former shareholders of HMAPL effectively obtained control of the combined

entity. Accordingly, using the reverse acquisition principles of the business combination accounting standard,

while the Company is the legal acquirer of HMAPL, for accounting purposes HMAPL is deemed to be the

acquirer of the Company.

Therefore, the consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared as a continuation of the

consolidated financial statements of HMAPL. The deemed acquirer, HMAPL, has accounted for the acquisition

of the Company from December 1, 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (Continued)

9. REVERSE ACQUISITION (Continued)

In addition, at the date of the transaction, it was determined that the Company was not a business. Accordingly,

for accounting purposes, the acquisition has been treated as a share-based payment transaction.

As a result of the reverse acquisition, during the comparative period from July 20, 2020 to December 31, 2020

the Group recognised an expense of US$5.1 million in its condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income, effectively representing the cost of listing. The cost is calculated as the difference

in the fair value of the equity instruments that HMAPL is deemed to have issued to acquire the Company and

the fair value of the Company’s identifiable net assets, as follows:

Period Ended
December 31, 2020

US$

Fair value of consideration:

Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,401,334

Direct costs relating to the reverse acquisition. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,875

Cash option fee paid to HMAPL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (25,292)

Pre-acquisition loan to HMAPL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (331,471)

Fair value of consideration . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,055,446

Fair value of net assets acquired:

Cash and cash equivalents. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,983,223

Trade and other receivables. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 33,523

Trade and other payables. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (102,426)

Fair value of net assets acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,914,320

Cost of listing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5,141,126

Net cash inflow:

Net cash acquired on reverse acquisition . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,983,223

Direct costs relating to the reverse acquisition. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,875)

Cash option fee paid to HMAPL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,292

Pre-acquisition loan to HMAPL . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 331,471

Net consolidated cash inflow . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,329,111

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE DATE

(a) On January 6, 2022, the Company announced that it plans to pursue a listing on a national securities

exchange in the United States; and

(b) On February 9, 2022, the Company changed its name from ‘Hyperion Metals Limited’ to ‘IperionX

Limited’.

Other than as outlined above, at the date of this report there are no other significant events occurring after

balance date requiring disclosure.
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PART II.

As set forth in General Instruction E(a) to Form 20-F, the information called for by Part II of Form 20-F is not

applicable because this Form 20-F is filed as an Exchange Act registration statement.

PART III.

ITEM 17. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have elected to provide financial statements and related information pursuant to Item 18.

ITEM 18. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements and the related notes required by this Item are included in this registration

statement on Form 20-F beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 19. EXHIBITS.

Exhibit
Number Description

1.1 Certificate of the Registration of IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited)

1.2 Constitution of IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited)

2.1* Form of Deposit Agreement among IperionX Limited, The Bank of New York Mellon, and Owners

and Holders of American Depositary Shares

2.2* Form of American Depositary Receipt evidencing American Depositary Shares (included in Exhibit 2.1)

4.1+ Option Agreement by and among Hyperion Materials & Technologies, LLC, IperionX Limited (formerly

Hyperion Metals Limited) and Blacksand Technology, LLC and its members, dated October 20, 2021

4.2+ Option of Exclusive License Agreement between Hyperion Materials & Technologies, LLC and Blacksand

Technology, LLC, dated February 13, 2021

4.3+ Master Services Agreement between Blacksand Technology, LLC and Hyperion Materials & Technologies,

LLC, dated February 13, 2021, and related statements of work

4.4 IperionX Limited (formerly Hyperion Metals Limited) Employee Incentive Plan

4.5 Form of Indemnity, Insurance and Access for Directors

8.1 List of Subsidiaries of IperionX Limited

15.1 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers

* To be filed by amendment.

+ Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked by [***], has been omitted because it is both (i) not material and

(ii) would be competitively harmful if publicly disclosed.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly

caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this registration statement on Form 20-F filed on its behalf.

IPERIONX LIMITED

By: /s/ Anastasios Arima

Anastasios Arima

Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Date: March 29, 2022


